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Strategic ReportColt is the leading information delivery 
platform, providing a range of individual 
services and seamlessly integrated 
solutions in network, voice, data centre 
and IT services to major organisations, 
mid-sized businesses and network 
operators 

Colt Investment Proposition

Generating value through delivering network, voice, data centre and IT services and 
solutions to businesses.

Two years into our five year strategy, we continue to build the capability and 
propositions for fully integrated communications and IT solutions for business 
customers and network operators. We believe our seamless delivery, across 
both technologies and geographies, is a key advantage in a complex and widely 
fragmented market. 

We are seeing some signs of modest underlying performance improvement in 
strategic solutions for managed networking and managed IT, while managing the 
implications of a general market decline in legacy transactional communications 
products. Through implementation of our focused strategy we continue to expand 
our unique, seamless, and flexible infrastructure and capability; encompassing 
fibre network, data centres, IT services and our expertise. Together this constitutes 
what we call the information delivery platform, facilitating truly integrated 
computing and network services for our customers across Europe, and increasingly 
internationally.

The strength of our balance sheet, and leverage capacity, provide the support 
necessary for the organic and potential inorganic investment requirements to 
deliver on our strategy. There is unlikely to be any near term distribution of 
dividends as we aim to maximise value generation for shareholders by investing in 
the full execution of our strategy.
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Our strategy and business model

Our Vision
Trusted by all to be the leading information delivery platform

Our Mission
We make a real difference to our customers’ business through:

• Best-in-class customer experience

• Truly integrated computing and networking services

• Exceptional people who always deliver

Our Strategy
• Integrate compute and network services

• Focus our resources on key growth opportunities/markets

• Operate seamlessly and transparently across all our markets

• Simplify how we do business

• Automate our service and delivery model

Business Model
The information delivery platform is the unique integration of 
four key elements 

The Market Opportunity
Today’s IT leaders are focused on what technology can deliver for their businesses. They understand that this requires the 
blending of different services to facilitate the delivery, sharing, processing and storage of the data necessary to run a business. 
Through our expertise Colt is uniquely placed to roll-out complex solutions combining our network, data centres and IT services 
assets. We are constantly looking to build on this advantage. Our customers remain at the centre of everything we do.

Expertise in creating integrated compute and network 
services supported by advanced systems and processes

Pioneering Ethernet and IP networks that seamlessly 
connect 41 metropolitan area networks, 192 cities and 
19,800 buildings and achieve the industry’s highest 
standards in performance, latency and security

20 carrier-neutral data centres

Thousands of IT systems under management

02 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013
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Over the last several years, Colt’s business model has been transformed from a country-focused organisational model to a more 
seamless international go-to-market based organisation.  A common platform of systems and processes has been established 
across Colt, shared services centres have been created and the business has continued to innovate its technology platforms and 
product portfolio. Colt Group currently reports through three market serving Business Units (see pages 21 to 34) focused on 
the needs of their customers, each mandated to identify and take advantage of growth opportunities. Colt has made significant 
progress under this operating model despite a tough economic climate.

Enterprise Services
Directly serves medium

to large sized enterprises

Communication Services Data Centre Services
Indirectly serves small medium

and large sized enterprises
via channel partners (network
operators, distributors, service

providers, resellers, agents
and franchisees)

Provides small, medium and large
customers with retail and

wholesale data centre space

Corporate and Shared Services
Operational and support functions

For further details see pages 21 to 37.

The complexity of our story, involving multiple assets and 
a broad range of products and services, has outgrown our 
traditional reporting structure making it increasingly difficult 
for investors to understand our strategy and to benchmark our 

performance with the market.

While our customer segmented business units remain in 
place in 2014 (reflecting our different channels to market), we 
will provide more detailed disclosure by lines of business; a 
product oriented view where only aggregated revenue metrics 
have been discussed until now. 

For better clarity of the categories, we have renamed some of 
the product groupings. We are also redefining our segmental 
disclosure such that the performance of our entire 20 data 
centre estate will be reported under a data centre services 
line of business, which adds retail colocation revenues to the 
wholesale product and service revenues disclosed in the Data 
Centre Services Business Unit.  

For 2013 we have continued to report revenues by Data, Voice 
and Managed Services. A roadmap for the translation from old 
to new product groupings is provided below. 

In addition to more detailed revenue disclosure, the new 
breakdown of performance by line of business will include 
profitability metrics and infrastructure investments used for 
the delivery of the service category, and therefore associated 

returns on investment. End to end performance and delivery 
will therefore be more visible. 

This approach should allow the business to benchmark 
performance against relevant competitors. Ultimately Colt 
aims to perform better than its competitors in all four business 
areas, thereby driving improved revenue generation and a 
better return on investment for the long term. These changes 
are designed to improve our execution in 2014 and beyond.

Data

Voice

Managed
Services

Voice Services

Network Services

Data Centre Services

IT Services

03www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L
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Customers Direct channel (CES) to Enterprise customers and indirect channel (CCS) to network operators 
(wholesale) and a range of SME to larger businesses, via channel partners

Colt already serves 10 of the top 25 global companies in media and 12 of the top 25 global financial 
institutions (capital markets and insurance) 

• In 2013 we signed 15 deals of over €1m annual contract value (ACV) (2012: 12) 

• We continue to improve our reputation with our customers as demonstrated by the increase in our 
Net Promoter Score to 22% in 2013 (2012: 14%)

We can do more for our customers
We can do more for our customers. Our more advanced customers are embracing our extended service capabilities with 
the increasing breadth of service and associated growth of our larger accounts. We are doing more to leverage our new 
automated capabilities, making it simpler for smaller customers to do business with us. There are also opportunities for new 
wholesale operator accounts which play to the strengths of our geographically seamless network offering

Line of Business1 Assets 2013 Revenue Market2 Colt Opportunity

Network  
Services

83,000 km of fibre routes in 23 countries:

• 46,000 km of European network

• 37,000 km of non-European network
41 MANs in 14 countries
192 connected cities
19,800 direct fibre connected buildings
416 connected third party data centres

c.€830m 2013, growing c.1% of which:
c.€410m basic Ethernet point to point and 
Internet Access, growing c.1%
c.€275m Managed Networking (including 
MarketPrizm), growing c.15%
c.€85m SDH services, declining c.23%
c.€60m other bandwidth, declined c.5%, but 
includes variable elements

Colt’s addressable Western Europe network 
services market is c.€25bn in total, of which 
access & bandwidth is c.€15bn, forecast to grow 
c.1% CAGR 2013-2018, and managed networking 
is c.€10bn market, forecast to grow c.3% CAGR 
2013-2018

Opportunities stem from Colt’s competitive advantage gained from our 
seamless next generation pan-European network assets with demand 
opportunities in wireless/LTE backhaul (where Colt assets are ideally 
located), and increased demand for data capacity generally. Improved 
Colt network utilisation and density represent other key opportunities. 
MarketPrizm opportunity from further globalising the trading platform 
and associated network service links. The decline of legacy (SDH) 
accelerated in 2013, but its impact will now diminish

Voice  
Services

Over 20 billion voice minutes billed in 2013
79 active countries connected
60,000 installed TDM ports
3,000 installed VoIP ports
70m IN access numbers

c.€550m 2013, declining c.4%, of which:
c.€300m Corporate & Reseller Voice, higher 
margin, declining c.9%. Of this c.€100m is IN
c.€250m Carrier Voice, low margin, managed 
for cash, growing c.4%

European Fixed Corporate Voice is c.€22bn 
market, declining c.12% 2012-2018
IN is c.€8.7bn market expected to grow c.4% 
CAGR 2012-2018
Global carrier market is c.€22bn, declining c.2% 
CAGR 2012-2018, Colt has 1% market share, but 
growing

The opportunities in Corporate Voice are mainly in the growing IPVoice 
and IN solutions markets. The Carrier Voice business is focused on 
cash contribution, not revenues. This is a low margin business with 
opportunities to increase Colt’s share of a declining market through 
trading more minutes and new markets. Price declines from regulated 
MTR and FTR reductions hit 2013 Group Voice revenue by c.€38m. 
This will reduce over coming years as termination rates approach EU 
regulated base levels

Data 
Centre  
Services

20 Colt owned data centres in 14 cities across 10 
countries:
32,000 sqm built (86% occupancy)
21,000 sqm expansion capacity
91 MW power expansion capacity

c.€115m 2013, growing c.3% of which:
c.€75m retail colocation, declining c.1%, but 
improving with renewed focus
c.€40m wholesale (of which a small proportion 
was product sales), growing c.12%, but variable 
(driven by smaller numbers of larger deals)

Western Europe wholesale and retail colocation 
market is c.€5.5bn with c.14% CAGR 2012-2016

Opportunities to expand into selected cities both inside and outside the 
current footprint. Demand for data centre space is linked with the growth 
in European IP traffic (26% CAGR, 2012-2016), corporate outsourcing of 
IT and growth in cloud services. Demand remains strong though buying 
behaviour in wholesale has shifted towards demand for smaller units of 
space. In 2013, Colt experienced continued fallout from a decision several 
years ago to turn away from retail colocation in favour of higher margin 
hosting services. A renewed focus on the retail colocation opportunity in 
2013 gained traction

IT Services Launched cloud infrastructure in nine sites, eight 
of which reside in six European countries (one of 
the largest cloud footprints in Europe) and one in 
Asia, in partnership with KVH
Developed Optimum and Ceano platforms for 
direct and indirect modular service delivery of IT 
services 
>8,500 servers under management 
>900 database instances under management 
>900 security devices under management  

c.€80m 2013, growing c.18%, of which:
c.€55m is hosting, storage and cloud, within 
which cloud is new and small, but growing 
>50%, in part from migrations off legacy 
shared hosting platform
c.€25m is a combination of professional 
services and low margin equipment sales, 
where growth is variable

 Western Europe IT Services is a c.€200bn 
market of which IT Services line of business 
addresses c.€30bn
Addressable market growth estimated at c.5% 
CAGR 2013-2017

An early stage business for Colt, exploring the opportunity in 
“standardised IT managed services”; positioning us between System 
Integrators and outsourcers (more dedicated solutions) and cloud 
providers (more commodity capacity services). We launched Optimum 
(direct to Enterprise) and Ceano (Thinkgrid-based platform for the 
indirect market). The platform and portfolio investments should be 
completed in H2 2014, but we are already gaining recognition in 
the marketplace with Colt named by Gartner as a leader in the June 
2013 Magic Quadrant for European Managed Hosting*. Our seamless 
integration of computing and network services provides Colt with a 
unique position in this market

Notes:  
1  Line of business definitions are subject to finalisation and may change. 2013 revenue and growth rates therefore represent preliminary 
estimates, with growth rates also reflecting constant currency terms. 

2 Market estimates and forecast growth rates are sourced from a variety of third party industry analysts.

*Source: Gartner Magic Quadrant for European Managed Hosting, Tiny Haynes, et al., G00250051, 19 June 2013. Please refer to note 2 and the 
footnote on page 13 for full source and disclaimer.

For a glossary of terms please refer to page 150.

Colt Group assets and opportunities 
by lines of business 

04 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013



22940.04   26 February 2014 9:03 PM   proof 2

Customers Direct channel (CES) to Enterprise customers and indirect channel (CCS) to network operators 
(wholesale) and a range of SME to larger businesses, via channel partners

Colt already serves 10 of the top 25 global companies in media and 12 of the top 25 global financial 
institutions (capital markets and insurance) 

• In 2013 we signed 15 deals of over €1m annual contract value (ACV) (2012: 12) 

• We continue to improve our reputation with our customers as demonstrated by the increase in our 
Net Promoter Score to 22% in 2013 (2012: 14%)

We can do more for our customers
We can do more for our customers. Our more advanced customers are embracing our extended service capabilities with 
the increasing breadth of service and associated growth of our larger accounts. We are doing more to leverage our new 
automated capabilities, making it simpler for smaller customers to do business with us. There are also opportunities for new 
wholesale operator accounts which play to the strengths of our geographically seamless network offering

Line of Business1 Assets 2013 Revenue Market2 Colt Opportunity

Network  
Services

83,000 km of fibre routes in 23 countries:

• 46,000 km of European network

• 37,000 km of non-European network
41 MANs in 14 countries
192 connected cities
19,800 direct fibre connected buildings
416 connected third party data centres

c.€830m 2013, growing c.1% of which:
c.€410m basic Ethernet point to point and 
Internet Access, growing c.1%
c.€275m Managed Networking (including 
MarketPrizm), growing c.15%
c.€85m SDH services, declining c.23%
c.€60m other bandwidth, declined c.5%, but 
includes variable elements

Colt’s addressable Western Europe network 
services market is c.€25bn in total, of which 
access & bandwidth is c.€15bn, forecast to grow 
c.1% CAGR 2013-2018, and managed networking 
is c.€10bn market, forecast to grow c.3% CAGR 
2013-2018

Opportunities stem from Colt’s competitive advantage gained from our 
seamless next generation pan-European network assets with demand 
opportunities in wireless/LTE backhaul (where Colt assets are ideally 
located), and increased demand for data capacity generally. Improved 
Colt network utilisation and density represent other key opportunities. 
MarketPrizm opportunity from further globalising the trading platform 
and associated network service links. The decline of legacy (SDH) 
accelerated in 2013, but its impact will now diminish

Voice  
Services

Over 20 billion voice minutes billed in 2013
79 active countries connected
60,000 installed TDM ports
3,000 installed VoIP ports
70m IN access numbers

c.€550m 2013, declining c.4%, of which:
c.€300m Corporate & Reseller Voice, higher 
margin, declining c.9%. Of this c.€100m is IN
c.€250m Carrier Voice, low margin, managed 
for cash, growing c.4%

European Fixed Corporate Voice is c.€22bn 
market, declining c.12% 2012-2018
IN is c.€8.7bn market expected to grow c.4% 
CAGR 2012-2018
Global carrier market is c.€22bn, declining c.2% 
CAGR 2012-2018, Colt has 1% market share, but 
growing

The opportunities in Corporate Voice are mainly in the growing IPVoice 
and IN solutions markets. The Carrier Voice business is focused on 
cash contribution, not revenues. This is a low margin business with 
opportunities to increase Colt’s share of a declining market through 
trading more minutes and new markets. Price declines from regulated 
MTR and FTR reductions hit 2013 Group Voice revenue by c.€38m. 
This will reduce over coming years as termination rates approach EU 
regulated base levels

Data 
Centre  
Services

20 Colt owned data centres in 14 cities across 10 
countries:
32,000 sqm built (86% occupancy)
21,000 sqm expansion capacity
91 MW power expansion capacity

c.€115m 2013, growing c.3% of which:
c.€75m retail colocation, declining c.1%, but 
improving with renewed focus
c.€40m wholesale (of which a small proportion 
was product sales), growing c.12%, but variable 
(driven by smaller numbers of larger deals)

Western Europe wholesale and retail colocation 
market is c.€5.5bn with c.14% CAGR 2012-2016

Opportunities to expand into selected cities both inside and outside the 
current footprint. Demand for data centre space is linked with the growth 
in European IP traffic (26% CAGR, 2012-2016), corporate outsourcing of 
IT and growth in cloud services. Demand remains strong though buying 
behaviour in wholesale has shifted towards demand for smaller units of 
space. In 2013, Colt experienced continued fallout from a decision several 
years ago to turn away from retail colocation in favour of higher margin 
hosting services. A renewed focus on the retail colocation opportunity in 
2013 gained traction

IT Services Launched cloud infrastructure in nine sites, eight 
of which reside in six European countries (one of 
the largest cloud footprints in Europe) and one in 
Asia, in partnership with KVH
Developed Optimum and Ceano platforms for 
direct and indirect modular service delivery of IT 
services 
>8,500 servers under management 
>900 database instances under management 
>900 security devices under management  

c.€80m 2013, growing c.18%, of which:
c.€55m is hosting, storage and cloud, within 
which cloud is new and small, but growing 
>50%, in part from migrations off legacy 
shared hosting platform
c.€25m is a combination of professional 
services and low margin equipment sales, 
where growth is variable

 Western Europe IT Services is a c.€200bn 
market of which IT Services line of business 
addresses c.€30bn
Addressable market growth estimated at c.5% 
CAGR 2013-2017

An early stage business for Colt, exploring the opportunity in 
“standardised IT managed services”; positioning us between System 
Integrators and outsourcers (more dedicated solutions) and cloud 
providers (more commodity capacity services). We launched Optimum 
(direct to Enterprise) and Ceano (Thinkgrid-based platform for the 
indirect market). The platform and portfolio investments should be 
completed in H2 2014, but we are already gaining recognition in 
the marketplace with Colt named by Gartner as a leader in the June 
2013 Magic Quadrant for European Managed Hosting*. Our seamless 
integration of computing and network services provides Colt with a 
unique position in this market

Notes:  
1  Line of business definitions are subject to finalisation and may change. 2013 revenue and growth rates therefore represent preliminary 
estimates, with growth rates also reflecting constant currency terms. 

2 Market estimates and forecast growth rates are sourced from a variety of third party industry analysts.

*Source: Gartner Magic Quadrant for European Managed Hosting, Tiny Haynes, et al., G00250051, 19 June 2013. Please refer to note 2 and the 
footnote on page 13 for full source and disclaimer.

For a glossary of terms please refer to page 150.
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Infrastructure headlines

Data Centre & Metropolitan Area Network (MAN)

Data Centre

MAN

Colt connected city

Operational network managed end-to-end

New network route 2013

Shared Services Centre (SSC)

Global exchange access facilities (MarketPrizm)

Network connections between cities are logical paths 
and may not reflect actual routes.
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An expanding next generation infrastucture
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Data Centre & Metropolitan Area Network (MAN)

Data Centre

MAN

Colt connected city

Operational network managed end-to-end

New network route 2013

Shared Services Centre (SSC)

Global exchange access facilities (MarketPrizm)

Network connections between cities are logical paths 
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Our expanding next generation 
infrastructure and capability
• 83,000 km of fibre routes in 23 countries: 

 — 46,000 km of European network

 — 37,000 km of non-European network (mostly 
transatlantic capacity)

• 41 Metropolitan Area Networks (MANs) in 14 countries

• 192 connected cities

• 19,800 direct fibre connected buildings 

• 416 connected third party data centres

• 20 Colt owned data centres across 10 countries:

 — 32,000 sqm built out (86% occupancy)

 — 21,000 sqm expansion space

 — 91 MW power expansion capacity

• 2 billion voice minutes carried per month

• 79 active countries connected

• 60,000 installed TDM ports

• 3,000 installed VoIP ports

• 70m IN access numbers 

• Rolled out cloud platform to six European countries, the 
largest cloud footprint in Europe

• 8,500 servers under management

• 900 database instances under management

• 900 security devices under management

• More than 5,100 employees, including:

 — 2,750 in-country sales and operational support

 — 2,250 in shared service centres 

07www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L
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2013 financial and 
operational headlines

How we have performed financially against this strategy

Five year revenue summary 

€1,575.8m 
(2012: €1,594.6m)

Data
Managed Services
Corporate and Reseller Voice
Carrier Voice

20102009 2011 2012 2013

791.7

462.2

212.4

793.2

423.5

194.2

172.6

795.4

377.3

186.2

195.4

156.1

336.1

811.7

201.9

245.0

806.4

1,622.5 1,583.6 1,554.3 1,594.6 1,575.8

218.0

250.4

301.0

As set out on page 4 we will move from reporting revenue 
by Voice, Data and Managed Services to a line of business 
view during 2014

Five year EBITDA summary 

€320.1m 
(2012: €333.6m)

Five year EBITDA summary
EBITDA margin %

20102009 2011 2012 2013

318.7

19.6%

330.2

20.9%

332.0

21.4%

333.6

20.9%

320.1

20.3%

EBITDA is profit for the year before net finance costs and related 
foreign exchange, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional 
items.

Cash & deposits and debt summary 

€195.6m 
(2012: €280.1m)

Cash and cash equivalents and current asset investments

20102009 2011 2012 2013

309.9 300.4
343.7

280.1

195.6

Cash flow 

€(82.8)m 
(2012: €(56.6)m)

-1.1

1.1

2.1

1.1

  Cash flow from operating activities 
 before restructuring payments
 Net capex and other investments*
 Acquisition of infrastructure

321.6
282.6

339.8

256.8

-21.3
-41.7

-286.0

-8.0
-315.7

-19.1

-279.5

-2.9
-295.3-3.9

-216.3

266.5

2012201120102009 2013

-56.6

43.349.0
101.4

-82.8

 Restructuring payments
 Other cash flows 
 Free cash flow 

* Other investments includes cash outflows in relation to subsidiary acquisitions 
excluded from free cash flow (2010: €63.5m, 2012: €9.2m, 2013: €0.8m).

Key Financial Data
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2013 Financial headlines 
• Group revenue declined 1.2% in the face of adverse currency 

movements and regulatory price declines on our Voice 
business. On a constant currency basis total revenue growth 
was flat compared to 2012

• On a constant currency basis, Data revenue grew by 0.7% as 
growth in managed networking was mostly offset by declines 
in legacy low bandwidth circuits, mainly from price declines 
and churn of smaller customers. Managed Services, including 
data centre revenues, grew by 9.4% on a constant currency 
basis with IT services growth of 18.4% fuelled by increases in 
related equipment sales and professional services.  Data centre 
revenues (including retail colocation) grew by 3.0% mainly due 
to increased data centre capacity related to the opening of our 
Netherlands 3 data centre. Retail colocation declined slightly 
due to churn of some large accounts. Total Voice revenue 
decreased 4.0% on a constant currency basis as the growth in 
Carrier Voice revenue (3.6%), driven by increased international 
traffic, only partially offset a decline in Corporate & Reseller 
Voice (-9.4%), driven by regulatory price declines

• EBITDA before exceptional items declined 4.0% to €320.1m as 
the reduction in SG&A costs from our 2012 skills transformation 
programme was more than offset by lower gross profits 
resulting from a combination of changes in product mix in 
Voice and Data services, increased investments in strategic 
growth areas and one-off cost credits received in 2012

• Net funds declined from €280.1m to €195.6m with free cash 
outflow of €82.8m driven by strategic capex investments, 
lower EBITDA and increased working capital

• Strategic capex included the €41.7m purchase of a freehold 
site, in Shoreditch, London, housing key telecom infrastructure 
and including office space for the future occupancy of our UK 
operations

Network and operational headlines 
• Opened a new industry-leading data centre in 

The Netherlands

• Added 2,000 square metres of technical space (3.1 MW power 
capacity) in data centres in The Netherlands and Barcelona

• Added 800 new buildings to increase our on-net capability

• Increased the number of connected cities from 167 to 192

• Added 3 new long-distance network projects connecting  
10 cities

• Significantly increased network capacity to the USA 

• Deployed the first all Solid State Drive storage platform for all 
our storage tiers of any European operator. A more efficient 
and effective form of storage for our customers

• Rolled out cloud platform across nine sites, eight of which 
reside in six European countries, one of the largest cloud 
footprints in Europe

• Colt Group signed 15 deals of over €1m annual contract value 
(ACV) (2012: 12) 

• Simplified our CES and CCS product portfolios with the 
launches of Colt Optimum Services for Enterprise customers 
and Colt Ceano for the SME market. These new portfolios 
position the Group well in integrated computing and network 
solutions from the SME to the larger Enterprise

• Launched Modular MSP (multi-service platform) in London and 
Frankfurt for Ethernet point-to-point services. This industry 
first provides a single automated vehicle for the delivery of 
our high volume products from Ethernet to IP VPN and VoIP 
Access and operates with 20 times the capacity and improved 
capex efficiency

External Recognition

• We continue to improve our reputation with our 
customers as demonstrated by the development of 
our Net Promoter Score

Net Promoter Score (%)

• 

15

25
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-10 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
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Colt has developed its integrated pan-European 
proposition significantly over recent years and 
has been named a leader in Gartner’s1 first Magic 
Quadrant for European Managed Hosting in June 

• We continue to gain industry recognition as 
demonstrated through a number of industry awards

2013 WINNER

 
Data Centre

Dynamics EMEA 
2013

CATEGORY
Improved Data

 

Centre E�ciency

 

Innovation in 
the medium data 

centre space 

 

2013 WINNER
Data Centre

Dynamics EMEA 
2013

CATEGORY

MEF Awards
2013

Carrier Ethernet 
(Ninth year) 

2013 WINNER

CATEGORY

 

Best pan-European
Wholesale Provider

 

Capacity Global
Carrier Awards

2013 WINNER

CATEGORY

Data Centre
 2013 awards

Energy E�ciency
and Environmental

Sustainability

 

2013 WINNER

CATEGORY

 

Service Provider of
the Year in EMEA

 

2013 WINNER
MEF Awards

CATEGORY

 

Best Wholesale
Ethernet Service

 

2013 WINNER
MEF Awards

CATEGORY

1  Source: Gartner Magic Quadrant for European Managed 
Hosting, Tiny Haynes, et al., G00250051, 19 June 2013. Please 
refer to note 2 and the footnote on page 13 for full source and 
disclaimer.

09www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L

O
ur

 f
in

an
ci

al
s

O
ur

 g
ov

er
na

nc
e

O
ur

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

O
ur

 b
us

in
es

s



22940.04   26 February 2014 9:03 PM   proof 2

Chairman’s statement

2013 focus and strategy
2013 was a mixed year for Colt, the modest 
underlying progress in several strategic 
areas was impacted adversely by currency 
and regulatory headwinds. The sustained 
challenging economic conditions in Europe 
also played their part in our financial 
performance in 2013, but it is fair to say we 
did not achieve all that we had planned. 
The logical next step in the development 
of the information delivery platform, 
through a renewed focus on leveraging our 
infrastructure, is designed to drive profitable 
revenue growth and improved return on 
investment.

Colt’s strategy remains fundamentally 
unchanged. Our execution of that strategy will 
evolve in 2014 as we refocus the business on 
end-to-end execution of product and service 
lines, and on leveraging our infrastructure 
including our unique network, IT and data 
centre assets, to gain better returns on 
investment. We have begun the process 
of improving our disclosure in this annual 
report which I hope should assist investors in 
developing a clearer understanding of the size 
and trajectory of the strategic and traditional 
legacy elements of our business, with clearer 

comparability to our multi-faceted peer group 
from the network services, voice, data centre 
and IT services industries. 

We retain a strong balance sheet and 
significant gearing potential with which to 
take advantage of potential capital investment 
opportunities and acquisition opportunities 
both in Europe and beyond.

Corporate governance
I am pleased to report that we made 
significant progress on our Board refresh and 
rotation plans during 2013. In September we 
appointed Katherine Innes Ker to the Board 
and as a member of the Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee. In December 
Lorraine Trainer joined the Board and also 
the Remuneration Committee. We are very 
fortunate to welcome Katherine and Lorraine 
who bring with them a wealth of experience 
as independent Non-Executive Directors, 
gained over many years from a wide range 
of sectors. We will continue to build on our 
world class Board to ensure that we maintain 
the skills, experience and diversity to guide 
and support Colt in its journey. I am satisfied 
from our Board evaluation that the Board 
operates effectively. The Board complied 

2013 was a mixed year 
for Colt, the modest 
underlying progress 
in several strategic 
areas was impacted 
by currency and 
regulatory headwinds. 
Our focus is to drive 
profitable growth in the 
future.

Simon Haslam 
Chairman 

10 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013
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with the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
relating to leadership and effectiveness and details of how 
we have applied the principles of the Code are set out in the 
corporate governance statement.

At the AGM in 2014 three of our independent directors, 
Vincenzo Damiani, Andreas Barth and Gene Gabbard, will 
retire, having served on the Board for many years. On behalf 
of the Board I would like to thank them all for their invaluable 
individual and collective contributions and wish them all the 
best for the future. Vincenzo has provided excellent leadership 
as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Andreas and 
Gene have each served as wise members of the Remuneration 
and Audit Committees. Colt has benefited from their deep 
executive and commercial experience and independence of 
thought over the years. Vincenzo and Andreas also served on 
the Nomination Committee and played a significant role in 
selecting the new Board members. All the other directors will 
be seeking re-election at the AGM. It is anticipated that Olivier 
Baujard will be proposed for election at the 2014 AGM. 

On 31 December 2013 Tim Hilton stood down as Chairman 
of the Board. Colt has made important progress under the 
leadership of Tim over the last seven years, I would like 
to thank him for his hard work and commitment and I am 
delighted that Tim has agreed to remain as a member of the 
Board.

CSR
Colt’s Corporate Social Responsibility is about delivering 
business results in a responsible way. We believe in applying 
our technology and expertise to social and environmental 
issues. Continuously improving the energy efficiency of 
our data centres is one way in which we deliver on our 
commitment to being a responsible and sustainable company. 
Encouraging our colleagues to volunteer and support local 
communities is how we take responsibility for the impact our 
business has on the wider community.

Our CSR activity is focused on four key areas: People, 
Customers and Suppliers, Environment and Community. 
In 2013 we made steady progress on these with highlights 
including: a new company record for charity money raised, 
and reducing CO2 emissions by over 1,660 tonnes as a result 
of initiatives encouraging fewer business flights and energy 
efficiencies. We won the Energy Efficiency and Environmental 
Sustainability Award at the 2013 International Data Centre and 
Cloud Awards and were rated above-industry-average “Silver” 
from Ecovadis on our overall CSR performance.

Conclusion
I would like to thank our CEO, Rakesh Bhasin, for his resolve 
and leadership in what has been at times, a difficult year. I am 
also grateful to all our employees for their hard work during 
the year.

In the coming year Colt will focus firmly on delivering 
execution. To improve execution we will focus on doing 
fewer things and simplify the business; to support this we 
intend to improve the speed of decision making at Colt. The 
economic environment and the industry are likely to remain 
challenging but our focus is to ensure that Colt is well placed 
to drive profitable growth in the future. Serving our customers, 
managing costs with care and reducing complexity across our 
business will help us execute our strategy and accomplish our 
ambitious goals in 2014 and beyond.

Finally on behalf of Colt, I would like to thank all our 
shareholders and customers for your continued trust in Colt. 

Simon Haslam 
Non-Executive Chairman 
26 February 2014

11www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L
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Chief Executive’s review

Our evolution – the information 
delivery platform
Colt has evolved from a complex organisation 
with multiple structures, systems and 
processes to a simple customer focused 
organisation. We moved away from a country 
model and rationalised and centralised our 
resources, while at the same time retaining 
a local presence to optimise our service to 
customers. We invested in streamlining our 
systems and processes and created best-
in-class shared service centres in India and 
Barcelona. At the same time we continued to 
innovate, building world-class data centres, 
future proofing our network and continuing to 
develop our product portfolio and technology 
platforms. Our next generation network, 
20 carrier-neutral data centres, expertise in 
integrated compute and network services 
and unified systems and processes, working 
seamlessly together, combine to make Colt 
the information delivery platform. 

Progress in 20131

In 2013 we continued to invest in further 
developing the information delivery platform. 
We delivered growth in our strategic 
products; managed networking continued 
its 2012 growth trajectory (14.7%) and IT 
services grew 18.4% including non-recurring 
revenue. We won a number of large managed 

networking deals in 2013, demonstrating our 
ability to deliver complex solutions to our 
customers. This includes our largest ever 
managed networking deal signed in Q4.

Colt’s network is one of our key assets and 
unmatched by our competitors. We continued 
to make network investments to respond 
to customer demand and future proof our 
network through innovation. We launched 
Modular MSP (multi-service platform), an 
industry-first platform that enables the 
delivery of IP services using virtual customer 
premise equipment capability and delivers 
significant capex efficiency. This is a market-
leading step for Colt and our customers, 
based on flexible Software Defined 
Networking (SDN) instead of the traditional 
switched environment. We also extended our 
network to Cork, Ireland’s second largest city 
and expanded our data centre footprint with 
the creation of an additional 2,000 square 
metres of capacity and 3.1 MW of additional 
power, in the Netherlands and Barcelona.

We made progress in developing the 
foundations for our IT Services business; 
though our revenue has been slower to 
materialise than anticipated. We further 
enhanced our cloud capabilities – we 
launched enterprise class cloud services 
in eight data centres across six European 

Colt has made 
some progress in our 
strategic priorities in 
a challenging year. In 
2014 we aim to improve 
execution through a 
greater focus on our 
assets, while keeping 
our customers at the 
heart of everything 
we do. We will also 
improve the clarity of 
disclosures to facilitate 
a better understanding 
of our business and its 
performance.

Rakesh Bhasin 
Chief Executive Officer 
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countries, and in Asia in collaboration with KVH, under the 
Colt Optimum brand (for enterprise customers). Through the 
Colt Ceano brand, our reseller product, we provide small and 
mid-size entities with a range of on-demand computing and 
network services delivered through the ThinkGrid platform. 
These simplified product portfolios position us well for the 
future.

We are continuing to build our reputation with our customers. 
Our customers have told us that our service delivery improved 
in 2013; our annual customer survey showed a Net Promoter 
Score of 22%, compared with 14% in 2012. 

We also continue to gain market recognition, as demonstrated 
through Gartner’s placement of Colt as the highest for “ability 
to execute” in the June 2013 Magic Quadrant for European 
Managed Hosting2. We have also recently been awarded “Best 
European Wholesale Carrier 2013” from Capacity Europe, 
among a number of other industry awards.

Our people are at the heart of our business and the year on 
year improvement in our Net Promoter Score is evidence that 
our people are committed to working hard for our customers 
and I want to thank them all for their efforts. We will continue 
to strive to deliver best in class services while being guided by 
our Values (customers, ownership, leadership and teamwork). 

A mixed performance in 20131

Financially we delivered a mixed performance in 2013 and we 
missed our execution plan. This reflected the macroeconomic 
environment in the markets in which we operate. Revenue was 
impacted by headwinds from currency movements (c.€20m) 
and continued regulatory driven price declines in our Voice 
business (c.€38m). It is anticipated that the impact of these 
regulatory price pressures should reduce over coming years 
as termination rates approach EU regulated base levels. If we 
look at our business without the impact of these headwinds, 
our revenue growth was similar to that of 2012. Southern 
Europe continues to face tough economic challenges and 
we have seen the impact, especially on smaller customers in 
this region. Our legacy SDH data products (low-bandwidth 
circuits) continued to decline (23.5%, 2012: 18.7%), as our 
customers migrated from legacy products to newer, cheaper 
technologies. The evolving bandwidth market means small 
and mid-size entities are increasingly willing to forego the 
resilience and security of enterprise grade services in favour 
of cheaper, consumer-style products. This trend accelerated in 
2013 but we expect its impact to diminish as the base declines. 

We have seen a significant shift in the data centre landscape, 
with wholesale and retail colocation markets converging and 
we were impacted by the declining number of wholesale 
opportunities in the market. In line with this evolution, and

 the increased demand for retail colocation services, we have 
adjusted our focus in 2013 to re-establish ourselves in the 
retail colocation market after a decision we took several years 
ago to deprioritise this business. We strengthened the team 
during the course of the year and consolidated responsibility 
for all colocation, retail and wholesale, in the Colt Data Centre 
Services business.

The year ahead
Despite simplifying our organisation over the last few years, 
we remain a complex business trying to deliver a broad range 
of services to multiple segments through multiple channels.  
Many investors have asked us to clarify our strategy around 
our assets and our opportunities for growth. 

As we look towards 2014, we will increase the focus on 
our assets; specifically the four elements that make up our 
information delivery platform, network, voice, data centre 
and IT services. In line with this, we will be reporting our 
performance by product which will give a more detailed view 
by lines of business (see pages 4 and 5). As well as a more 
detailed breakdown of revenue, we will progressively improve 
our disclosure by line of business during the year to provide 
more transparency on our performance against competitors. 

Outlook
As Colt enters 2014 the macro-economy is showing the 
earliest signs of recovery, although the Eurozone remains 
behind the rest of the world. Our strategy will remain the 
same, however in 2014 we aim to improve our execution 
through a greater focus on our assets and products. Colt’s 
unique assets, strong management team and market leading 
products remain unmatched by the competition. We will 
continue to drive growth in strategic products while managing 
the impact of declines in our legacy products. 

  
Rakesh Bhasin 
Chief Executive Officer 
26 February 2014
1 All growth metrics are expressed in constant currency terms. 
2  Source: Gartner Magic Quadrant for European Managed Hosting, Tiny Haynes, 

et al., G00250051, 19 June 2013. Gartner does not endorse any vendor, product 
or service depicted in its research publications, and does not advise technology 
users to select those vendors with the highest ratings. Gartner research 
publications consist of the opinions of Gartner research organization and 
should not be construed as statements of fact. Gartner disclaims all warranties, 
expressed or implied, with respect to this research, including any warranties of 
merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.

All statements in this report attributable to Gartner represent Colt’s interpretation of data, research opinion or viewpoints published as part of a syndicated subscription 
service by Gartner, Inc., and have not been reviewed by Gartner. Each Gartner publication speaks as of its original publication date (and not as of the date of Colt 2013 
Annual Report). The opinions expressed in Gartner publications are not representations of fact, and are subject to change without notice.
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Market conditions, 
regulatory driven price 
declines and negative 
impact from foreign 
currency movements 
resulted in a 
challenging year from 
a financial perspective.

Financial review
Chief Financial Officers review

1  EBITDA is profit before net finance costs and 
related foreign exchange, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and exceptional items.

Mark Ferrari 
Chief Financial Officer 

Overview of 2013
Group revenue declined 1.2% due to adverse 
currency movements and regulatory price 
declines on our Voice business. On a constant 
currency basis, total revenue growth was flat 
compared to 2012. 

We continued to invest in our business 
strategy and as a result EBITDA1 before 
exceptional items declined to €320.1m 
(€333.6m in 2012). EBITDA performance 
was negatively impacted by a reduction in 
gross profit which was partially offset by 
the targeted savings from our restructuring 
programme which occurred mainly in selling, 
general and administrative expenses. Currency 
movements did not have a significant impact 
on EBITDA.

Operating profit before exceptional items 
decreased from €57.1m to €39.4m mainly due 
to the reduction in EBITDA and an increase 
in depreciation as the results of the strategic 
investments into expanding our network, data 
centre capacity and building our IT services 
capability. 

Net cash generated from operating activities 
(before capex) increased by €9.7m to 
€266.5m although we continued to invest 
to develop the business as well as incurring 
the cash costs of our 2012 restructuring 
programme. As a result of our investment 
and restructuring programmes, cash balances 
declined to €195.6m (2012: €280.1m). During 
the year major investments were made to 
expand our data centre capacity (€22.7m), 
acquire the freehold interest in one of our 
key infrastructure sites in London (€41.7m) 
and in development of our business product 
portfolio (€35.0m). 

14 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013
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1  VoIP revenue was reclassified from Data revenue to Voice revenue 
at the beginning of 2013. The 2012 numbers have been restated for 
comparability.

Total revenue 
Five year revenue summary 

€1,575.8m 
(2012: €1,594.6m) 

Data
Managed Services
Corporate and Reseller Voice
Carrier Voice

20102009 2011 2012 2013

791.7

462.2

212.4

793.2

423.5

194.2

172.6

795.4

377.3

186.2

195.4

156.1

336.1

811.7

201.9

245.0

806.4

1,622.5 1,583.6 1,554.3 1,594.6 1,575.8

218.0

250.4

301.0

Total revenue for 2013 was €1,575.8m, a decrease of 1.2% over 
2013 with growth in Managed Services offset by adverse 
currency movements and an acceleration in regulated price 
declines in our Voice business. On a constant currency basis 
total revenue growth was flat compared to 2012.

Data revenue1 decreased by 0.7% to €806.4m due primarily 
to the impact of foreign currency movements. On a constant 
currency basis data revenue grew by €5.5m (0.7%) as growth 
in managed networking was mostly offset by declines in 
legacy low bandwidth circuits. Managed networking revenues 
grew by 14.7% (constant currency basis) over 2012 as the 
Company was successful in winning several large pan-
European contracts against large incumbent competitors. This 
growth was for the most part, offset by continued declines in 
legacy products, from price pressures and churn of smaller 
customers. The balance of Data revenues including IP Access 
and Ethernet circuits were mainly flat with 2012 as volume 
increases were offset by price declines.

Managed Services revenue, including Data Centre Services 
revenue, grew 8.0% to €218.0m. On a constant currency basis, 
Managed Services, including Data Centre revenues, grew by 
9.4% with managed IT services growth of 18.4% fuelled 

by increases in related equipment sales and professional 
services. Data Centre revenues (including retail colocation) 
on a constant currency basis grew by 3.0% mainly due to 
increased data centre capacity related to the opening of our 
Netherlands data centre. Legacy retail colocation declined 
slightly due to churn of some large accounts.

Total Voice revenue1 decreased by 5.1% to €551.4m for the year. 
On a constant currency basis total Voice revenue decreased 
4.0% as the growth in Carrier revenue (3.6%), driven by 
increased international traffic, only partially offset a decline in 
Corporate & Reseller Voice (-9.4%), driven by regulatory price 
declines.

Gross Profit before exceptional items 

€400.2m 
(2012: €447.5m) 

Gross profit (before exeptional items)
Gross profit (before exceptional items) %

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

 459.9

28.3%

463.4

29.3%

458.3

29.5%

447.5

28.1%

400.2

25.4%

Gross profit before exceptional items declined by 10.6% to 
€400.2m in 2013. As a percentage of revenue, gross profit 
before exceptional items decreased to 25.4% (2012: 28.1%) due 
to changes to product mix, non-recurring benefits related to 
bad debt and voice cost of sales realised in 2012 and higher 
depreciation costs. Data margin for 2013 reflects the increased 
use of third party networks which carry lower margins 
(principally related to larger managed network contracts) and 
Voice margin reflect a shift towards lower margin Carrier Voice 
products. Higher network depreciation is a result of strategic 
investment spend. 

15www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L
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Financial review continued

During 2012 Colt benefited from a bad debt credit of €2.7m, as 
issues arising in 2011 related to the consolidation of the credit 
and collection function in Barcelona and ageing of receivables 
were resolved. During 2013 we returned to a more normalised 
bad debt expense (€5.6m). Additionally, 2012 included an 
€8.1m voice cost of sales cost credit due to improvements in 
our internal processes which allowed us to reduce the period 
over which we need to retain accruals to cover late charges 
from other carriers.

Operating expenses (before 
exceptional items)
Operating expenses1 of €360.8m (2012: €390.4m) fell by 7.6% 
(€29.6m) driven by €13.2m net savings in selling, general and 
administrative expenses from our accelerated transformation 
programme that commenced in Q4 2012 and €11.6m of foreign 
currency benefits due to a weakening Sterling currency impact 
of costs in the United Kingdom.

EBITDA (before exceptional items) 

€320.1m 
(2012: €333.6m) 

Five year EBITDA summary
EBITDA margin %

20102009 2011 2012 2013

318.7

19.6%

330.2

20.9%

332.0

21.4%

333.6

20.9%

320.1

20.3%

EBITDA is profit before net finance costs and related foreign exchange, 

tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.

EBITDA1 decreased by 4.0% to €320.1m (2012: €333.6m) 
with the fall in gross margin partially offset by the reduction 
in selling, general and administrative expenses. Underlying 
these elements was the impact of increased investment 
in strategic growth areas. It was anticipated that these 
increased investments would be more than offset by higher 
revenue volumes that did not materialise. EBITDA margin as 
a percentage of sales declined from 20.9% to 20.3% driven 
by the decline in gross profits. EBITDA was not materially 
affected by currency movements.

1 Reported amount excluding the exceptional item in 2012.

Exceptional items
In 2012, Colt accelerated the transformation of the business 
by executing a programme to drive our skills transformation 
to support the growth in managed network and IT revenue 
streams while aligning costs related to our legacy business. 
The Group realised a charge of €32.0m in 2012 in relation 
to this programme for redundancy costs. During 2013, the 
majority of the plan was executed in line with meeting 
expectations for projected annualised savings. A total of 469 
positions were exited from the Company in 2013. The balance 
of the provision at 31 December 2013 amounts to €10.2m 
relating to planned exits in 2014, primarily in customer service 
affected areas, which are being executed on time frames to 
limit customer service impact. These actions are expected to 
occur over the first half of 2014. 

Other income
Other income declined slightly in 2013 from €4.4m in 2012 to 
€3.0m, due primarily to declines in foreign exchange gains. 
Declines in interest income from €1.5m to €0.4m were largely 
offset by declines in finance costs from €1.9m to €0.7m. 

Operating profit summary (before exceptional items) 

€39.4m 
(2012: €57.1m) 

Operating profit (excluding exceptional items)
Operating profit margin

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

86.3
80.6

66.9

57.1

39.4

€100m

€50m

10%

5%

€0m 0%

Operating profit excluding exceptional items decreased by 
€17.7m (31.0%) due to the decline in EBITDA and an increase 
in depreciation expense of €4.2m as a result of our increased 
investment in capital expenditure.
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Taxation 
The Group recognised a taxation charge for the year of €4.4m 
(2012: €3.7m). The increase in overall taxation is due in part to 
a small increase in current tax and changes in the deferred tax 
asset recognised. The current tax charge amounted to €6.9m 
(2012: €6.6m). 

The current tax charge did not reduce in line with the 
reduction in profit compared to 2012, as most of the 
current tax the Group pays does not vary as profit varies. 
This is mainly because tax is payable in jurisdictions which 
are structurally profitable and profits generated in other 
jurisdictions are sheltered by tax losses brought forward, 
which does not give rise to a current tax cost. 

Total gross potential tax asset 
2013 

€m 
2012  
€m 

Group tax losses carried forward  
– without time limits 2,542.8 2,215.0
Group tax losses carried forward  
– time limited 127.4 225.9
Total gross tax losses 2,670.2 2,440.9
Other timing differences 985.3 1,041.0
Total gross potential tax asset1 3,655.5 3,481.9

1  Total gross tax assets includes recognised and unrecognised tax assets. 

Gross potential tax assets increased by €173.6m in the year, 
due primarily to tax based net operating losses generated in 
the year. The majority of the time limited carry forward losses 
must be utilised by 31 December 2026; all must be utilised 
in the country of origin. They remain subject to legislative 
provisions and to agreements with the various tax authorities 
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The other 
timing differences mainly arose from our assets being 
depreciated more quickly in our financial accounts than in our 
tax accounts.

Profit after tax 
Profit after tax (before exceptional items) decreased by 34.3% 
mainly as a result of the decreased operating profit. Including 
the 2012 exceptional restructuring charge of €32.0m, profit 
after tax increased by 47.3% to €38.0m (2012: €25.8m).

Cash flow 
The normal statutory cash flow format has been amended 
in the presentation below to include free cash flow, a key 
performance indicator of the Group. 

2013
€m 

2012 
€m 

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 280.1 283.7
 
EBITDA 320.1 333.6
Movements in payables (18.7) (64.6)
Movements in receivables (25.1) (4.9)
Other items (9.8) (7.3)
Net cash generated from operating 
activities before exceptional items 266.5 256.8
Restructuring payments2 (21.3) (8.0)
Net interest (1.1) 1.1
Capital expenditure (326.9) (306.5)
Free cash outflow3 (82.8) (56.6)
 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (0.8) (9.2)
Issue of shares 0.3 0.7
Redemption of bank deposits – 60.0
Net movement in cash and cash 
equivalents (83.3) (5.1)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents (1.2) 1.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
year 195.6 280.1

2  Reported as an exceptional item in 2013.
3  Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities less net 

cash used to purchase non-current assets and net interest paid. 

Net cash from operations before exceptional items and 
restructuring payments increased by €9.7m from 2012. The 
impact of lower EBITDA (by €13.5m) was more than offset 
by improved working capital performance (€25.7m). The 
higher payables outflow in 2012 was due to the timing of 
payments on trade payables at 31 December 2011 as well as 
reductions in deferred installation revenue and voice accruals 
in 2012. The negative impact from movement in receivables 
relates to higher billings in Q4 2013 not yet due, increases in 
prepayments related to investment in node infrastructure and 
the timing of VAT settlement. 

Restructuring payments increased to €21.3m (2012: €8.0m) as 
we accelerated our skills transformation programme in 2013.

Capital expenditure increased by €20.4m to €326.9m (2012: 
€306.5m). Excluding the €41.7m purchase of a strategic 
property which houses key network infrastructure, capital 
expenditure declined by €21.3m. The purchase of the strategic 
property will replace operating lease expense in the future for 
both network node facilities located on the site as well as for 
the Company’s UK operations office. Existing leases for the UK 
main office are due to expire in 2014 and 2015 at which time 
the UK operations will be relocated to an office building also 
located at the site. 

17www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L
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Financial review continued

Capital expenditure consists of the following elements: 

2013 
€m 

2012
€m Movement

Customer order related 128.2 132.2 (4.0)
Network and DCS 
infrastructure 50.7 41.5 9.2

178.9 173.7 5.2

Data centre services 
expansion 22.7 45.8 (23.1)
Network expansion 5.5 12.5 (7.0)
Product and services 
development 35.0 29.4 5.6

63.2 87.7 (24.5)

Infrastructure acquisition 41.7 — 41.7
Internal IT / Operations 
infrastructure 37.9 39.7 (1.8)
Other 5.2 5.4 (0.2)
Total 326.9 306.5 20.4

Capital expenditure supporting normal recurring operations:
Capital expenditure relating to customer order revenue is 
primarily expenditure on new equipment both on customer 
premises and elsewhere in the network to support the 
acquisition of new customer contracts. These contracts are 
typically medium to long term in nature. Capital expenditure 
in relation to customer orders decreased by 3.0% (€4.0m) 
in 2013 to €128.2m. Spend on our existing network and data 
centre infrastructure increased by €9.2m as we continue to 
upgrade our network for technological changes particularly 
with investments in our platform which help deliver Ethernet 
services to our customers. This expenditure also includes 
capacity spend in anticipation of future customer demand. 
Spend on data centres represents maintenance capex on older 
facilities. 

Longer term investment expenditure:
Capital expenditure relating to our data centre capacity in 
2013 decreased by 50.4% (€23.1m) as our 2012 spend included 
significant investment in our data centre in the Netherlands, 
where operations commenced in January 2013. Spend on 
network expansion decreased by €7.0m as the 2012 spend 
included investment into new low latency routes to Ireland 
and various network enhancements across Europe that were 
completed during the year. Revenue-driving Product and 
Services Development spend increased by €5.6m and includes 
expenditure on the development of our Managed Services 
platform which will strengthen our solutions business.

Internal IT represents spend on our internal systems which 
declined by €1.8m from 2012. Spend on IT systems in the year 
included a major enhancement to our order processing and 
customer relationship management (CRM) systems which will 
allow us to continue to automate our internal order processes 
as well as allow our customers to order online in a simplified 
manner. Spending in the year also included an upgrade to our 
carrier settlement systems for voice traffic. 

Cash & deposits summary 

€195.6m 
(2012: €280.1m) 

Cash and cash equivalents and current asset investments

20102009 2011 2012 2013

309.9 300.4
343.7

280.1

195.6

Statement of financial position 
Non-current assets increased by €38.9m to €1,556.0m (2012: 
€1,517.1m). Capital expenditure net of depreciation expense 
accounted for an increase of approximately €52m. The impact 
of foreign currency movements and other immaterial items 
offset the net capex increase by approximately €13m. 

The movement in net working capital balances, comprised of 
receivables, payables and provisions are discussed in the cash 
flow section of this review.

Net cash and deposits of €195.6m decreased by €84.5m, 
reflecting the free cash outflow for the year.

Shareholders’ funds increased by €27.9m to €1,511.1m (2012: 
€1,483.2m) mainly due to the profit for the year.

Key performance indicators 
The Board of Directors monitors the financial performance of 
the Group’s operations on a regular basis. Details of the most 
significant KPIs used by the Group along with explanations 
of how the KPIs have been calculated and their purpose in 
assessing the performance of the business are set out below. 

18 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013
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Group revenue 2013 

2012

€1,575.8m 

€1,594.6m

Revenue and its growth are used for internal performance analysis to 
assess the overall performance of the business.

Data revenue 2013 

2012

€806.4m

€811.7m

The level and growth of higher margin Data revenue, our largest of reve-
nue, is a key measure of our vision to be the leading information delivery 
platform.

Managed Services 
revenue

2013 

2012

€218.0m

€201.9m

The level and growth of higher margin Managed Services revenue is a key 
metric to measure growth of the Group’s strategically important Data 
Centre Services, Solutions and Cloud products. 

EBITDA 2013 

2012

€320.1m

€333.6m

EBITDA is profit for the year before net finance costs and related for-
eign exchange, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items. We 
believe that EBITDA represents a meaningful measure of the underlying 
operating profitability of the Group.

Profit before tax and 
exceptional items

2013 

2012

€42.4m

€61.5m

Profit before tax is used as a measure of the overall profitability of the 
Group after adjusting EBITDA for the costs of depreciating the Group’s 
capital expenditure.

Free cash flow 2013 

2012

€(82.8)m

€(56.6)m

Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities less net 
cash used to purchase non-current assets and net finance costs paid. Free 
cash flow provides a measure of the cash generated from the Group’s 
operations. 

Capital expenditure 2013 

2012

€326.9m

€306.5m

Cash capital expenditure is the amount of the Group’s funds which have 
been spent on the purchase of assets retained within the business. It is 
a key enabler of future growth, particularly through expansion of our 
network and data centres and investment in our Solutions business.

The performance in relation to each KPI is discussed earlier in their respective categories of this CFO report.

Five year targets and progress to date
At a capital markets day in May 2012 Colt outlined its targets for growth. We highlight our progress to date.

Five year target 2012-2016 2012 progress 2013 progress
Group revenue 5-year 
CAGR

Mid-to-high single digit 
growth

Returned to Group revenue 
growth for the first time in 
seven years

Headline revenue declined 
due largely to regulatory and 
currency issues. Excluding-
currency and mobile termination 
rates/fixed termination rates 
underlying revenue grew 2.5%

Group EBITDA 5-year 
CAGR

Growth consistent with 
revenue growth

Maintained EBITDA profitability 
above 20% during a period of 
investment in transformation 
and growth of the business

Maintained EBITDA profitability 
above 20% during a period of 
investment in transformation 
and growth of the business

Strategic investments in 
networks, data centres and 
portfolio development

€350m — €420m incremental 
investment in strategic growth 
areas

€87.7m invested in data centre 
space, network expansion, 
development of managed IT 
platform and IT systems and 
capabilities

€63.2m invested in data centre 
space, network expansion, 
development of our managed IT 
platform and a further €41.7m 
invested in the freehold of a key 
infrastructure site 

Mark Ferrari 
Chief Financial Officer 
26 February 2014
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Fund promoter trades up infrastructure to 
support rapid expansion to over $500 billion 
worth of transactions 

// Source invests in Colt’s scalable IT and network infrastructure solution. //

Case study

Source UK Services Ltd, an independent fund promotion 
firm specialising in exchange-traded products, a rapidly 
growing area of the financial industry, enlists Colt’s help 
to manage infrastructure challenges due to significant 
growth.

To manage $15 billion of assets in a dynamic trading 
environment, flexible and resilient data provision is 
essential to complete the rapidly expanding volume of 
transactions. Source required greater levels of resiliency 
and the ability to connect new users easily, as well as 
scalable data provision with a disaster recovery facility.

As a company of less than 50 people, Source’s agile 
business model made outsourcing the natural choice. As 
financial companies have a level of systems requirements 
that are very specific and quite demanding, it was 
important to pick a provider who understood the market, 
and could ensure a smooth transition if any server 
went out.

Following selection, Colt devoted a significant amount 
of time to consultation before implementing managed 
services across two data centres in the UK, a solution 
which will scale with the business, handling huge growth 
without having to reconfigure infrastructure. 

The infrastructure has been incredibly robust with no 
outages in the time Source has been working with Colt. 
But it’s not just about the technology. The team who 
provide the service is just as important, as Source has 
recognised.

// The two things that Colt does 
impeccably well is providing us with a 
robust physical infrastructure that does 
exactly what it’s supposed to do, with no 
noticeable impact on the user. The second 
thing is the enhanced reporting and 
performance analysis of our website to see 
what’s going on in the Web environment. 
Is it being attacked by outsiders? If so, 
what’s happening? // 

Michael John Lytle  
Chief Development Officer
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Colt Enterprise Services (CES)

CES at a glance
CES directly serves medium to large sized 
enterprise customers, providing a range of 
individual services and seamlessly integrated 
solutions in network, voice, data centre and 
IT services that address the business needs of 
our customers.

Customers
CES serves c.500 large enterprise and multi-
national corporation customers (organisations 
with more than 1,000 employees) and over 
1,800 medium sized and smaller businesses. 
Customers include 7 of the top 25 Global 
companies in media and 12 of the top 25 
European financial institutions (capital 
markets and insurance) and an increasing 
number of customers from online & retail 
industries as well as manufacturing, travel & 
logistics, governments and business services. 

Markets and opportunities
As the direct channel to market for the 
Information Delivery Platform, CES competes 
in each of the network, voice, data centre 
and IT services markets. We offer a range 
of individual products and services through 
to fully tailored solutions that combine a 
mix of our capabilities across our lines of 
business: from basic data connections and 
colocation to managed networking solutions 
and managed IT solutions; from Voice to 
Unified communications; and also vertical 
proposition-led solutions such as those of our 
financial market data platform, MarketPrizm. 

Some of our customers, particularly smaller 
businesses, will continue to seek only basic 
voice and data connectivity and we aim to 
make it easier for these customers to do 
business with us through automating our 
service and delivery model. 

Our key growth opportunity stems from the 
increasing willingness of our larger, more 
advanced, customers to consider outsourcing 
of both network and IT service models, 
shifting from capex-heavy do-it-yourself 
propositions towards the flexibility of agile 
third party managed services. Our combined 
ownership of network, data centre and IT 

infrastructure is what sets us apart in this 
market. It facilitates the seamless integration 
of network, computing and storage across 
markets that are otherwise fragmented 
across both geographies and technologies. 
This means Colt can offer service level 
agreements that span the entire network and 
IT environments end-to-end, on Colt owned 
and managed infrastructure across Europe, 
and increasingly internationally. 

Competition
CES competes against a range of different 
providers depending on both the solution 
and the geography. In the fixed telecoms 
market our major competitors are the 
incumbent operators and major alternative 
network operators. Competitors networks 
are normally either focused on the density of 
their infrastructure within a specific country 
or region, or more internationally focused, 
but with limited local access capability. 
In both Network Services and Voice our 
competitive advantage stems from our 
extensive seamless pan-European network, 
offering end-to-end connectivity on owned 
and managed infrastructure across borders. 
In data centre services Colt competes with 
both wholesale and retail colocation providers 
(for more details see page 33). Colt doesn’t 
just offer market leading flexibility and PUE 
efficiencies for individual technical space 
requirements, but through ownership of the 
network CES offers fully integrated multi-
site solutions for back up and security. Legal 
requirements often stipulate where data must 
be physically located (for example, French 
betting data is required to be stored within 
France). Colt’s 20 carrier-neutral data centres 
across 14 cities in Europe means we can 
meet these requirements while competing 
players may lack the local infrastructure 
necessary for compliance. Finally, in the area 
of IT services Colt competes with global 
Systems Integrators (SIs) and IT outsourcers, 
cloud providers, regional integrators and 
hosting providers. Here CES is exploring 
the opportunity in “standardised managed 
services”; positioning us between SIs and 
outsourcers (with their more dedicated 
solutions) and cloud providers (who offer 
more commodity capacity services).

Working closely with 
our customers to 
fully understand their 
business has helped us 
win new solution deals 
for networking and IT.
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Managed network from Colt pays dividends  
for Tourism Ireland with triple the speed and  
a 30% saving
//  Colt’s Optimum managed networking services equip Tourism Ireland’s offices
around the globe for continued growth. //

Tourism Ireland, one of Ireland’s premier tourist 
information providers with offices across Europe, North 
America, Australia and the Middle East, required highly 
available and reliable network access to applications 
centralised in the organisation’s Dublin head office. 

Colt was called upon to help them stand out in today’s 
media-hungry world, and provide a network with the 
bandwidth and reliability to support new marketing 
channels and multimedia formats, including video and 
apps. A network solution was needed to deliver the 
increased speed and reliability that the business needed 
today, and into the future. 

Colt’s impressive geographic reach and ability to 
manage all of Tourism Ireland’s offices under one SLA 
proved attractive. The quality and responsiveness of 
Colt’s technical team and project management made 
the speed and ease of implementation and migration 
remarkable.

Tourism Ireland’s European locations were rolled out 
within a month and the rest of the network completed 
within two months. The network is designed to cope 
with increased activity and can now scale bandwidth 
overnight if necessary, rather than waiting weeks or 
months to install a new circuit. If routing issues occur, 
Colt is proactively on the case so the Tourism Ireland 
team can focus on IT development instead of routine 
management.

// The Colt solution gives us the 
resources to move forward with our 
business, and Colt has turned out to be a 
partner with far more to offer than we’d 
been aware of. They’re willing and able 
to engage with us strategically, which 
helps us to plan for the future. Colt did 
come highly recommended to us, and we 
haven’t been disappointed. //  

Conor Marshall  
Head of ICT & Product Strategy, Tourism Ireland

Case study
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2013 achievements
We continue to invest to improve our service to customers. 
In 2013, we simplified our portfolio with the launch of Colt 
Optimum - solutions which overcome complexity through 
smart and targeted combinations of IT, network and 
storage services. Optimum makes it easier for customers to 
understand, buy and consume our products and services. Our 
approach has helped lead the way in European IT and Network 
Services and we have been named by Gartner as a leader 
in the June 2013 Magic Quadrant for European Managed 
Hosting1. In addition, we rolled out a cloud platform in nine 
sites, eight of which reside in six European countries (making 
it one of the largest cloud footprints in Europe) and another 
in Asia, in partnership with KVH, a Tokyo based IT services 
company. 

Financial performance
Total revenue declined by 2.5% (€15.1m) to €584.9m (2012: 
€600.0m) driven largely by the adverse effect of foreign 
currency movements (€7.9m), regulatory price declines 
(€7.1m) and churn (price declines and customer ceases). 
Data revenues declined €14.1m, of which €5.4m was due 
to currency movements and the balance being principally 
related to customer churn, particularly in smaller accounts. 
Within Data, managed networking services grew by 9.6% with 
several large pan European deals closed in the year. This gain 
was offset by volume and price reductions in our legacy low 
bandwidth (SDH) products as customers migrated to newer 
Ethernet based products. Managed Services revenue increased 
by €10.0m to €137.0m (2012: €127.0m) with €1.2m of negative 
impact from foreign currency movements, although a large 
part of this increase was due to lower margin equipment sales. 

EBITDA declined to €82.0m (2012: €96.0m) as the reduction 
in costs delivered through the 2012 restructuring programme 
were insufficient to offset the reduction in gross profit from 
changes in product mix, and non-recurring benefits related to 
bad debt and voice cost of sales realised in 2012. 

MarketPrizm, our acquisition in 2011 that provides outsourced 
trading infrastructure to the financial services sector, grew 
revenue 8.0% to €9.5m. Whilst we were pleased to deliver 
year on year revenue growth, a combination of difficult 
market conditions in Europe and Asia and elongated deal 
cycles meant that growth was slower than we had targeted. 
In addition to growing revenues the business executed on 
expanding its network in Asia, opening up the key markets 
of Tokyo, Singapore and Hong Kong. A strong performance 
in growing bookings, up by c.50% year on year across both 
Europe and Asia, and an increase in customer numbers to 
36 (2012: 16) provides a good foundation for further revenue 
growth in 2014.  

1  Source: Gartner Magic Quadrant for European Managed Hosting 
G00250051, (Tiny Haynes, Gregor Petri, Douglas Toombs, Bob Gill, 
Lydia Leong, Sammi Pine), 19 June 2013.

Colt Enterprise Services (CES) continued

All statements in this report attributable to Gartner represent Colt’s interpretation of data, research opinion or viewpoints published as part of a syndicated subscription 
service by Gartner, Inc., and have not been reviewed by Gartner. Each Gartner publication speaks as of its original publication date (and not as of the date of Colt 2013 
Annual Report). The opinions expressed in Gartner publications are not representations of fact, and are subject to change without notice.
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Gallina Blanca Star approached Colt to help 
them create a scalable, central IT environment 
that can quickly adapt to business change
// Major culinary producer employs Colt Optimum services for IT and networking to ensure its 
infrastructure delivers information faster to better support business decisions. //

Gallina Blanca Star specialises in the production and sale 
of culinary products to the consumer and food service 
markets. With an increased emphasis on using technology 
to empower business decisions, they wanted to improve 
the flow of information from consumers to the company to 
better understand market needs.

Colt was called upon to define a flexible IT strategy to 
align technology and centralise business applications. 
Moving to pay-per-use commercials removed the need for 
upfront CAPEX investments.  Colt was the unique supplier 
at that moment who could implement these important 
changes. A dedicated team was put in place to plan and 
manage the migration of the infrastructure into Colt’s data 
centres. All premises across Europe and Africa are now 
connected to a primary data centre in Barcelona using the 
Colt network. Colt also implemented a disaster recovery 
platform in the Madrid data centre on a pay-per-use basis 
to ensure business continuity. 

With Colt, Gallina Blanca Star now has a scalable and 
centralised IT environment which improves the delivery 
of crucial information to the business and is run without 
major CAPEX outlay. 

// I see Colt as a partner that can 
give you 360-degree technological 
services from the network, to the IT 
infrastructure, to the communications. 
With just one partner, you can cover 
many services in a very efficient way. I 
would recommend Colt because they 
are a partner you can trust, and they are 
investing in solutions for our future. // 

Marc Conte 
CIO, Gallina Blanca Star

Case study
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New network delivers four times the capacity and 
saves EUROVISION 20% a year
// Moving its network to Colt’s broadcast-quality Ethernet sees EUROVISION 
 gear up for the future of TV. //

Case study

EUROVISION is the network arm of the European 
Broadcasting Union (EBU) and carries more than 45,000 
hours of live sports, and over 88,000 hours of 
programming every year. Developing their partnership 
with Colt, EUROVISION asked Colt to ensure a smooth 
transition over to the Colt network without any service 
interruption. Colt was also tasked with future proofing the 
network to enable broadcast developments such as 
ultra-high definition TV, second-screen services and a likely 
growth in remote production. 

Colt’s direct control of the pan-European network 
ensures end-to-end control and the simplified network 
management gives greater visibility over planned 
maintenance, as well as a faster response to unforeseen 
issues, both critical in the world of live broadcasting.

Using Colt’s Premium Solution Management service, 
EUROVISION’s network managers talk directly to 
Colt’s network managers so that the two teams can 
work together more efficiently to deliver the high 
level of technical support that EUROVISION’s business 
demands. Problems are solved faster and better network 
performance ensures continued reliable broadcast quality.

//We felt, given Colt’s healthy track 
record with our existing network that we 
could trust them to deliver the quality 
and reliability we needed. Colt not only 
had a sophisticated 10Gbps Ethernet 
video transport capability supporting 
uncompressed formats, but they were 
familiar with our business and our network 
needs. We were confident they would 
keep our large and complex migration on 
track, and we weren’t disappointed.//

Graham Warren 
Network Director, Eurovision
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Colt Communication Services (CCS) 

CCS at a glance
CCS provides channel-ready transactional 
network, voice, data centre and IT services to 
indirect sales partners and wholesale services 
to other network operators. 

Customers
CCS provides services to over 24,000 
customers, from SMEs to larger businesses 
and enterprises, via four indirect channels 
to market; wholesale, agent, franchise and 
distributor.

CCS provides wholesale unbranded voice 
and network services to over 350 other 
network operators, systems integrators and 
voice and data resellers. Our customers 
include the majority of incumbent operators 
across Europe and most of the major global 
operators.

Agents are independent sales persons who 
manage the sale of Colt branded services 
in exchange for commission. The channel 
consists of c.180 agent partners serving 
c.21,000 customers.

Franchise partners exclusively provide 
Colt services in conjunction with their own 
complementary offerings through a range of 
co-branded solutions and services. A relatively 
new channel to market, the franchise channel 
currently consists of 14 franchisees across 
Europe including new franchisees added in 
Spain, Italy, Germany, Belgium and the UK 
during 2013, with further expansion planned 
in 2014. Today, Colt franchisees deliver Colt 
services to over 3,000 customers.

Finally, Colt also uses nine specialist IT 
distributors who provide access to thousands 
of value added resellers. Here Colt provides 
both branded and unbranded services, 
depending on the needs of the specific 
channel partner. Colt extended this channel in 
2013 with major new appointments in France, 
Germany, Italy, Ireland, The Netherlands and 
Spain. 

Markets and opportunities
As the indirect channel to market for our 
Information Delivery Platform, CCS competes 
in each of the network, voice, data centre and 
IT services markets. 

Colt provides easy access into Europe for 
network operators who don’t already possess 
equivalent infrastructure across the territory. 
International network operators looking for 
network access in Europe are one opportunity, 
but so too are European incumbent and 
alternative network operators who have dense 
network access infrastructure within a specific 
region, but do not possess the same footprint 
outside their home territory. 

Other key opportunities in the indirect 
channel markets stem from broadening 
customer access to Colt services through 
focused expansion of channel partnerships, 
providing an attractive, simplified, portfolio 
of services and automating access to those 
services as far as possible.

Channel partners can interconnect with 
Colt via a single interface and have access 
to our entire network capability and assets, 
underpinned by our automated systems and 
transactional business capability. 

Our channel partners have access to Colt 
branded and unbranded, channel-ready 
transactional services ranging from telephony, 
Internet and network services, to ‘pay as 
you go’ software-as-a-service offerings. A 
key opportunity in this space resides in the 
franchisee and distributor/reseller channels 
which target mid-sized business customers 
(from 50 to several thousand employees), an 
under-served market for ICT services.

CCS combines state 
of the art technology 
and systems with 
skilled people to 
provide high-quality, 
transactional network, 
IT and communications 
services that are easy 
to order, implement and 
manage.
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Tipp24 choose Colt to enhance its gaming services 
offering to customers across Europe

// Cutting edge gaming company prepares for future growth with colocation, network and 
data centre services from Colt. //

Tipp24 SE holds equity interests in a number of companies 
in the UK and Spain which enable participation in lottery-
based games via the Internet. Aiming to build a high 
availability server cluster for all of their gaming services, 
Tipp24 required significant rack space storage options and 
data centre services to meet their business objectives.

Following intensive presales consulting and network 
design discussions, Colt agreed to deliver 16 racks, 
split over two data centres in the UK within a 25 metre 
zone, with a guarantee to hold space for 10 more racks 
over the next three years. These racks were then built 
with connections to several 10 GB LanLinks, dark fibre 
connections and HA IP-Access, meeting Tipp24’s gaming 
services needs today and also in the future. The Colt 
infrastructure services also allowed Tipp24 to build a 
netapp cluster.

//Colt’s combined datacentre and network 
services proved to be the perfect solution 
to our need for a highly available and 
international infrastructure. The team really 
understood our business requirements, 
designing a solution that will support us 
while we develop our business now and in 
the future//

Darren O’Dell, Managing Director

Case study
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Insight leverages Colt’s network and data centre 
assets across Europe to enhance its on demand 
cloud services offering
// Global technology provider takes advantage of Colt’s assets and flexible commercials to 
provide their customers with a broader range of network, communications and cloud-based 
IT services. //

Case study

Insight Enterprises, Inc. is a leading technology provider of 
hardware, software and service solutions to business and 
government clients in North America, Europe, the Middle 
East, Africa and Asia-Pacific. They required a partner who 
could provide on demand cloud services for its customers 
and also had leading network and data centre assets 
across Europe.

Colt’s flexible terms and on demand services appealed 
to Insight and they also recognised our ability to 
support enterprise operations. Colt offered Colt Ceano, 
our portfolio of on-demand services along with our 
connectivity and data centre services. Our channel 
expertise means that the management platform we were 
able to offer Insight matched their need to automate as 
many of the back office elements as possible. The platform 
is designed to help partners launch new products quickly 
and easily in an automated fashion. 

Access to Colt’s on-demand cloud services platform helps 
Insight’s 80,000 customers across Europe to source a full 
range of network, communications and cloud-based IT 
services. They only pay for the services and capacity they 
need with the ability to scale up or down as required.

//This partnership allows our clients 
to leverage Colt’s IT services expertise 
to transition their infrastructure to 
the cloud, and do it with proper 
controls and a structured approach to 
security, management and service level 
agreements.//

Justin Griffiths  
VP Product  
Management, Cloud & E-Commerce EMEA at Insight 
Enterprises
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Competition
In the voice and data markets, Colt primarily competes 
with the local and national incumbent Public Telephone 
Operators (PTO) as well as with alternative service providers. 
From a cross-border perspective only a limited number of 
pan-European operators can match Colt’s network reach 
and service offering. The voice market is also subject to 
competition from VoIP operators, who have offerings in the 
small and medium size corporate markets. 

2013 achievements
Building on our acquisition of ThinkGrid in August 2012 
we launched Colt Ceano across Europe in Spring 2013. 
Unique in the industry, Colt Ceano offers a broad range of 
automated cloud-based services for the channel. It is a range 
of simplified on-demand services targeting SME businesses 
which lets customers choose from a set of business-grade 
communications and IT services quickly and easily through a 
single management platform. During the year we added 124 
new resellers to our partner community and certified more 
than 400 new channel partners for Colt Ceano services. 

Building on our vCloud Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) 
offering, we have also introduced an object cloud storage 
service powered by EMC. This has been included in our Colt 
Ceano management platform and also offered through partner 
portals such as ArrowSphere.

We have continued to evolve the service wrap of our data 
services portfolio making a number of enhancements with 
particular emphasis on our Ethernet platform. Our Ethernet 
services have been further developed to meet the demands 
of our operator customers with the introduction of rich 
“e-bonding” capabilities that automate and simplify the way 
that customers work with Colt. 

In November Colt was recognised in the Capacity Global 
Carrier Awards as the Best Pan-European Wholesale 
Provider. We were recognised for our outstanding dedication 
and services delivered for channel partners and operator 
customers during the past year.

Financial performance
Total revenue declined 0.7% (€6.7m) to €951.0m (2012: 
€957.7m) driven by a combination of factors similar to those 
that affected overall Group revenue. The growth in Data, 
Managed Services and Carrier Voice were insufficient to offset 
the adverse effect of foreign currency movements (€11.1m), 
and regulatory price declines in our Voice businesses (€31.2m). 

Data revenue1  grew by 2.0% to €457.6m (2012: €448.8m) 
even after taking into account €5.3m of adverse currency 
movements. Revenue from our legacy low bandwidth (SDH) 
products continued to decline, although this was offset by 
strong growth in our Ethernet portfolio of products. Managed 
services grew 8.2% to €41.1m driven by cloud services although 
growth from our ThinkGrid managed services platform did 
not progress at the pace we had hoped. Whilst bookings for 
Data and Managed Services were flat year on year we made 
progress in the reduction of our customer churn levels through 
a more responsive and targeted customer offering.  

Carrier Voice revenue increased by 2.2% to €250.4m (2012: 
€245.0m) driven by volume increases from international traffic 
and voice over IP which offset the impact of regulatory price 
declines. Corporate and Reseller Voice revenue1  declined 
10.6% to €201.9m (2012: €225.9m) as a consequence of 
regulatory price declines. 

EBITDA declined 3.7% to €187.6m (2012: €194.8m) as the 
reduction in costs delivered through the 2012 restructuring 
programme were insufficient to offset the reduction in gross 
profit from changes in the product mix, and non-recurring 
benefits related to bad debt and voice cost of sales realised in 
2012.

1  VoIP revenue was re-classified from Data revenue to Corporate and 
Reseller Voice revenue at the beginning of 2013. The 2012 numbers 
have been restated to ensure comparability.

Colt Communication Services (CCS) continued
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Fuzer expands its product range via  
Colt partnership
  
// Fuzer becomes a Colt franchisee and enhances its proposition by adding  
Colt services to its portfolio. //

Fuzer is the first Colt franchise partner in Belgium, 
positioning itself as an ICT one-stop-shop for SME and 
large companies. They were looking for a partner who 
could offer a complete portfolio of cloud-based IT, Data 
and Voice services to enhance their existing offering and 
help them get this to market quickly.

Joining as a franchisee partnership, Fuzer benefits from 
Colt’s brand, product portfolio, data centre and network 
assets as well as speed to market via a comprehensive 
marketing, training and business development programme.

Colt allows Fuzer to select the services that correspond 
to the needs of the local market and supply these 
immediately via the Colt Ceano portal. Combining Data, 
Voice and cloud-based IT services to address a wide range 
of ICT needs.

The Fuzer team is supported by a Colt team of experts, 
to help them grow their business. Just two months after 
Fuzer had become a Colt franchisee, they had generated 
€110,000 of new business and had built a sales pipeline of 
€300,000.

//This agreement is important for us. 
By adding the Colt internet, voice, 
data and cloud services to our Unified 
Communication and IP Telephony 
portfolio, we increase the quality and 
diversity of the services that we are able 
to deliver to our customers, enhancing our 
overall value proposition.//

Jordi Nelissen 
CEO, Fuzer

Case study
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Telecom Italia Sparkle trust Colt to expand their 
network capabilities and provide customers with 
local network solutions
// Global communication provider partners with Colt for network expansion and cost 
effective IT infrastructure to meet local customer demand across Europe. //

Telecom Italia Sparkle is a leading global 
telecommunication service provider offering a complete 
range of Data, Internet and Voice solutions worldwide. 
Sparkle and Colt have a long term partnership and 
support each other in the mutual provision of network 
services to their respective customers. In particular, 
Sparkle has selected Colt as partner for the provision of 
cost-effective and reliable solutions locally in all Colt 
countries. 

Colt contributes by offering reliable solutions for the 
wholesale and corporate market including an offer for 
Ethernet or MPLS services with CPE which simplify the 
sales and delivery processes.

//In a very competitive marketplace, we 
find it very easy to work with Colt. Their 
in-country knowledge within Europe 
and outstanding support they provide, 
complement the way we work with our 
customers. Through our relationship with 
Colt, we can maintain the high standards 
of quality we guarantee to our customers 
when we offer local network services 
across Western Europe. //

Leonardo Cerciello  
SVP Marketing, Telecom Italia Sparkle

Case study
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Colt outsources Citytime IT infrastructure to 
support business growth 
// Large Spanish retailer and distributor migrates over to Colt virtual private Cloud 
infrastructure service solution to support business growth initiatives and gain more 
visibility over costs. //

Citytime S.L. is a Spanish retailer and distributor with 15 
stores, 1,000+ independent accounts and 300+ 
employees, who sell well-known watch and jewellery 
brands. To support their business growth, they needed 
to upgrade and increase the scalability of their IT 
infrastructure. Colt migrated Citytime quickly from their 
current data centre infrastructure, mainly based on 
dedicated servers, to a virtual private cloud IT 
infrastructure based on Colt vCloud and LanLink 
services allowing them to manage resources and 
back-up policies from an Internet portal.

Colt was introduced to Citytime by a vCloud partner 
HSI-Netmind. Citytime were looking for a traditional IT 
dedicated servers infrastructure and for an alternative 
on cloud-HSI proposed Colt VMware vCloud data centre 
certified solution with LANLink connectivity to Citytime 
headquarters. 

Citytime chose Colt because we maintain ownership and 
control all the IT infrastructure elements involved in the 
solution: the fibre connection from their headquarters to 
the data centre, the Tier III+ data centre and the multi-
tenant computing and storage platform. The migration 
from Citytime’s environment to Colt’s data centre in 
Madrid was completed in just one weekend. 

With Colt ensuring that the IT infrastructure supports 
Citytime’s business needs and that scale is provided as 
the business grows, the company is now able to focus 
on their core business while also having better control 
over IT costs.

//We were impressed with Colt’s 
offer. The combination of cloud and 
communication services delivered over 
fibre network makes them unique in 
the market. Their professional services 
were remarkable too, compared with 
the competition. A full audit of our 
network was carried out before work 
begun so we were confident that 
Colt fully understood our existing IT 
environment.//

Carlos Garcia Abella 
CIO, Citytime

Case study
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Data Centre Services (DCS) 

DCS at a glance
Colt Data Centre Services are market leaders 
in the design, delivery and management of 
energy and cost efficient data centres across 
Europe. We own and operate 20 carrier-
neutral data centres in ten countries in 
Europe, and have been delivering high quality 
space to thousands of business customers for 
over 15 years. 

Customers
We serve over 900 customers ranging from 
small businesses, requiring rack space, to 
major organisations and service providers 
needing a hall or an entire data centre. Our 
customers also stem from a wide range of 
industries: financial services, ICT providers, 
manufacturing, media, healthcare, and 
government. Our customer demands are 
growing and changing and are now about 
much more than just space and power. 
Financial, environmental and future planning 
considerations mean customers need 
increasing flexibility on space requirements 
and commercials from their data centre 
services provider. 

Markets and opportunities
The addressable market for Colt data centre 
services is c.€5.5bn, representing both 
data centre service and product offerings 
in Western Europe. Large organisations 
are continuing to expand their data centre 
requirements associated with the persistent 
growth in IP traffic, corporate outsourcing 
of IT and the growth in cloud services. 80% 
of the data centre market remains in-house, 
with only 20% outsourced to third party data 
centre providers. Demand continues to be 
focused around major cities and Enterprise 
zones, such as business parks. There is a trend 
towards organisations wanting access to local 
facilities within their own markets for security, 
latency and connectivity requirements driving 
potential opportunities for Colt to build new 
and expanded facilities to deliver colocation 
and managed services in areas that may 
currently lack viable alternatives.

Colocation
From a rack to a fully dedicated hall, 
colocation at Colt offers customers a secure 
environment within a fully maintained data 
hall. Customers can store, protect and access 
critical data in a simple and cost effective 
way at one of our 20 secure, carrier-neutral 
European data centres. Colocation can be 
fully integrated with network and IT managed 
services. Colt offers flexible, scalable retail 
and wholesale colocation solutions capable 
of adapting to changing customer needs. 
Though demand remains strong across 
the colocation market as a whole, buying 
behaviour in wholesale has shifted towards 
demand for smaller units of space.

Colt ftec Data Centre 
Wherever possible, Colt builds its new data 
centres, and expansions at existing sites, 
using Colt’s ftec technology. We also offer 
this capability to customers for whom we 
can build an entire data centre for installation 
at their site. The Colt ftec data centre is a 
highly efficient, large scale data centre built 
using technology that offers flexibility in 
power, space and cooling, not just in the 
design phase, but throughout the lifetime 
of the data centre. Employing a modular 
approach, we can deliver the data centre in 
just four months from the initial order. It is 
constructed off-site, in parallel to any ground 
work being completed at the final site, and 
then transported in modules for assembly. 
As all the components are pre-tested, the 
commissioning phase is shorter than usual. 
Using Colt ftec helps to reduce risk and 
control capital expenditure and is more 
energy efficient than the traditional approach 
to data centre build. It delivers industry 
leading efficiencies with a proven PUE of just 
1.21.

This architecture enables us, or our ftec 
customers, to expand colocation data centre 
facilities in line with demand. We can do 
this quickly and efficiently by only building 
the capacity when and where it is needed. 
This helps to manage demand and supply 
effectively and minimise the risk of our capital 
outlay on expansion. 

From a single rack, or 
a number of halls at 
one of our 20 European 
facilities to an entire 
data centre at a 
customer location, we 
have the range of data 
centre solutions that 
meet our customers’ 
changing business 
requirements.
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Competitive advantage
In economically uncertain times CIOs and IT decision makers 
need to deliver accountable value to their company, capital 
efficiency and future-proofed solutions for long-term needs. 
Colt’s data centre solutions are designed so customers benefit 
from long-term total cost of ownership efficiencies and 
outsourcing models to turn capital expenditure into operating 
expenditure. Some key advantages of Colt data centre 
services are:

• Award winning data centre facilities and operations 

• Data centre capacity available in multiple locations across 
Europe and through our partners in Asia

• As part of Colt’s information delivery platform our 
customers can benefit from one provider meeting all of their 
technology requirements

• Flexible and competitive commercial terms 

• Leading power and water efficiency helping to meet our 
customers power, budget and CSR needs 

Competition
Colt Group competes across the full spectrum of data centre 
services – both retail and wholesale colocation as well as data 
centre design and construction markets. 

In the colocation market, our competitors’ offerings are mainly 
limited to colocation services. They have fixed sites with 
significant up front capital costs and are generally less flexible 
as many sites are built speculatively before specific customer 
requirements are known. 

In the data centre product market, where we deploy a Colt ftec 
data centre on the customer site, our competitors offer either 
bespoke “build to suit” data centres or use highly standardised 
modular approaches. What sets Colt apart is our ability to 
future proof the data centre, through flexibility throughout 
its lifetime, as well as our proven ability to deliver a complete 
operational product with certainty of quality, cost and delivery. 

Our 2013 achievements
During the course of 2013 operational ownership for 
colocation was transferred to DCS, now leveraging the 
CES and CCS sales channels for direct and indirect routes 
to market respectively. Our renewed focus on the retail 
colocation opportunity in 2013 is already gaining traction. 
Expansion plans have been approved in both London and 
Hamburg sites for 2014, following on from the launch of new 
colocation space in our Netherlands 3 facility in October 2013. 
Our data centres won multiple awards in the year including 
the Data Centre 2013 award for energy efficiency and 
environmental stability.

DCS financial performance
Third party revenue generated from our wholesale DCS 
business unit increased by 8.1% to €39.9m (2012: €36.9m). 
Recurring revenue accounted for the majority of the increase 
growing from €32.4m in 2012 to €34.6m in 2013, driven by 
the opening of our new Netherlands 3 data centre in January 
2013. The impact from foreign currency movements negatively 
affected the growth in recurring revenue by €1.1m. Revenue 
from sales of our modular product to customers grew from 
€4.5m in 2012 to €5.3m in 2013. Internal revenue represents 
the provision of technical space to both CES and CCS in the 
running of both network infrastructure as well as colocation 
space which is resold to their customers. Internal revenue1 

grew from €117.5m to €122.2m in the year primarily due to 
added retail colocation capacity taken by CES and CCS. 
Intercompany revenues are eliminated in the consolidated 
results.  

Throughout 2013 we saw a continuing decline in the number 
of wholesale opportunities coming onto the market which has 
constrained our growth. In response, we have refocused our 
activities and are working closely with CES and CCS to grow 
the retail colocation business. As the retail and wholesale 
colocation markets combine it is natural to move to reporting 
on a consolidated basis for data centre service revenues. On a 
consolidated basis, revenue from data centre services across 
all three lines of business grew by 1.0% to €115.9m (2012: 
€114.8m) as increases from the wholesale business were offset 
by a 2.5% decline in retail colocation mainly sold by CES and 
CCS. The negative impact on data centre services from foreign 
currency movements amounted to €2.3m in 2013.  

EBITDA increased in 2013 by 18.0% to €50.5m (2012: 
€42.8m) driven by both revenue increases and the successful 
implementation of cost efficiency programmes which 
have helped to optimise ongoing expenditure on power, 
maintenance and security across the estate.  

1  Internal Managed Services revenue represents the recharge by Data 
Centre Services to the other two customer facing Business Units for 
the provision of data centre space and services. Internal Managed 
Services revenue is eliminated on consolidation.

Data Centre Services (DCS) continued
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CMC Markets turn to Colt for more efficient long 
term data centre services with a more flexible 
and competitive commercial deal
// UK financial trading company seeks to gain competitive advantage by upgrading their 
colocation and data centre services with Colt. //

CMC Markets, a UK-based financial derivatives dealer, 
specialises in online trading, spread betting, contracts for 
difference and foreign exchange across world markets.

CMC Markets identified a need for an improved colocation 
deal with a better commercial offering in line with their 
projected data storage requirements. They aimed to work 
with a provider who could offer a flexible and efficient data 
centre on a long term basis, outside of the very expensive 
central London locations.

Colt provided the ideal solution, a modern, fully equipped 
data centre outside London in Welwyn Garden City.  
Suitably placed to pair with CMC Markets’ current data 
centre locations, Colt supplied 68 rack positions with 
approximately 250kW of UPS capacity. Secure, resilient 
and operated with power and space efficiency, this 
Colt data centre also met CMC Markets’ environmental 
efficiency standards.

Colt’s network services and our ability to integrate data 
centre and network also helped CMC Markets improve 
overall operational efficiency, allowing them to easily 
connect a number of their key market providers with the 
new Colt managed data centre. Now operating with the 
level of data centre efficiency they need to securely access 
and maintain their data, CMC Markets have committed 
their data centre requirements to Colt for the next 12 years.

//CMC Markets’ world leading and 
innovative Next Generation trading 
platform is built in-house to a very high 
and demanding specification using the 
latest technologies. Colt’s unique modular 
and flexible design fitted perfectly with 
CMC Markets’ requirements. CMC Markets’ 
global base of clients turnover billions 
of pounds each day, on its feature rich 
Next Generation trading platform. Colts’ 
combined data centre and network 
services offering was recognised as having 
the capability to meet the demands of 
CMC Markets, which is both a trading 
house and software development 
company. CMC Markets is looking forward 
to building upon this new relationship 
with Colt and is excited at the opportunity 
to work together to deliver even more 
innovation in the forthcoming years.//

Tom Faulkner 
Head of IT Production, CMC Markets

Case study
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Colt helps TNS switch to a new data centre and 
provide a secure, single location IT environment 
for their technology
// Global Data Communications provider looks for alternative data centre solutions to meet 
their data storage and equipment consolidation requirements. //

Transaction Network Services (TNS) is a leading global 
provider of data communications delivering managed 
communications solutions to service providers and 
enterprises on a global scale.

With their existing data centre lease about to expire and 
their IT equipment scattered across multiple locations, 
TNS were looking to improve the way they stored and 
managed both their data and equipment. 

Colt proved to be the right fit, capable of consolidating 
and housing the equipment in a single location as well as 
providing a secure data centre facility for their business 
critical data needs. 

Colt provided TNS with colocation capacity in our  
London 3 data centre, a secure and stable environment 
with power and energy efficiencies helping them meet 
their environmental commitments. Our commercial 
flexibility was another key factor with usage based billing 
and a phased uptake of capacity suitably matching their 
short and long term needs. 

Having a new data centre with Colt helps TNS to 
consolidate infrastructure, save money and improve 
business efficiency. This collaboration builds on the already 
solid relationship between TNS and Colt. 

//TNS was looking for a solution that 
would help meet their physical data centre 
requirements and provide high availability 
and scalability. Colt has proven to be the 
ideal partner because of their breadth of 
service provision and their willingness to 
be flexible. Their accurate understanding 
of our business requirements has allowed 
TNS to consolidate its applications and 
equipment and continue providing 
enhanced services for customers.//

Ciarán Jones  
VP, Operations at TNS

Case study
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Colt corporate and shared services

At a glance
Colt corporate and shared services 
encompasses the operational and 
administrative support functions of the Group. 
This includes the Infrastructure Services Unit 
(ISU) and other corporate support functions 
such as finance and administration, business 
analytics and reporting, billing, marketing, HR 
and legal, sourcing and supply, corporate real 
estate and business process management.

Key network and operational 
developments
We launched a new Modular Multi-Service 
Platform (MSP) which went live in November 
2013 in London and Frankfurt for Ethernet 
point-to-point services. It provides a single 
automated vehicle for the delivery of all our 
high volume products starting with Ethernet 
and being expanded to IP VPN and VoIP 
Access. The introduction of Modular MSP 
is a market leading step for Colt and our 
customers, and is based on SDN instead of 
the traditional switched environment.

We also launched Virtual Customer Premises 
Equipment (vCPE), a building block in 
delivering hybrid and cloud-enabled services 
and network more flexibly. By eliminating the 
“on premises router”, we reduce complexity in 
the service chain as well as simplifying service 
delivery and deployment. 

We built a new Network Operation Centre 
(NOC) in Gurgaon, India, monitoring both our 
entire network and our IT services. 

We developed our customer ordering and 
support infrastructure with the launches of 
Oracle Siebel and a new Order Management 
system. Oracle Siebel Customer Care was 
launched in May, replacing several legacy 
systems for service requests, incident and 
change management. The introduction of a 
new Order Management system in September 
automates our circuit delivery and improves 
time to market for new products and services.

Key corporate and shared 
service developments
Colt corporate and shared service functions 
adopt a global business shared service model 
to combine a Shared Service Centre (SSC) 
approach (with SSCs in Barcelona, India and 
Romania) with the selective use of in-country 
resources.

In 2013, we transitioned several functions into 
Shared Service Centres as well as adjusting 
team sizes across the Finance and Admin 
units in Europe and India. Colt website visitors 
are now managed by the Business Operations 
Support Services in Romania, generating sales 
leads and ensuring a uniform handling of 
inbound customer sales queries. Real estate 
cost reduction strategies resulted in office 
relocations in India and Switzerland. Facilities 
Management was outsourced during the year 
to improve service levels and reduce costs.

Procurement and Supply has completed year 
one of a three year strategic plan to transform 
the delivery of the procurement and supply 
service from a UK orientated model to a 
shared service model of our centres in India 
and Romania. New skills and capability have 
also been added to the team of vendor 
management, reverse logistics, contract 
management and category planning.

This year we invested 
in network technology 
to improve our 
operational capabilities 
and customer service. 
We launched a new 
network delivery 
platform using the 
latest in software 
defined networking 
(SDN) to provide 
automated and 
configurable services to 
our customers. We also 
took steps to ensure 
Colt operates a global 
business services 
model through our 
Shared Service Centres 
in India, Barcelona 
and Romania. Driving 
integrated and cost 
effective business 
critical functions 
plays a key role in 
the delivery of fully 
integrated services to 
our customers.
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Macroeconomic environment  
and the marketplace
The macroeconomic environment in Europe is returning to 
moderate growth after several years of poor performance due 
to the global crisis. Conditions in 2013 remained vulnerable, 
with -0.4% growth across the EU area. However, according to 
the latest guidance from the IMF, GDP growth across Europe is 
expected to strengthen gradually to 1% in 2014 and 1.4 percent 
in 2015. While improvement in the economy is forecast, 
the recovery in Europe remains uneven and growth in the 
Eurozone remains behind the rest of the world. 

The three largest geographic markets for Colt are the United 
Kingdom, Germany and France. GDP in these countries 
grew moderately in 2013 from 0.2% in France through 0.5% 
in Germany to 1.7% in the UK. In each of these markets Colt 
revenue growth exceeded national GDP growth. Furthermore 
growth in these markets is expected to strengthen in 2014 
to 0.9%, 1.6% and 2.4% respectively. Italy, Spain and Portugal 
represent smaller markets for Colt, although still important to 
our overall performance, and in 2013 Colt revenues in each of 
these countries declined at a faster rate than national GDP. 
The outlook in these economies is expected to improve to 
moderate growth in 2014 after GDP declines of between -1.2% 
and -1.8% in 2013. 

Within financial services, Colt’s largest industry segment, 
the fragile Eurozone recovery and continued regulatory 
pressures have continued to hold back growth. While many 
customers delayed making decisions due to the uncertainty, 
large financial institutions remain receptive to pursuing capital 
efficient and lower cost outsourced storage, compute and 
network services. These trends are evident in other segments 
as well.

We do not anticipate material changes in the dynamics of the 
fixed telecom, IT services and data centre markets in which we 
operate. Each of these markets will continue to be competitive 
with ongoing innovation and technological change. Our 
priorities for 2014 centre on delivering operational excellence, 
customer service, an innovative solutions portfolio and a 
high performing culture. We will continue to seek overall 
growth in revenue as we introduce more innovative services 
and technologies, improve our solution portfolio’s mix and 
margins, manage costs and capital expenditure and deliver 
improvements in EBITDA.

Fixed Telecoms Markets
We estimate Colt’s addressable West European network 
services market is worth some €25bn in total. The difficult 
economic environment has continued to hamper market 
progression, and operators are experiencing similar trends 
of accelerated legacy decline of SDH services and solutions, 
though the mix is different among peers. Ethernet growth 
has been consistent with the market, with variable growth 
rates associated with the relative maturity of the operators’ 
customer base in the upgrade cycle. Analysts forecast growth 
for the €15bn network services market of c1% CAGR 2013-2018 
and growth of c.3% CAGR 2013-2018 for the €10bn managed 
networking market.

European Fixed Corporate Voice is a c.€22bn market, 
forecast to decline by c.12% 2012-2018. During 2013 it 
maintained its structural negative growth trajectory across 
Europe. The Voice centric operating units of major telecom 
operators continued to be affected by a difficult economic 
environment, significant regulatory induced price adjustments 
and competitive pressures. Though there are some signs 
the underlying downward trend may be slowing and fixed 
ARPUs stabilising for operators, where fixed voice is bundled 
with other products, or substituted with wireless voice. EU 
regulatory pressures on traditional voice fixed termination 
rates (FTR) and mobile termination rates (MTR) continued to 
impact all operators in the market to varying degrees, with the 
rate reductions a function of national market glide paths. The 
regulatory impact is expected to ease over the next several 
years as most markets approach EU regulated base levels 
for both MTRs and FTRs. The Intelligent Network (IN) Voice 
market (for things like geographical numbers and premium 
rate numbers) is expected to grow c4% CAGR 2012-2018. 
The Global carrier market is c.€22bn in total, and forecast to 
decline at c.-2% CAGR 2012-2018.
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IT Services Market
The Western European IT services market is estimated at 
c.€200bn, of which Colt currently addresses c.€30bn. Colt 
competes against a range of different providers in this space, 
depending on the solution and the geography. These include 
network service providers, global Systems Integrators (SIs) 
and IT outsourcers, cloud providers, regional integrators and 
hosting providers. Although a positive growth market overall, 
with forecast growth of c.2% CAGR 2013-2017, the difficult 
economic environment and price competition slowed both 
revenue and margin development for many operators in the IT 
Services space across Europe in 2013. Interest in outsourcing 
and Enterprise cloud computing continues to increase. We 
expect the uptake of managed services, especially in the 
cloud, to continue to accelerate and become more prevalent in 
our revenue mix. As a relatively nascent service in Colt, there is 
also a significant opportunity to take market share.

Data Centre Services Market
The total colocation market is estimated at c€5.5bn across 
Western Europe with growth forecast at 14% CAGR 2012-
2016. Traditionally the market has been divided into wholesale 
colocation (large scale data centre space) and retail colocation 
(small scale data centre space, sold by the rack). The retail 
colocation market continued to grow in 2013, but at a slower 
pace than previous years. Many retail colocation providers are 
also showing signs of a slowdown in growth rates, likely to be 
associated with the difficulty of expanding the “ecosystem” 
approach to newer sites, though the picture is quite complex 
with data centre “market” metrics varying more by city by 
than national territories. We see two key current themes in the 
marketplace; (1) A general blurring of the boundary between 
wholesale colocation and retail colocation providers continues 
to be evidenced with retail colocation rents traditionally twice 
to three times those of wholesale colocation and (2) Several 
retail colocation providers are seeking to extract competitive 
advantage from an ability to offer extensive connectivity 
within the datacentre. We will expand our data centre estate 
across Europe and into other regions during the coming year, 
while continuing to add to our network footprint in select 
strategic areas.

39www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L

O
ur

 f
in

an
ci

al
s

O
ur

 g
ov

er
na

nc
e

O
ur

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

O
ur

 b
us

in
es

s



22940.04   26 February 2014 9:14 PM   proof 2

Regulatory environment

Whilst the market for business communications is highly 
competitive, it is still influenced strongly by regulation and 
Colt expects it to remain so in the future. Colt is subject to 
economic regulation such as competition law, communications 
sector regulation as well as other forms of regulation such as 
data protection. Colt is also mindful of regulation as it applies 
not to itself but to its customers and how our services can 
enable them to achieve cost effective compliance. 

As a communications services provider, Colt is subject to 
sector specific rules. National Regulatory Authorities (NRAs) 
in the European Union operate within a common European 
regulatory framework. This focuses on Communications 
Providers who are dominant in defined economic markets 
which vary between Member States. NRAs conduct 
regular market reviews to assess whether there is effective 
competition and, if one or more providers has a dominant 
position, they can impose some form of regulatory remedy. 
Colt is not dominant in any market except for some national 
markets for fixed call termination, where Colt adheres to 
the relevant rules. For Colt, the existence of the European 
Framework is generally beneficial, since it provides the basis 
for NRAs to regulate the terms and conditions (including 
pricing) for wholesale services Colt purchases from incumbent 
operators. 

Impact of regulatory developments on Colt
Voice call termination 
Similar to other operators, Colt’s revenue has been heavily 
impacted by the reduction in mobile and fixed termination 
rates, particularly during FY 2013. Although timing is still 
somewhat uncertain we expect that mobile termination rates 
will converge to approximately 1 Eurocent per minute on 
average across the EU and fixed termination rates to converge 
to approximately 0.1 Eurocent per minute by January 2016. 
The impact on Colt in aggregate in 2013 has been a revenue 
reduction of approximately €38m. We expect the impact 
to reduce in coming years as the most stark reductions are 
behind us except perhaps in Germany where there is still some 
uncertainty relating to both timing and outcome. 

The switch from copper to fibre (FTTx roll-out)
The European Commission (EU) and national regulators are 
pushing to increase investment in fibre to reach the policy 
targets set by the EU Digital Agenda1. FTTx investment comes 
in different forms, such as “fibre to the cabinet” (FTTC) or 
“fibre to the premise” (FTTP) for example, depending on the 
country and the region within a country. 

Colt has been discussing its views on the impact on and 
implications for Colt and the industry with policy makers 
both at national and EU levels aiming to secure a balanced 
development of the sector to the benefit of both residential 
and business customers. The categories of impact for Colt are 
increased opportunities for IT and value added services as a 
result of the availability of increased bandwidth. In addition, 
advancements in technology have made the use of passive 
forms of network access such as access to duct and dark fibre 
more promising. 

However, there are also risks. Firstly, there is a risk of increased 
churn. Customers may be willing to trade increased bandwidth 
at a lower cost delivered by residential providers against the 
benefits of security, service quality and resilience offered by 
Colt in particular in the Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) 
segment. Second, to speed up the switch from copper to 
fibre and mindful of the impact of reductions in interconnect 
rates, regulators appear keen to provide incumbent operators 
increased incentives to invest. If not implemented in a 
balanced way, this carries a risk for alternative business 
operators and their customers. In an FTTx environment there 
is a continued if not increased need for high quality and highly 
resilient bandwidth from multi-site business customers, to be 
provided seamlessly across different locations. This includes 
the need for inputs of infrastructure from incumbents where 
they have market power. To be effective these inputs have to 
be appropriate from a technical and quality point of view and 
at the right cost. In addition to active circuits and equipment 
(lit fibre) duct and dark fibre are crucial enablers for increased 
investment by companies such as Colt, in turn contributing 
to the achievement of fast, and high quality connectivity in 
Europe. Colt will continue to work with regulators at national 
and EU level as well as through industry associations to secure 
a balanced outcome.

1  “Digital Agenda for Europe” targets that every citizen in Europe 
should have access to 30Mbps broadband by 2020, with 50% of 
subscribers taking up 100MB/s services. https://ec.europa.eu/digital-

agenda/node/1505.
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Opportunities of cloud computing
A large number of EU and national legislative measures are 
currently under development most notably data protection 
reform, network security (Article 13) and policy proposals on 
cyber security1. For example, the draft Cyber Security Directive 
requires security measures for SMEs and providers of so-called 
critical infrastructure (energy, financial services, transport, 
health). While the implementation at EU level is likely to be 
pushed to back to after 2015, national rules in this space could 
precede EU rules. We observe that these proposals are in part 
already reflected in demand by our customers who seem to be 
ahead of policy makers: Colt customers are asking increasingly 
for greater assurance around the protection of their data, 
including specific security policies and measures. Colt 
considers these policy proposals as an opportunity as long as 
their implementation is balanced and pragmatic. 

Recognising that many of our customers operate in a highly 
regulated environment, Colt is adopting a consistent approach 
to security based on the ISO 27001 framework, with our data 
centres already ISO27001 certified, and gap analyses for 
other Colt services under way. In this context, Colt has been 
introducing new network security rules applicable to firms 
in the communications sector resulting from Article 13 of the 
European Framework Directive2. The detailed requirements 
implementing Article 13 are country specific with UK rules 
(NICC ND1643) being the most stringent Colt has had to 
implement so far. 

The proposed EU Data Protection Regulation will replace the 
current patchwork of national laws, most likely in force in 2017 
at the earliest. While Colt expects this to simplify compliance 
more generally through a consistent set of rules, Colt already 
understands and fulfils customer requirements in relation to 
the protection of customer data in each Colt footprint country. 
Colt particularly prides itself in its large data centre estate, 
spread across ten EU countries, allowing customers to choose 
where their data resides when they put it into the Colt cloud. 

Colt is watching the policy debates in this field closely and 
engages in discussions with key stakeholders including 
our customers to ensure that we are in a position to meet 
regulatory and customer concerns as legislation, threats and 
customer demand for solutions evolves. 

Management of regulatory risk 
Colt manages regulatory risk by ensuring that changing 
requirements in each footprint country are identified and 
tracked centrally to facilitate communication to the relevant 
parts of the business. This facilitates early identification 
of regulatory changes, patterns across countries, in turn 
facilitating business planning and adequate response. 
Response may be through influencing regulation where 
appropriate and feasible, implementation of changes for 
example in relation to compliance requirements specific to 
telecommunications and data protection law, or litigation as 
may be required. 

1  Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the 
Council laying down measures concerning the European single market 
for electronic communications and to achieve a Connected Continent, 
and amending Directives 2002/20/EC, 2002/21/EC and 2002/22/EC 
and Regulations (EC) No 1211/2009 and (EU) No 531/2012

2  Directive 2002/21/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 7 March 2002 on a common regulatory framework for electronic 
communications networks and services (“Framework Directive”).
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Risk and risk management

Principal risks and uncertainties
Like all businesses, Colt and the execution of the Group’s strategy are exposed to a number of internal and external risks and 
uncertainties. The key risks facing the business are set out below, along with our key mitigation activities:

Risk Mitigation

Regional economic conditions 
While growth has returned in 2013 to certain Eurozone 
territories, this risk exposure remains as other territories 
have yet to achieve growth, structural reforms of the fragile 
Eurozone are ongoing and Europe remains susceptible to 
global headwinds. Further volatility could adversely affect 
Colt’s results by muting the confidence of Colt’s corporate 
and government customers across Europe. Reduced 
revenues and cash inflows can also lead to an increased risk 
of asset impairment.

Further sovereign debt defaults could also potentially impact 
the Group’s short term investments.

However, challenging economic conditions may also increase 
opportunities as our customers seek to reduce costs and 
outsource their operations.

The Group cannot completely mitigate the risk associated 
with the Eurozone. However, the Group’s financial planning 
processes allow for appropriate management of cost in 
relation to revenue performance. Our investment policy is 
restricted to AAA money market funds and deposits with 
approved counterparties. We have reviewed these funds for 
exposure to sovereign debt.

In addition, our standard processes include:

• Credit: We have a rigorous credit and due diligence 
process for customers and suppliers

• Investment planning: Capital expenditure and investment 
boards enhance the prioritisation and monitoring of 
initiatives in relation to business growth

Risk Mitigation

Infrastructure operations  
As Colt serves its customers through an extensive multi- 
technology network, multiple regionally located data centres 
and shared service delivery centres, there is an inevitability 
that technical faults and outages can occur. Accordingly, we 
have established incident processes that address these on a 
24x7 basis. 

In contrast, this risk refers to a major or prolonged disruption 
in the form of a critical physical loss, damage, failure or 
limitation of capacity to one or more of Colt’s data centres,  
network, network management centres, nodes or key 
IT systems. Such a failure could disrupt our business or 
customers’ business. This could have an adverse impact 
on the Group’s reputation, business and financial condition 
including asset carrying values and operating results.

Colt has established processes to effectively deal with this 
risk and reduce the exposure including:

• A resiliently designed network
• Dedicated teams to manage and maintain the 

infrastructure and equipment to ensure failures are 
minimised

• Infrastructure monitoring and fault resolution by our 
Operations Centre

• A business continuity and crisis management capability

Risk Mitigation

Changes in laws and regulation 
The communications industry is highly regulated in all 
the countries where Colt provides services. In addition, 
Colt is required to respond to a number of new regulatory 
developments including environment laws, new EU security 
regulations and tax changes by national governments in 
response to the fragile European economy. The Group is 
therefore subject to uncertain and changing regulatory issues 
that could potentially affect the way it operates in different 
jurisdictions, and have an impact on its results, including the 
level of interconnect costs.

Colt has an established legal and regulatory management 
framework to understand and manage risk in this area. In 
regard to environmental and security regulation, Colt has 
done the following:

• We have implemented the ISO14001 Environmental 
Management Standard

• We are actively working with the regulators and the 
business to address EU Article 13 and ND1643 security 
regulation requirements

• Regulatory and tax teams monitor national developments, 
where necessary engaging with local industry associations 
and government representatives

42 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013



22940.04   26 February 2014 9:14 PM   proof 2

Risk Mitigation

Information security 
The security risk profile of Colt’s IT environment is changing 
as key technologies converge and new cloud technologies 
are adopted. Similarly, it is globally recognised that the 
sophistication of cyber-criminals is increasing. If the Group 
fails to invest in and maintain an adequate information 
security organisation, with associated processes and 
tools, there is a risk of security breaches and consequent 
reputation damage. Further, an inadequate information 
security capability may impact our ability to secure solutions 
revenues as customers and regulators demand more 
assurance over our services. 

Mitigating actions to reduce the exposure include:

• Dedicated information security professionals who operate 
an Information Security Management System in line with 
ISO27001

• Specialised security teams who focus on perimeter 
security, using industry-standard security tools

• Established cyber-security incident response processes
• Security policy framework with supporting security 

baseline standards for many technologies
• Developing new services: As standard, we include security 

requirements when developing new services and systems

Risk Mitigation

Service evolution and customer intimacy 
Colt recognises that success in its growing managed services 
business is critically dependent on its ability to effectively 
evolve its portfolio, skillsets, culture, organisation, processes 
and systems to deliver an excellent customer experience. 
This is considered an exposure as Colt is still undergoing this 
transition and this initiative is complex.

An inability to achieve this transition may impact Colt’s 
ability to grow its solutions revenues as anticipated. 
Further, whilst in transition, there is a greater risk of 
reputational damage as Colt delivers solutions to ‘early 
adopter’ customers. As contracts obligate Colt to specific 
service levels, Colt may become liable for non-performance 
penalties.

Colt is investing significantly in its service evolution as 
customer service and intimacy is at the core of Colt’s mission 
and values. Key mitigations include:

• ITIL-aligned service assurance
• A strategic programme focused on our service 

portfolio, technology platforms, best-in-class solutions 
methodologies and people skills and competencies 

• We utilise best-in-class tools to proactively monitor, 
manage, avoid and resolve service delivery matters. A key 
achievement for us in 2013 was the implementation of a 
new strategic customer care system

• We measure all of our service delivery capabilities against 
stringent quality targets around service delivery, build and 
transition

• We have achieved ISO20000 against the ITIL V3 standard 
for our service desk and network management services

Risk Mitigation

Changes in technology and competitive risk 
Colt’s industry sector is subject to rapid technological 
change which may represent both opportunities and/or 
risks.  Further, the IT services and communications industries 
are highly competitive and introduction of new services to 
market is time critical. Competition in the industry is based 
upon a number of factors including strategy, ability to 
deliver value-added propositions, innovation, price, network 
footprint and quality, appropriate technology and qualitative 
customer service. Colt’s solutions strategy targets these 
factors, however, a large cultural and service-oriented step 
change bears risk.

Failure to deliver on any of these aspects could have an 
adverse effect on Colt’s business and financial condition, 
including asset carrying values, and operating results.

Colt has established effective business planning processes as 
well as business development and strategies to proactively 
counter this risk. As such, we see this risk as a potential 
opportunity. Mitigating actions include:

• A proactive innovation and prototyping capability that 
aims to establish disruptive propositions for Colt to take to 
market

• An established technology and architecture board 
to evaluate and prioritise responses to industry and 
technology changes

• Portfolio development capabilities to drive proactive and 
reactive commercial propositions
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Risk Mitigation

Geopolitical risks with particular emphasis on Colt’s shared 
service centres 
Colt generally operates in countries that have a low 
geopolitical risk profile. However, we operate our shared 
service centres (SSC) in India (Gurgaon and Bangalore), 
Spain (Barcelona) and Romania (Sibiu). While India has 
the highest risk profile, we recognise that all these centres 
represent concentration points where many processes, 
critical to the effective daily operations of Colt, are located.

Physical loss, damage, network isolation or restriction of 
timely access to the Group’s SSCs could disrupt Colt’s 
business or our customers’ businesses. This could have an 
adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition 
and operating results.

Mitigating actions to reduce the exposure include:

• Physical risk assessments across Colt
• Communications and response by our security teams of 

any emerging geopolitical threats 
• We operate multi-site operations in India and Spain 

and working on establishing the same in Romania, to 
ensure continuity of operations in the event of localized 
disruptions or loss. We also have dedicated business 
continuity specialists in India and Spain and at Group level 
to test these processes

• Indian sites are 2,000 km apart with separate connectivity, 
and Spain’s SSC has multiple offices to decentralise 
locational risk

• Certifications: India, the larger SSC, is now accredited 
against the new international business continuity standard 
ISO 22301

Risk Mitigation

Supply chain 
The Group is reliant on a number of key IT software, service 
and communications equipment suppliers to ensure a 
consistent and effective supply chain and to meet its 
business plan commitments. 

Any financial or operating weakness of key IT software 
suppliers, service suppliers or communications equipment 
suppliers, which affects their availability, consistency and/or 
reliability of delivery could affect the Group’s performance.

Mitigating actions to reduce the exposure include:

• Sourcing: We operate dedicated procurement functions 
to manage supplier relationships, establish dual vendor 
strategies and monitor key suppliers’ ability to serve our 
needs. The functions also engage with Group Business 
Continuity to perform key supplier risk mapping and 
assessments

• Inventory: We operate an established “hub and spoke” 
inventory distribution system, including buffer supplies and 
use of a globally recognised distribution partner

The risk management process directly links to the strategic objectives and enabling actions of Colt and is aligned to the annual 
budget process. This ensures risk related spends are considered, and where necessary, incorporated in the budget. On an annual 
basis both senior management and Directors collectively evaluate the Group-level risk landscape to ensure that the overall risk 
management process remains aligned to Colt’s business objectives and the operating environment.

Risk and risk management continued
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Treasury policy
The Group operates a centralised Treasury department that reports to the CFO and is accountable to the Board for managing 
treasury activities in accordance with a framework of treasury policies and procedures approved by the Board. It is an overriding 
policy that trading in financial instruments for the purpose of profit generation is prohibited, with all financial instruments being 
used solely for risk management purposes.

Within the policy framework the Treasury department’s principal responsibilities are:

• to manage the Group’s core funding, liquidity and working capital requirements;

• to ensure the Group has access to a variety of short and longer term funding options;

• to manage exposure to foreign currency movements;

• to manage exposure to interest rate movements;

• to control and monitor bank credit and counterparty risk; and

• to manage the Group’s relationship with banks and rating agencies.

The Group’s principal treasury risk exposures are as follows:

Risk Mitigation

Liquidity risk: That the Group does not have sufficient funds 
to meet its liabilities.

The Group prepares rolling short-term and medium-term 
cash forecasts to ensure that it retains sufficient funds to 
meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Company’s investment 
policies restrict investment of surplus cash with regard to 
long-term financial investment vehicles.

Foreign exchange risk: The Group’s principal revenue, costs, 
assets and liabilities, including intercompany debt financing 
were denominated in Euros during 2013. Of the remaining 
currencies, Sterling is the largest exposure along with the US 
Dollar.

The Group seeks to match foreign currency assets and 
liabilities where possible and hedging is considered for 
significant foreign currency exposures. 

Interest rate risk: Interest is earned on short-term cash 
deposits at variable as well as fixed rates; changes in interest 
rates will impact the amount of interest income earned.

The Group seeks to maximise the return earned on surplus 
cash invested, within the bounds of acceptable counterparty 
risk management but does not enter into derivative or other 
financial instruments to hedge this risk.

Counterparty credit risk: Financial assets which potentially 
subject the Group to concentration of credit risk consist 
principally of trade and other receivables, cash and current 
asset investments.

Cash includes short-term and money market deposits as well 
as liquidity fund investments, all deposited for up to three 
months. 

Cash and short-term investments are invested either in AAA 
unsecured money market mutual funds or placed on term 
deposit with approved counterparties. Management believes 
the concentration of credit risk associated with trade and 
other receivables is minimised due to distribution over many 
customers in different countries and in different industries. 
The Group has not experienced any losses to date on its 
deposited cash or current asset investments.
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Credit rating
Two credit rating agencies, Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, publish credit ratings for the 
Group. During the year both Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s reviewed their ratings, which were maintained at their previous 
levels.

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the Group’s long-term credit ratings provided by these two agencies were as 
follows:

Rating Agency 
Rating  

2013 
Outlook  

2013
Rating  

2012
Outlook 

2012

Moody’s Ba3 Stable Ba3 Stable 
Standard & Poor’s BB Stable BB Stable

Capital management
The following table summarises the current capital of the Group:

2013 
€m 

2012 
€m 

Cash and cash equivalents 195.6 280.1
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 1,511.1 1,486.8
Share capital and share premium 1,405.5 1,404.3

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s funding and capital requirements. The Group’s long-term policy is to finance the 
Group centrally using a mixture of equity and debt, accessing both longer-term capital markets and short-term bank finance as 
circumstances require. The Group’s capital structure is reviewed on a regular basis in response to business developments. The 
Group continues to believe that there are significant growth opportunities for the business and in this context has not declared a 
dividend in 2013.

Risk and risk management continued

46 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013



22940.04   26 February 2014 9:14 PM   proof 2

Corporate social responsibility

Our strategy
Colt’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programme, 
CSR Matters, continues to be driven by the CSR Steering 
Group, with Colt Executive Committee member Richard 
Oosterom assuming overall responsibility in 2013. We believe 
in delivering business results in a responsible way. We also 
believe in applying our technology and expertise in a way 
that benefits social and environmental issues. Continuously 
improving the energy efficiency of our data centres is one way 
in which we deliver on our commitment to being a responsible 
and sustainable company. We also take responsibility for 
the impact our business has on the wider community and 
we encourage our colleagues to volunteer and support local 
communities.

Our CSR activity remains focused on four key areas:

People 
We aim to create a great working environment for our 
employees. We believe that a diverse, motivated and values-
driven workforce achieves more for themselves, those around 
them, and the business as a whole.

Customers and suppliers 
We help our customers and suppliers reduce their impact on 
the environment by creating/demanding more environmentally 
friendly, energy efficient IT service alternatives.

Environment
We worked hard to maintain and improve our ISO 14001 
certification in 2013, ensuring our activities are sustainable and 
help to make Colt an energy efficient company with both cost 
and environmental benefits.

Community 
From access to education to donations and volunteering, we 
bring together people, skills and ideas to provide genuine help 
and support to those projects which fall under our theme of 
“Children and Education”. Every Colt employee is encouraged 
to use their two paid volunteering days per year.

Evidence-based approach to CSR 
Throughout 2013, by responding to our customers’ information 
requests and through an internal survey with our direct and 
indirect sales teams, we have learned that our environmental 
credentials are the principal area of interest for our customers. 
This is followed by the certifications we hold. Despite the 
current economic situation which may de-prioritise CSR 
among some IT procurement leaders, 83% of our direct 
sales force believe the role of CSR in winning deals with our 
enterprise customers is becoming more important. 

We regularly monitor market trends and CSR best practices 
to improve our CSR agenda. The European Commission’s 
Digital Agenda states that ICT services and products represent 
up to 4% of the EU’s carbon emissions, while big data 
trends suggest information volumes will grow exponentially 
along with their associated data centre needs. In addition, 
energy prices continue to rise and we know our data centre 
estate represents the highest proportion of our own carbon 
emissions from purchased electricity. 

In 2013, Ecovadis, a collaborative platform CSR experts agency 
enabling companies to monitor the sustainability performance 
of their suppliers, rated Colt’s overall CSR programme as 
“Silver”, a score that ranks above industry average, positioning 
the business in the “under control” area of the scale. The 
benchmark methodology looks at 21 criteria for CSR at Colt, 
within four categories: Environment, Social, Ethics and Supply 
Chain.

For the “Environment” theme category of the benchmark, 
Colt was rated 70/100, one of the highest scores delivered by 
the analysts in 2013. This success was due to Colt’s company 
policies, the endorsements of external CSR initiatives such as 
the Carbon Disclosure Project and the EU Code of Conduct for 
Data Centres, as well as an analysis of certifications, measures 
and reporting in place. In particular, Ecovadis was impressed 
with the environmental benefit opportunities that the Colt ftec 
solution could offer to customers, as well as Colt’s successful 
energy efficiency programme, which have delivered year on 
year, supporting the Company’s commitment to continuously 
mitigate its environmental impact.

These facts and results validate Colt’s CSR approach. 
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Our achievements 
The achievements of our CSR activities against the 2013 targets we set ourselves as well as the 2014 targets we will deliver are 
outlined in the table below: 

 What we said we would do What we did in 2013 What we will do in 2014

Environment

 

A further 1.5% reduction in 
PUE1 from 1.86 to 1.83.

1.6% reduction in PUE; 
estimated savings of 4.4GWh 
power consumption and 1,530 
tonnes of CO2 equivalent.

Continued energy efficiency to deliver 
a further 2.2GWh power consumption 
saving.

Increase video conferencing 
usage by 50%. 

A further 3% reduction in 
business flights.

Record video conferencing 
usage of over 100,000 hours 
supporting a 7% reduction in 
number of business flights, 
saving over 133 tonnes of CO2 
equivalent.

Increase video conferencing usage by 
10%.

A further 3% reduction in business flights. 

Increase volume of 
e-Invoices by 40%.

66% increase in e-Invoices 
generated, reducing paper 
usage.

Drive continuous 
improvement of our 
environmental impact 
mitigation by maintaining 
ISO 14001 in all our regions.

Certification maintained and 
governance improved for better 
continuous improvement.

Integrate ISO14001 and OHSAS 
18001 systems to deliver continuous 
improvements.

Our 
Customers 
and 
Suppliers

Introduce a customer 
satisfaction benchmark 
measurement.

Net Promoter Score improved 
from 14% to 22%.

Implement changes in our operations 
within customer challenges identified by 
our customer satisfaction programme; 
Further improve Net Promoter Score.

Include CSR in our 
supply risk management 
programme.

Supply risk management 
programme defined, including 
key ethical and environmental 
control measures.

Implement key ethical and environmental 
control measures in our supply risk 
management programme.

Workplace 
(Our People)

Develop a plan to focus on 
activities that deliver high 
social value for our people.

Conducted first annual 
employee survey in 3 years; 94% 
of respondents understand our 
vision and mission; delivered 
improvements on four key 
employee concerns.

Conduct annual employee survey, 
demonstrate improved employee 
satisfaction around key issues from the 
previous survey.

Audit alignment to OHSAS 
18001 to demonstrate 
compliance.

Alignment audit achieved, 
leading to reporting 
and management tool 
improvements.

Maintain alignment to 18001 and continue 
to drive system improvements across our 
portfolio.

Community Align our volunteering 
scheme to the Colt vision, 
mission, values; and increase 
to 600 days.

32% annual increase in 
volunteering days recorded; 
record funds of €122,000 
raised (more than double 2012 
level); alignment to company 
vision, mission, values clarified 
through an updated community 
involvement strategy, validated 
externally.

Volunteer more towards our ultimate goal 
of delivering measurable social impact 
focused on ‘children and education’ in our 
city-based communities; increase annual 
volunteering days by 100% by the end of 
2018.

Corporate social responsibility continued

48 Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2013



22940.04   26 February 2014 9:14 PM   proof 2

Our environment
In January 2013, our ISO 14001 certification was re-confirmed 
for three more years. During the course of this year, we have 
maintained this environmental management system and 
strengthened the governance around it with an additional 
coordination role. The objective of this function will be to 
share audit findings and best practices between regions to 
drive continuous improvement. 

Going forward, we will integrate our environmental 
management system with our existing safety management 
system to provide further efficiency improvements and reduce 
unnecessary time burdens on our staff, allowing them to focus 
on delivering solutions. This will remove extra bureaucracy and 
paperwork and promote greater engagement with colleagues. 

In June we published the results of the first three years of 
our energy efficiency programme. This programme resulted 
in a reduction of 15,000 tonnes of CO2 equivalent, as well as 
€4m in power costs per annum2 for the period 2010-2012. 
These results helped Colt win the Energy Efficiency and 
Environmental Sustainability Award at the 2013 International 
Data Centre and Cloud Awards from Broadgroup.

In 2013 we continued this programme and reduced our 
PUE across our data centre and node estate completing 
a number of projects, including capacity upgrades as 
well as chiller and room cooling unit replacements. This 
delivered PUE reduction of 1.6% and total estimated savings 
of 4.4 GWh power consumption and 1,530 tonnes of CO2 
equivalent. By December we had reached our target 1.83 PUE 
across 72 major sites, including both data centres and our 
telecommunication node facilities. This further demonstrates 
Colt’s high performance in energy efficiency.

Delivering further savings in energy at existing sites is 
becoming increasingly challenging due to the scale, 
complexity and cost of the projects required. In 2014, we 
will be moving away from the PUE metric to report against a 
pure energy saving metric that will better reflect our efforts 
to reduce the power consumption of both IT and cooling. 
The programme will aim to save a further 2.2 GWh power 
consumption.

In May we published our 2012 carbon footprint to the Carbon 
Disclosure Project. Following GHG3 Protocols and new DEFRA4 
carbon emission factors, we calculated that our 2012 calendar 
year footprint (aligned to 2012 financial accounts) had stayed 
flat at 131,782 tonnes of CO2 equivalent (2011: 132,098). This 
figure covers our scope 1 and 2 emissions together with our 
business air travel under scope 3, leading to an improved ratio 
of 73 tonnes of CO2 equivalent per €1m of revenue (2011: 82 
tonnes). This reflects Colt’s emissions across all our regions of 
operation.

Most of our environmental impact is from purchased electricity 
falling under scope 2: 115,583 tonnes (2011: 125,628 tonnes). 
We have estimated that this figure would have been 15,000 
tonnes higher had we not instigated the energy efficiency 
programme within our data centres. In June 2014 we will 
publish our 2013 carbon footprint to the Carbon Disclosure 
Project, after all the relevant data has become available. 

Our operations in the UK continue to fall under the Carbon 
Reduction Energy Efficiency Commitment (CRC) scheme and, 
in June, we reported UK emissions of 56,079 tonnes of CO2 
equivalent in the period 2012/2013 (2011/2012: 57,190).

To reduce business air travel under our scope 3 emissions we 
invested more than €1.0m in video conferencing equipment 
at the end of 2010. During 2013 we saw increased use of this 
technology as well as additional systems made available to our 
employees. We registered a record video conferencing usage 
of over 100,000 hours, a 45% annual increase. This helped 
reduce the number of business flights by 7%, generating 
savings of over 133 tonnes of CO2 equivalent. This means 
that throughout the year Colt has saved carbon emissions 
equivalent of over 1,000 households in the UK5.

In 2014 we will increase video conferencing usage by a further 
10% and we aim to reduce business flights by a further 3%.

By December we had increased total e-Invoices generated 
by 66% and now one customer in every five has signed up to 
e-invoicing (2012: 14%). This amounts to a saving of 32,000 
paper invoices. At the same time, those customers signed up 
to e-Invoicing are benefiting from a more efficient billing and 
administrative experience.

1  PUE is defined as power usage effectiveness which is a metric used 
to determine energy efficiency in data centres. PUE is calculated by 
comparing the total power used by a data centre to the actual power 
delivered to a computing device.

2  Based on the calculated average carbon density (greenhouse gas 
emission factor) and energy costs of Colt’s data centre estate. 
Efficiency programme is ongoing and these savings relate to only a 
portion of Colt’s data centre portfolio.

3  GHG Protocols of Green House Gas emissions have an accounting 
methodology that includes three categories. Scope 1: All direct 
GHG emissions. Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from consumption 
of purchased electricity, heat or steam. Scope 3: Other indirect 
emissions such as business air travel. 

4 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK.

5 Eurostat data for UK households and electricity consumption, 2011.
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Our customers and suppliers
With increasing customer focus on energy and carbon 
emissions, we are well positioned to help customers reduce 
their impact on the environment. Many of our services support 
lower emissions for our customers, such as communications 
services enabling business air travel reduction. Our flagship 
sustainable solution is the Colt ftec data centre which is more 
efficient than a conventional data centre. 

We are also supporting our customers’ own sustainability 
agenda, making information on the impact of outsourcing 
services to us on their carbon footprint available to them. 
Due to work completed with the Carbon Trust this year, we 
are ready to respond to future ad hoc customer requests for 
a calculation of estimated emissions relating to their Colt IT 
services.

At Colt, our customers are at the heart of everything we 
do and this is reflected in the increase in their satisfaction 
with Colt during 2013. In 2013 we re-focused our customer 
satisfaction programme around a Net Promoter Score 
(which is a measurement of how likely our customers are to 
recommend us) and a clear target customer experience per 
channel. Our Net Promoter Score improved from 14% to 22% 
year on year. 

In 2014, we will continue to develop and deliver our ongoing 
customer satisfaction improvement plan to understand more 
about how our customers feel about their experience with 
us, and why. We will channel customer feedback into our 
operations and act on it. The initiatives will aim to deliver 
further improvement of our Net Promoter Score.

Our Procurement and Supply department has defined the 
scope of a supplier risk programme to be formally launched 
in 2014. The programme will look to consider and address 
the key elements of risk within the supply chain including 
CSR risk management. These include a number of ethical and 
environmental control measures that will improve our existing 
knowledge of our strategic suppliers’ CSR programmes. The 
methodologies used to assess these control measures will 
include monitoring our Suppliers’ Code of Business Conduct 
through self-assessment questionnaires.

Our people
Our aim is to create a great working environment for our 
employees. We look at the way things are now, what our 
employees think, and how we can make things better.

In 2013 we aligned our safety management systems to the 
requirements of OHSAS 18001: 2007 and audited against this 
standard to demonstrate that robust procedures are in place. 
Our performance saw an increase in incidents being reported 
as a consequence of an improved reporting culture. Our lost 
time through injuries improved, with an almost 50% reduction, 
demonstrating that we are moving in the right direction.

In planning how to deliver high social value for our employees, 
we clarified ownership around the related activities, focusing 
the CSR Steering Group on enabling volunteering for our 
employees, with HR now looking at all other aspects. HR 
delivered our first annual employee survey in three years with 
the results outlined in the People and Talent section on page 
52. A new employee survey will take place in 2014 and we aim 
to demonstrate improved employee satisfaction around the 
key issues identified in this year’s survey. 

Our approach to human rights is outlined in our Code 
of Conduct, ensuring our conduct and responsibilities 
comply with all of the International Labour Organisation’s 
Fundamental Principles. We launched Colt’s Code of Conduct 
e-learning module in September, making sure our employees 
restate their commitment to working in a responsible and 
ethical way. All our employees must complete the course.

Colt provides diversity and equal opportunities in employment 
regardless of age; gender; race; colour; ethnic origin; marital 
or civil partner status; sexual orientation; religion or beliefs; 
membership or non-membership of a trade union; disability 
or any other grounds of unlawful discrimination. Our Equal 
Opportunities Policy, applicable in all of our regions, avoids 
unlawful discrimination in all aspects of the employment 
relationship. 

As part of Colt’s global presence we are able to enjoy a 
diverse workforce represented by 74 different nationalities. 
Colt’s multicultural environment enables us to effectively work 
within the numerous communities in which we are based. 

Corporate social responsibility continued
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Regarding gender diversity, our executive team shows a 14% 
female ratio (male: 86%) while our total employee base shows 
24% female (male: 76%).

Gender Diversity at Colt as at 31 December 2013:
Female Male Total

Directors 2 17% 10 83% 12 100% 
Senior Executives 11 14% 66 86% 77 100% 
All employees 1,238 24% 3,912 76% 5,150 100% 

Our community
2013 was our fourth year of involvement with charities 
selected by our employees, supporting the cause “children 
and education”, focusing on organisations making a difference 
to the cities where we operate. This year our charity work 
continued to focus on delivering fundraising and volunteering 
activities.

Every Colt employee is entitled to two days a year to devote 
to volunteering activities, either with our charity partner or for 
an organisation of their choice. 

In total, Colt employees registered 528 volunteering days, a 
32% increase compared to the 400 days registered in 2012. 
We remain committed to volunteering and are looking at how 
we facilitate volunteering to make it easier for employees to 
get involved.

This year we updated our community involvement strategy to 
align our cause and volunteering programme to our company 
vision, mission and values. In September, we validated 
this strategy with a number of senior executives from UK 
companies.

In 2014 we will continue to gather external input to ensure the 
way we give back to society is continuously improving, and 
appropriate for the business we are. Our ultimate goal is to 
deliver measurable social impact by ensuring Colt employees 
use their offer of two days of community service annually 
under full compensation from Colt. 

Across Colt we raised over €122,000 for charitable causes 
in 2013 (2012: €40,000), making it the highest value raised 
from a combination of annual employee fundraising (over 
€100,000) and company donations (€22,340) since the start 
of the CSR programme.

Our employees have selected charity partners that they 
would like to support locally in their country. For example, in 
Bangalore we supported the Association for Promoting Social 
Action (APSA). In collaboration with corporate partners like 
Colt, but also the United Nations and Action Aid, APSA works 
on over 14 projects with 135 slums in the cities of Bangalore 
and Hyderabad, touching the lives of close to 200,000 
children. In 2013 over 120 of our colleagues in India took part 
in a full day fund raising event to help disadvantaged children. 
Over €5,500 was raised for charitable causes in 2013 across 
Bangalore and Gurgaon.

Building on the success of our 2012 London to Paris charity 
bike ride, in September of this year, 36 volunteers from 
several Colt regions cycled from Paris to Amsterdam in four 
days, raising over €40,000 for Barnados in Ireland and Kids 
Company in the UK. This is the highest amount ever raised 
through a single project initiated by Colt employees. Camilia 
Batmanghelidjh, CEO and founder of the Kids Company 
charity commented: “We are absolutely reliant on donations 
to meet the needs of devastated children. So you can imagine 
our delight when everyone at Colt came through with so much 
help, generosity and friendship. It’s priceless, unforgettable 
and transformative. It’s Colt!”.

Other charity and volunteering work included efforts to 
enhance the life of vulnerable children from our communities 
with activities like refurbishing schools and playgrounds 
as well as assisting with education and employability skills. 
Colleagues across cities where we operate gave their time 
and energy to these valuable initiatives, strengthening our 
association with volunteering and generating visible, long 
lasting positive results in the community.

Colt is committed to CSR, having dedicated to date the 
equivalent €0.7m in employee time to volunteering causes. 
Our goal is to have a measurable, positive impact on the lives 
of disadvantaged children in cities where we operate. Our 
Executive Committee remains committed to this important 
cause and, in 2014, we will continue to look at how we can 
improve the way we deliver our programme for positive social 
impact.
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People and Talent
Our People Strategy
Our strategy is to create a high performance culture at Colt. 
With the right level of talent, customer focus and organisation, 
we can generate the creativity, energy and results that will 
make Colt a rewarding place to work as well as delivering what 
our customers want. To achieve this, we must be guided by a 
strong set of values.

To make this high performance culture a reality, we make 
every effort to ensure our colleagues and managers have the 
right information and tools which are easy to access, easy to 
use and help our people become better at their jobs. Colt’s 
people are our best asset, committed to working together 
across countries and business units because we know that 
only by sharing ideas, technologies and talents can we achieve 
our goals

Respecting cultures, personalities and approaches along with 
our clear vision, mission and set of values helps ensure that 
everyone at Colt can work together towards our common goal.

Why work for Colt?
We are an IT and network services company that helps 
businesses perform better. We believe we have created an 
environment that nurtures talent, encourages innovative 
thinking and respects diverse opinions. Talented people help 
drive our business forward and deliver what our customers 
need. Colt is a place you can learn new skills and work with 
like-minded people from different countries and cultures.

From driving change and managing programmes to 
implementing new systems and processes, Colt colleagues are 
exposed to a range of interesting opportunities and they have 
continuous access to the levels of training and development 
they need to improve their performance. We are also proud 
to report that we have a culture of recognition where success 
and great performance are recognised and celebrated across 
the business. 

As well as a commitment to health and safety, all colleagues 
are eligible for our competitive benefits package and have 
computer device options through our innovative bring your 
own device (BYOD) to work scheme. We offer secondments 
and flexible working hours in specific countries and, as 
part of our CSR programme, every Colt colleague has two 
volunteering days a year to do some meaningful charity based 
work for an organisation they care about. Other features of the 
Colt working environment include private healthcare and our 
Employee Assistance Programme.

What our colleagues think of Colt 
In 2013, we conducted an employee engagement survey 
in order to learn more about what colleagues think about 
working at Colt. We were very pleased to note the feedback 
was largely positive and colleagues enjoy working at Colt. 63% 
of colleagues responded, 94% of respondents understand 
our vision and mission and 90% believe our values will help 
customers.

This was a valuable exercise as it brought to our attention 
some crucial areas in which we can improve. Working with 
the leadership and culture programme we intend to make 
improvements in four key areas of our business: leadership, 
teamwork, recognition and development.

The survey provided valuable feedback and allows us to 
channel our energies into the areas where people have told 
us we can improve. We have a dedicated work stream within 
the Leadership and Culture programme whose members work 
closely with the Executive Committee to address these areas.

The survey feedback also highlights that we can do more to 
improve teamwork between units and that is now a priority  
for us.

Corporate social responsibility continued
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Leadership and Culture Programme
We began the year by updating our Colt values and informing 
colleagues of the behaviours we expect to see across the 
organisation.

This programme was launched to embed our values and create 
a culture of high performance across Colt. It aims to make our 
vision, mission and values part of daily life at Colt - bringing 
these into areas like performance management, recruitment, 
recognition, and training. We now recruit based on behaviours 
as well as core skills and we evaluate performance in terms of 
behaviour as well as what we have delivered.

The goal is to help everyone become fully aware of the 
Colt vision, mission and values, use these in ways that help 
customers and colleagues and develop internal processes 
which both support our people and deliver for our customers.

The programme, taking into consideration the employee 
engagement survey, aims to address the following key areas in 
the business:

• Leadership: Every country we operate in has a member of 
our executive team as a country sponsor. It is their role to 
work with the local management team, understand how the 
local team are feeling, resolve local issues and seize local 
opportunities 

• Teamwork: We work together at Colt, developing 
partnerships based on trust with one another and with our 
customers so that we consistently deliver results. Sharing, 
collaborating and helping is a big part of the culture at Colt 
- we launched Teamwork Month in October to bring this 
crucial behaviour back into focus

• Recognition: We have a leading recognition approach, which 
makes it easy to recognise colleagues who do a great job 
every day as well as those who make a ground breaking 
contribution. Our ACE programme was launched in July 
and the percentage of people that have been recognised 
through ACE so far is over a third of the workforce

• Development: We want all colleagues to perform well for 
our customers and advance their careers. We recruit great 
people and are keen to hold on to them. Development 
opportunities keep colleagues engaged and serve to 
improve overall skill and ability levels at Colt. We encourage 
everyone to take ownership of their own development, 
making use of our e-learning programmes and on the job 
training as well as classroom learning. Over 18,000 learning 
events were made available this year and we have also 
introduced defined career paths for our technical staff
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01 Andreas Barth 
Non-Executive Director, 69, was appointed 
to the Board on 1 September 2003. Andreas 
was formerly a member of the Supervisory 
Board of TDS Informationstechnologie. He was 
previously Senior Vice President of Compaq 
Computer Corporation and has also worked for 
Thomson - CSF, Texas Instruments and Ford.

02 Rakesh Bhasin 
Chief Executive Officer, 51, was appointed to 
the Board on 13 December 2006. Rakesh was 
previously President and Chief Executive of 
KVH Co. Ltd, a Fidelity owned Asia-focused 
telecom and data centre services provider 
based in Tokyo and remains as Non-Executive 
Chairman of that company. Rakesh previously 
held senior positions at AT&T and Japan 

Telecom Company Limited.

03 Vincenzo Damiani 
Non-Executive Director, 74, was appointed 
to the Board on 23 July 2002. Vincenzo is 
President of VIDA Consulting Srl. Vincenzo is 
also Partner of Multipartner SpA and Non-
Executive Director of Mediatica SpA. He is 
a former Non-Executive Director of Banca 
di Roma and was previously Corporate Vice 
President of EDS Corporation, President 
of Digital Equipment Europe and General 

Manager of IBM Europe.

04 Mark Ferrari 
Executive Director, 56, was appointed to the 
Board on 1 January 2009 as a Non-Executive 
Director and became CFO on 31 March 2011. 
He is also an advisory board member of KVH. 
He previously held various roles at Devonshire 
Investors including COO and CFO and served 
as Chairman of FIML Natural Resources and 
Backyard Farms Holding LLC. Prior to this, 
Mark was Vice President of Finance at Kronos 

Inc and began his career at Ernst & Young.

05 Gene Gabbard 
Non-Executive Director, 73, was appointed 
to the Board on 6 January 2005. Gene was 
previously Executive Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of MCI Communications 
Corporation (now Verizon), founder, Chairman 
and CEO of Telecom USA and President of 
M/A-Com DCC. He also served as advisor to 
the Walt Disney Company, Telecom Italia and 
Nippon Electric Company. Gene is a member 
of the boards of NetCracker Technology 
Corporation and Tower Cloud Inc.

06 Sergio Giacoletto 
Senior Independent Director, 64, was 
appointed to the Board on 22 July 2009. 
Sergio was Executive Vice President of 
Oracle Corporation, Europe, Middle East 
and Africa until 2008. Prior to joining Oracle 
he was President, Value Added Services at 
AT&T having previously spent 20 years with 
Digital Equipment Corporation in various 
senior management and executive roles. He is 
currently Chairman of Oberthur Technologies 
Holdings SA and a Non-Executive Director of 
Temenos AG and an Operating Partner with 
Advent International.

07 Simon Haslam 
Non-Executive Director, 56, was appointed 
to the Board on 16 January 2007. Simon was 
appointed as Colt Chairman on 1 January 2014. 
Simon is Chairman of the Moonray Investors 
division of FIL Limited. He is a director of FIL 
Limited and of various of its subsidiaries and 
is also a Non-Executive Director of KVH Co. 
Ltd. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and was previously an audit and 
consulting partner with Deloitte, and a Non-
Executive Director of Euroclear plc. 

08 Tim Hilton 
Chairman, 61, was appointed to the Board on 
26 May 1999 and as Chairman on 16 January 
2007. Tim retired as Chairman on 31 December 
2013 and remains a Non-Executive Director. 
Tim is Chairman of DI International, a private 
equity affiliate of Fidelity Investments. Tim 
previously served successively as President of 
Fidelity Capital, Fidelity Broadband, Fidelity 
Ventures and Devonshire Investors. Before 
joining Fidelity Investments in 1996, Tim was a 
partner of the US corporate law firm Sullivan & 
Worcester LLP. 

09 Katherine Innes Ker 
Non-Executive Director, 53, was appointed 
to the Board on 1 September 2013. She is 
currently Senior Independent Director at Go-
Ahead Group plc and Tribal Group plc and 
is chair of the Remuneration Committee at 
each company. She is also independent Non-
Executive Director at S&U Plc and a Member 
of Management Board of the University of 
Oxford Institute for Human Rights. Previously 
Katherine was on the Boards of ITV Digital 
and Fibernet Group. Prior to her NED portfolio 
career, Katherine was a senior city analyst.

10 Anthony Rabin 
Non-Executive Director, 58, was appointed 
to the Board on 20 July 2011. He was an 
Executive Director of Balfour Beatty plc for 
ten years, six as Chief Financial Officer and 
four as Deputy Chief Executive. He is currently 
a Non-Executive Director of Kelda Group Ltd 
(formerly Kelda Group plc) and is Chairman of 
the Audit Committee. Anthony is also a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales.

11 Lorraine Trainer  
Non-Executive Director, 61, was appointed to 
the Board on 1 December 2013. She is currently 
a Non-Executive Director at Essentra plc, 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee at 
Jupiter Fund Management plc and a member 
of their Audit and Nomination Committees. 
She also served on the Board of Aegis 
Group plc where she was Chairman of their 
Remuneration Committee. Lorraine began her 
executive career at Citibank. She currently 
combines her Board work with consultancy in 
senior Director development.

12 Michael Wilens 
Non-Executive Director, 60, was appointed 
to the Board on 1 January 2012. Michael has 
served as President of both Fidelity’s Asset 
Management division and Fidelity’s Enterprise 
Technology and Operations division. He was 
previously CEO of Thomson Reuters North 
American Legal division (Westlaw) and CTO 
at Thomson Reuters. He also served as CEO 
of Legion, a division of Group Lagardere and 
was CEO/co-founder of several software and 
information company start-ups.

13 Caroline Griffin Pain 
Company Secretary, 49, was appointed as 
Company Secretary to the Board in April 
2005. She is also Chairman of Colt’s Corporate 
Compliance Committee. Caroline joined Colt 
from a Reuters joint venture, Radianz, where 
she was Company Secretary, having previously 
held senior management positions at 
Antfactory and Rea Brothers Group plc where 
she was General Counsel.
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Report of the board of directors 

The Directors submit their report and the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Colt Group S.A. for the year ended  
31 December 2013.  For the purposes of this report, 
“Company” means Colt Group S.A. and “Group” or “Colt” 
means the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.

Principal activity
Colt Group S.A., (“The Company”) is the holding company 
for the Group and is domiciled in Luxembourg. The 
principal activity of the Group is the provision of business 
communications and IT services within Europe. The Company 
has a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange.

Business review
This Report of the Board of Directors, together with the 
Strategic Report, sets out an overview of the development 
and performance of the business, a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing Colt and an indication of likely 
future developments. The strategy and business model (see 
pages 2 and 3), financial review including key performance 
indicators (pages 14 to 19), Business Unit reviews for CES 
(pages 21 and 23), CCS (pages 26 and 29) and DCS (pages 33 
and 34) are incorporated by cross reference within this Report 
of the Board of the Directors. 

Group strategy, organisation, development 
and business model
Our overall Group strategy is to grow our business by 
helping our customers succeed, by providing comprehensive 
integrated networking and computing services that are 
managed seamlessly and transparently across all our 
markets. We are focusing our resources on the key growth 
opportunities and markets that are both relevant to our 
customers and drive optimal utilisation of our assets. We 
continue to strive to simplify how we buy, sell and conduct our 
business, including appropriate automation of our service and 
delivery model.

Corporate Social Responsibility
Our CSR activity focused on people, customers and suppliers, 
Environment and Community and can be found on pages  
47 to 53.

Culture
Colt’s culture is focused around four key values, combined 
with a behavioural framework which provide all our 
stakeholders with clarity about what they can expect from 
Colt. These values are integral to everything Colt does: they 
drive our employees’ performance, our reward and recognition 
programmes and all other initiatives. Our values are:

Customer: We aim to deliver an exceptional customer 
experience every time.

Ownership: We take ownership and personal responsibility for 
our actions and our Company’s commitments.

Leadership: We aim to demonstrate leadership, always striving 
to be the best at whatever we do.

Teamwork: We put teamwork at the heart of our business, 
working with others to achieve success.

Share capital
Details of the changes in the number of the Company’s 
ordinary shares in issue are set out in the Statement of 
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity on page 97. The Directors 
have authority to allot ordinary shares in the Company and 
to disapply pre-emption rights, as permitted under the 
Company’s Articles of Association. The Directors intend 
to comply with the Association of British Insurers’ and the 
National Association of Pension Fund’s guidelines with respect 
to the allotment and pre-emption limits with regard to the 
issue of ordinary shares in the Company.

The AGM notice will also contain a resolution asking 
shareholders to grant the Company authority to purchase its 
own shares. No shares have been purchased and no contract 
has been entered into under any such authority in the past.
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Shareholders
Details of the trust set up for facilitating the holding of shares 
in the Company by employees and the Executive Directors, 
including the number of the Company’s ordinary shares held, 
are given in note 16 of the Financial Statements on page 121.

As at 26 February 2014, the following shareholders have 
notified the Company of their interest in 3% or more of the 
Company’s issued ordinary shares:

Shareholder 

Number  
of ordinary  

shares 
% Share 
Capital

FMR LLC1 322,079,326 36.03
Info Tech Fund I LLC2  104,357,703 11.67
FIL Limited3  147,574,904 16.51
Ruffer LLP4  44,443,550 4.97

1  FMR’s interest is held (i) directly by FMR, 307,991,614 ordinary shares and (ii) 
through the holding of a wholly owned investment advisory subsidiary, Strategic 
Advisers, Inc., that as manager of a charitable foundation has voting power over 
14,087,712 ordinary shares for the Fidelity Non-Profit Management Foundation.

2  Info Tech Fund I LLC is a Delaware limited liability company, the manager of which 
(Star Horizon Management LLC) is owned by, and the members of which are, 
certain shareholders and employees of FMR. By virtue of this relationship both 
FMR and Star Horizon Management LLC are interested in these shares.

3  FIL Limited’s interest in ordinary shares is held (i) through a nominee account in 
respect of its own holding of 147,184,268 ordinary shares and FIL Foundation’s 
holding of 236,493 ordinary shares over which FIL retains the voting rights 
through a voting trust and (ii) through a holding of 154,143 ordinary shares over 
which FIL exercises voting control but which are beneficially owned by the 
MoneyBuilder UK Index Fund, a sub-fund of Fidelity Investments Fund OEIC.

4  Ruffer LLP is an English LLP whose registered office is at 80 Victoria Street, 
London SW1E 5JL, UK.

Fidelity Relationship Agreement 
In 2006 the Company entered into a Relationship Agreement 
with FMR LLC, Info Tech Fund I LLC and FIL Limited 
(“Fidelity”). Under the Agreement, these entities have 
agreed to vote at the AGM to ensure that more than half of 
the Directors of the Company will be non-Fidelity related 
Directors, that Fidelity will not compete with the Group on 
network services without the consent of the non-Fidelity 
related Directors and that any agreements between Fidelity 
and the Group will be on an arm’s length basis and subject to 
the approval of the non-Fidelity related Directors. Additionally, 
the Relationship Agreement provides that Fidelity will not 
acquire ordinary shares of the Company if that would result in 
the Company ceasing to comply with the UKLA’s requirement 
for an adequate free float to be maintained. The Agreement 
continues in force while Fidelity or its affiliates hold at least 
30% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company.

The current Fidelity related Directors under the Agreement 
are Rakesh Bhasin, Mark Ferrari, Simon Haslam, Tim Hilton 
and Michael Wilens. Details of transactions with Fidelity 
and its affiliates in 2013 are given in note 27 of the Financial 
Statements on page 132.

Directors 
The Directors of the Company and those who served during 
the year are listed with their biographical details on pages 54 
and 55.

Katherine Innes Ker and Lorraine Trainer were appointed on  
1 September 2013 and 1 December 2013 respectively to fill two 
vacancies as Non-Executive Directors. They will be formally 
proposed for appointment to the Board at the AGM to be held 
on 24 April 2014. Additionally, Olivier Baujard will be proposed 
for appointment to the Board at the 2014 AGM. 

Board diversity is explained in detail on page 66.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 
all the Directors will retire at the AGM. It is anticipated that 
Messrs Barth, Damiani and Gabbard will not stand for  
re-election at the AGM. All of the other retiring Directors, 
being eligible, will stand for re-election, or election as the case 
may be, as Directors. 
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Directors’ interests 
The interests of the Directors in the Company’s ordinary shares 
at 1 January 2013 or if later, their date of appointment1, and at 
31 December 2013 or if earlier, their date of resignation, were:

Number of ordinary shares
Director  1 Jan 13 31 Dec 13

Andreas Barth 28,593 78,593
Rakesh Bhasin 1,058,734   1,187,601
Vincenzo Damiani 76,929 76,929
Mark Ferrari 101,566 101,566
Gene Gabbard 15,580 15,580
Sergio Giacoletto – –
Simon Haslam – –
Tim Hilton 69,708 69,708
Katherine Innes Ker1 – –
Anthony Rabin – 10,000
Lorraine Trainer1 – –
Michael Wilens – –

1 Katherine Innes Ker and Lorraine Trainer were appointed to the Board on  
1 September and 1 December 2013 respectively.

There was no change in these interests between 31 December 
2013 and 26 February 2014.

Shareholding Guidelines for  
Executive Directors 
Colt implemented new Shareholding Guidelines for Executive 
Directors with effect from 1 January 2013. Under the new 
guidelines, the CEO is required to build a shareholding 
equivalent to at least four times one year’s basic salary, to align 
his interests with those of the shareholders; such shareholding 
is to be built up by retaining at least half of the shares vesting 
through long-term incentive plans, net of tax and expenses. 
The guidelines apply to all Executive Directors; however, 
the multiple applicable to the CFO is three times one year’s 
basic salary. The previous guidelines required a shareholding 
equivalent to one year’s basic salary.

Rakesh 
Bhasin

Mark
Ferrari

0 500,000 1,000,000 1,500,000

Total Shareholding Guidelines
Actual shareholding as at 31 December 2013

1,187,601 (75.5% of the total recommended shareholding)

101,566 (14.8% of the total recommended shareholding)

Details of the Directors’ interests in options or share awards 
over the Company’s ordinary shares are on page 
91. Details of the Directors’ service agreements are on page 85.

Indemnities and insurance 
The Company has entered into indemnities with each of the 
Directors. Notwithstanding the fact that the Company is not 
a UK incorporated company, the indemnities are in the form 
of Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions consistent with 
s.234 of the UK Companies Act 2006. The indemnities were in 
force during the financial year and at the date of approval of 
these financial statements and are available for inspection at 
the registered office of the Company.

It is the responsibility of the Company Secretary to ensure 
appropriate insurance cover is maintained in respect of legal 
action against the Directors. The level of cover is currently 
€35m. Neither the indemnities nor the insurance provide cover 
where the Director has acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

In addition, all the Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary and can take independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense in the 
furtherance of their duties.

Independent Auditor 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Société coopérative is the 
independent auditor of the Company. Their reappointment 
as the Company’s auditor, together with authority for the 
Directors to fix the auditor’s remuneration, will be proposed at 
the AGM.

Article 11 report
The following disclosures are made in compliance with Article 
11 of the Luxembourg Law on Takeovers of 19 May 2006.

a) Share capital structure
Colt Group S.A. has issued one class of shares which is 
admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange. No other 
securities have been issued by Colt Group S.A. The issued 
share capital of Colt Group S.A. as of 31 December 2013 
amounts to €447,012,874.50 represented by 894,025,749 
shares. Colt Group S.A. has a total authorised share capital 
of €1,250,000,000. All shares issued by Colt Group S.A. have 
equal rights as set forth in the Articles of Association (the 
Articles).

b) Transfer restrictions
As at the date of this report, all the Colt Group S.A. shares are 
freely transferable but shall be subject to the restrictions on 
shareholdings set forth in Article 8 of the Articles.

Report of the board of directors continued
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c) Major shareholdings
The details of shareholders holding more than 3% of the issued 
share capital of Colt Group S.A. as notified to Colt Group S.A. 
are on page 57.

d) Special control rights
All the issued and outstanding shares of Colt Group S.A. have 
equal voting rights and there are no special control rights 
attaching to shares of Colt Group S.A.

e) Control system in employee share scheme
Colt Group S.A. is not aware of any issues regarding section 
e) of Article 11 of the Luxembourg Law on Takeovers of 19 May 
2006.

f) Voting rights
Each share issued and outstanding in Colt Group S.A. 
represents one vote. The Articles do not provide for any 
voting restrictions. In accordance with the Articles, a record 
date for the admission to a general meeting may be set 
and certificates for the shareholdings and proxies shall be 
received by the Company a certain time before the date of the 
relevant meeting. In accordance with the Articles, the Board of 
Directors may determine such other conditions that must be 
fulfilled by shareholders for them to take part in any meeting 
of shareholders in person or by proxy. Additional provisions 
may apply under Luxembourg law. Luxembourg legislation 
requires shareholders to register their intention to vote at 
least 14 days before the date of the meeting. In accordance 
with Article 28 of the law on transparency obligations of 
securities issuers dated 11 January 2008 (the “Transparency 
Law”), as long as the notice of crossing of major holding in 
the Company required in accordance with the Transparency 
Law has not been notified to the Company in the manner 
prescribed, the exercise of voting rights relating to the shares 
exceeding the fraction that should have been notified is 
suspended. The suspension of the exercise of voting rights 
is lifted the moment the shareholder makes the notification 
provided for in the Transparency Law.

g) Shareholders’ agreements with transfer restrictions
Colt Group S.A. has no information about any agreements 
between shareholders which may result in restrictions on the 
transfer of securities or voting rights.

h) Appointment of Board members, amendment of Articles of 
Association
The appointment and replacement of Board members and the 
amendment of the Articles are governed by Luxembourg Law 
and the Articles (in particular Chapters 3 and 4). The Articles 
are published under the Investors section on www.colt.net.

i) Powers of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers to 
manage the business of the Company and to authorise and 
perform all acts of disposal and administration falling within 
the purposes of the Company.

In common with the Articles of Association of other 
Luxembourg public limited companies, the Company’s Articles 
of Association provide full power to the Board to issue shares 
on a non pre-emptive basis. However, the Board has confirmed 
that, as a matter of policy, it intends to comply with the pre-
emption guidelines supported by the Association of British 
Insurers and the National Association of Pension Funds to the 
extent practical for a Luxembourg company. Furthermore, 
under the current authorisation given by the shareholders, 
the Board may purchase, acquire or receive Colt Group S.A.’s 
own shares in the Company representing up to 10% of the 
issued share capital from time to time on behalf of Colt Group 
S.A., subject to prior authorisation by the general meeting 
of shareholders and on such terms as the Board may decide 
in accordance with the law. The Board intends to seek a new 
authorisation at the AGM to be held in 2014.

j) Significant agreements or essential business contracts
The Board of Directors is not aware of any significant 
agreements to which Colt Group S.A. is a party and which 
take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the 
Company following a takeover bid. The Board of Directors has 
considered essential business contracts and concluded that 
there are none.

k) Agreements with Directors and employees
No agreements exist between Colt Group S.A. and its Board 
members or employees that provide for compensation if 
the Board members or the employees resign or are made 
redundant without valid reason, or if their employment ceases 
because of a takeover bid other than as disclosed in the 
Remuneration Report on page 85.
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Corporate governance statement

The UK Corporate Governance Code (“the Code”) is published 
by the UK Financial Reporting Council and is available on 
their website www.frc.org.uk. As a company with a premium 
listing of shares on the London Stock Exchange, we are 
required to explain how we apply the main principles and how 
far we complied with the provisions set out in the Code. The 
Company complied with the provisions of Section A and C of 
the Code in all respects except for A.3.1 with regard to Simon 
Haslam’s appointment as Chairman of the Board on  
1 January 2014, as he did not meet the independence criteria 
for appointment. The Board has decided that it is appropriate 
to continue to have a Chairman who is employed by one 
of the Company’s major shareholders and Simon Haslam, 
although not independent under the provisions of the Code, is 
independent of management and accordingly will exercise his 
judgement in the interests of all shareholders. 

Three of our Independent Non-Executive Directors have 
served on the Board for more than nine years, Andreas Barth, 
Vincenzo Damiani and Gene Gabbard. All Directors serving 
for more than six years are subject to a rigorous annual review 
and the Board is satisfied that they remain independent and 
make an outstanding contribution to the Board. All Directors 
are subject to annual re-election. Colt’s Board Composition 
Guidelines include a principle that Independent Non-Executive 
Directors should not serve for more than nine years. In line 
with the Guidelines, it is not anticipated that Messrs Barth, 
Damiani or Gabbard will stand for re-election at the 2014 
AGM owing to their length of service on the Board. As part 
of the ongoing and progressive refresh of the Board, Colt 
appointed two new Independent Non-Executive Directors 
in 2013, Katherine Innes Ker and Lorraine Trainer. In 2014 
Colt has progressed additional recruitment plans, leading to 
the recommendation to appoint Olivier Baujard (see pages 
65 and 66) at the AGM in 2014. MWM, an independant firm 
specialising in NED recruitment, was retained to conduct all 
the NED searches above. 

Pursuant to Colt’s ongoing programme of planned Non-
Executive Director rotation and refresh, Simon Haslam was 
appointed as Chairman of the Board on 1 January 2014. Tim 
Hilton remains a Non-Executive Director on the Colt Board.

It has been Colt’s practice to have a period of overlap between 
incoming new Non-Executive Directors and retiring Non-
Executive Directors to preserve continuity and stability. We 
have found that this mindful, phased approach has worked 
well to optimise the effectiveness of the Board. The overriding 
priority is to maintain a world class Board to serve our 
shareholders. We believe this approach is aligned with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code principles and contributes to the 
objective of good governance.

// Colt is committed to effective 
NED succession planning. During 
2013 the Board appointed two new 
Independent Non-Executive Directors 
and approved a change of Chairman 
as part of its planned refresh cycle. 
We are dedicated to maintaining an 
adequate Board balance and gender 
diversity to meet the highest standards 
of excellence in Board effectiveness 
and corporate governance. Colt will 
continue to work to maintain and 
improve Board effectiveness and 
governance at Colt. //

Simon Haslam
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Board composition as at 
31 December 2013

Division of responsibility
There is a clear division of responsibility between the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, with neither having 
unfettered powers of decision with respect to substantial 
matters. The Chairman1 is responsible for leading the Board 
and setting its agenda, including major decisions on strategic 
direction and financial transactions and for ensuring that the 
Board functions effectively. Simon Haslam and Tim Hilton’s 
commitments other than to the Group are set out on page 
55. They were disclosed to the Board prior to each of their 
appointments and have not changed during the year. The 
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for executing strategy 
and executive management, operation and development of 
the Group’s business.

1 Simon Haslam succeeded Tim Hilton as Chairman on 1 January 2014.
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The Colt Board
To support Colt’s strategy the Board have determined that 

a blend of the following skillsets and sector experience 
is required: 

Telecommunications/Network Technology, IT, Sales/Marketing, 
General Commercial, Executive Management, Operations, 
M&A/Restructuring Expertise, Government/Regulatory, 

Global Experience, Financial Expertise, HR Expertise 
and Independence.

Tim 
Hilton

Gene 
Gabbard

Anthony  
Rabin

Vincenzo 
Damiani

Simon  
Haslam

Sergio 
Giacoletto

Rakesh  
Bhasin

Katherine 
Innes Ker

Andreas 
Barth

Mark 
Ferrari

Lorraine
Trainer

Board

Audit
Anthony Rabin (Ch)

Andreas Barth
Gene Gabbard

Sergio Giacoletto
Katherine Innes Ker

Nomination
Tim Hilton (Ch)
Andreas Barth

Vincenzo Damiani
Anthony Rabin

Remuneration
Vincenzo Damiani (Ch)

Andreas Barth
Gene Gabbard

Sergio Giacoletto
Katherine Innes Ker

Lorraine Trainer
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Board and Committee membership as of 31 Dec 2013

Name Status Audit Remuneration Nomination

Andreas Barth Independent Non-Executive Director

Member Member Member

Rakesh Bhasin CEO, Executive Director

Vincenzo Damiani Independent Non-Executive Director

Chairman Member

Mark Ferrari CFO, Executive Director

Gene Gabbard Independent Non-Executive Director

Member Member

Sergio Giacoletto Senior Independent Director

Member Member

Simon Haslam Non-Executive Director

Tim Hilton Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Chairman

Katherine Innes Ker* Independent Non-Executive Director

Member Member

Anthony Rabin Independent Non-Executive Director

Chairman Member

Lorraine Trainer** Independent Non-Executive Director

Member

Michael Wilens Non-Executive Director

* As from 1 September 2013. 
** As from 1 December 2013.

Corporate governance statement continued
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Senior Independent Director
Sergio Giacoletto is the Senior Independent Director (SID). 

The role of the SID is to act as an alternative conduit to the 
Board for the communication of shareholder concerns, to act 
as chairman of meetings of the Independent Non-Executive 
Directors which are not attended by the Chairman and to lead 
the annual performance evaluation of the Chairman.

The SID reports the discussions of any meetings with 
shareholder representatives to the Board. At the end of every 
Board meeting Executive Directors, management and Fidelity 
related Directors withdraw and the SID chairs a meeting of the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors to provide a forum for 
any issues to be raised.

Attendance
In 2013 there were no absences from Board meetings. In the 
event that a Director is unable to attend all meetings of the 
Board or Board Committees of which they are members, the 
Director is invited to confirm that they remain committed to 
the role and has the requisite time available to perform the 
role.

In 2013 the Board held five scheduled meetings and interim 
telephone meetings as required.

Operation of the Board
The attendance of each of the Directors at the scheduled 
Board meetings held in 2013 while a Director was:

Director 
Meetings 

held
Meetings 
attended

Percentage 
attended

Andreas Barth 5 5 100%
Rakesh Bhasin 5 5 100%
Vincenzo Damiani 5 5 100%
Mark Ferrari 5 5 100%
Gene Gabbard 5 5 100%
Sergio Giacoletto 5 5 100%
Simon Haslam 5 5 100%
Tim Hilton 5 5 100%
Katherine Innes Ker* 2 2 100%
Anthony Rabin 5 5 100%
Lorraine Trainer† 1 1 100%
Michael Wilens 5 5 100%
Average % attendance 100%

* Katherine Innes Ker was appointed to the Board on 1 September 2013. 
† Lorraine Trainer was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2013.

The Board is scheduled to meet five times in 2014. Additional 
meetings will be held as required.

The Board is primarily responsible for decisions on Group 
strategy, including the approval of strategic plans, annual 
budgets, interim and full year financial statements and 
reports, accounting policies and all material capital projects, 
investments and disposals. There is a schedule of matters 
reserved for approval by the Board.

Each Director is provided with monthly reports which include 
financial information and updates on the business. When 
there is a Board meeting, this information is circulated to 
the Directors in advance of the meeting, together with 
details of all other business items to be considered at the 
meeting. Directors receive regular articles on industry news 
and analysts’ and press reports on Colt. The Directors are 
encouraged to supplement this information through direct 
contact with the Group’s senior management and the 
Company Secretary facilitates regular informal meetings 
throughout the year. Direct access to senior management 
is encouraged. Other members of the senior management 
team regularly attend Board and Committee meetings. The 
Non-Executive Directors have the opportunity to discuss Colt 
strategy and Board business individually with the Chairman 
and the CEO regularly throughout the year.

Calendar of Activities for the Board
Board meetings are held in Luxembourg or elsewhere by 
exception. The articles prohibit any decisions being made in 
the UK. The annual programme, which is set three years in 
advance, involves four meetings timed to review the quarterly 
results and another timed to approve the budget for the 
following financial year. Meetings are held over a two or three-
day period, to include site visits, formal and informal meetings 
with local management and Committee meetings. Occasional 
single purpose interim meetings are held by conference 
telephone to deal with out of cycle requests.

How the Board spent its time in 2013
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Board Meeting 2013 Activities
The Board approved the 2012 financial statements and the 
2012 Annual Report together with the 2013 Annual General 
Meeting notice and received the results of those shareholder 
meetings.

During 2013, the Board focused on executing and developing 
Colt’s growth strategy plan to consider further potential 
growth opportunities and received a presentation from 
Colt’s brokers. The Board reviewed periodic reports on the 
business and monitored the progress of the business during 
the year. The Board considered how to improve performance 
against the business plan. In reviewing execution, the Board 
considered how to simplify and focus the business and also 
developed thinking around disclosure along lines of business, 
to promote a better understanding of Colt. The Board also 
devoted time to succession planning, both at Board and 
management level. Candidates for new Board appointments 
were reviewed and the Board approved the appointments of 
Katherine Innes Ker and Lorraine Trainer. An internal Board 
evaluation was also performed. Other activities included 
approving the acquisition of a node site in central London 
and reviewing Colt’s node and real estate strategy, receiving 
training on IT systems and innovations, and reviewing the 
implementation of a new ERP system. The Board visited Colt’s 
operation in Amsterdam and received presentations on the 
Benelux business and the new data centre in the Netherlands.

The Board also approved each of the 2013 Q1 and Q3 Interim 
Management Statements and the H1 financial results and 
associated announcements. The 2014 budget was approved.

At each meeting the Board received reports from each 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee 
and Nomination Committee on the business conducted by 
those Committees.

Induction, information and  
ongoing development
Induction is tailored to each individual Director’s requirements 
depending on their background and role. On appointment, 
Directors are offered a comprehensive induction process in 
accordance with ICSA best practice and Section B of the UK 
Code of Corporate Governance. This is designed to develop 
their knowledge and understanding of the Group’s business 
through visits to various key sites including data centres and 
offices, presentations on relevant technology, products and 
services, one-to-one meetings with Executive Directors and 
senior management and a familiarisation with investor and 
analysts’ perceptions of the Group. As appropriate, meetings 
are arranged with representatives of significant shareholders 
and key advisors including lawyers, brokers and auditors. 
Slaughter and May provided a tailored seminar on UKLA rules 

for Katherine Innes Ker and Lorraine Trainer as part of their 
inductions. 

A Director’s Manual is available for new Directors. The manual 
contains information on the Company, the Directors’ duties 
and liabilities under Luxembourg law and key policies and 
documents. New Directors are offered tutorials on Colt’s 
corporate governance framework, organisation, corporate 
structure, operations, insurance, Code of Business Conduct, 
share dealing and other corporate policies and procedures, 
together with recent Board materials and presentations as 
appropriate.

The Directors’ knowledge and understanding of the Group’s 
business is refreshed throughout the year, with briefings 
as necessary on corporate governance and regulatory 
compliance. The training needs of the Directors are 
periodically reviewed. Presentations by key members of the 
relevant teams are supplemented by reading materials. Ad 
hoc informal training on issues relevant to Colt, such as new 
technologies and network development, is regularly provided 
by management upon request during the year. Additionally, as 
part of ongoing training and development, Directors receive 
periodic summaries of Colt specific and industry news.

Evaluation
The 2013 Board evaluation was performed internally. It is 
intended that Colt will use external consultants to conduct 
the evaluation every three years, in compliance with the Code. 
An independent third party consultant has been retained to 
conduct the 2014 review.

The last external evaluation was in 2011, when Colt retained the 
services of Dr Tracy Long of Boardroom Review to undertake 
an independent evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board. 
Boardroom Review was an independent third party supplier 
and provided no other services to Colt. 

The review process took the form of confidential interviews 
between the Chairman and each Director. The interviews 
focused on areas for development recommended from the 
previous year’s evaluation and centred on Board composition 
and gender diversity, competitive data, strategy, business 
reporting and management development and succession 
planning. Findings from the evaluation were considered by the 
Board and a follow-up action plan was agreed. The evaluation 
of the Chairman was conducted by the Senior Independent 
Director, then presented to the Chairman.

In summary, the conclusion was that each Director continued 
to devote appropriate time to the role and that the Board, 
the Committees and each of the Chairmen are performing 
effectively, with the right skill sets and a culture which enables 
openness and high quality debate.

Corporate governance statement continued
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Nomination Committee 
Nomination Committee 2013 Activities
Tim Hilton is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and 
the other members are Andreas Barth, Vincenzo Damiani and 
Anthony Rabin. The Nomination Committee met four times in 
2013. The attendance of each of the Directors at the meetings 
held in 2013 while a Nomination Committee member was:

Director 
Meetings 

held
Meetings 
attended

Percentage 
attended

Andreas Barth 4 4 100%
Vincenzo Damiani 4 4 100%
Tim Hilton 4 4 100%
Anthony Rabin 4 4 100%
Average % attendance 100%

The duties of the Nomination Committee are to recommend 
to the Board a succession planning strategy, to select and 
recommend a preferred candidate for appointment to the 
Board or to a specific role on the Board or Board Committee 
and to review the time commitment of Non-Executive 
Directors and recommend to the Board their continuation in 
office.

The Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee are 
set out on Colt’s website at www.colt.net. During 2013, the 
Committee approved the selection process for three new 
Independent Non-Executive Directors, reviewed shortlisted 
candidates and recommended three candidates for appoint-
ment by the Board. Other activities of the Committee during 
2013 included considering and recommending the appoint-
ment of the Chairman and reviewing the time commitments of 
Directors.

The Nomination Committee maintains a matrix of skills and 
competencies for the Board and periodically reviews this 
against Colt’s strategic objectives.

Appointment process
As part of the Board’s ongoing refresh programme and to 
maintain a balanced team of Independent Non-Executive 
Directors, the Nomination Committee prepared role profiles 
for new Independent Non-Executive Directors. The searches 
were conducted by MWM, an independent firm specialising in 
Non-Executive recruitment. MWM has no other relationship 
with Colt. A shortlist of candidates was prepared and the 
candidates were interviewed by the Nomination Committee. 
The recommended candidates then met each member of the 
Board and the Board unanimously approved the appointments 
of Katherine Innes Ker and Lorraine Trainer. It is anticipated 
that Olivier Baujard will be proposed for election at the 2014 
Annual General Meeting. 

// I am pleased to report substantial 
progress in our succession planning 
process and compliance with the 
Board Composition Guidelines. We 
have added experienced non-Executive 
Directors to the Board during 2013 
and appointed a new Chairman of 
the Board as part of our ongoing 
programme of rotation and refresh. 
This is a continuous process and we 
will continue to prioritise the refresh 
cycle to maintain a world class, 
effective Board. //

Tim Hilton
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Diversity is an important priority for Colt. The two new 
independent Non-Executive Directors are female, however it 
should be noted that they were selected on the basis that they 
were the best candidates for the roles. Olivier Baujard will be 
proposed for appointment to the Board at the 2014 AGM and 
his qualifications and experience matching the key elements of 
the role are also set out below. 

With respect to the Chairman appointment process, Mr 
Hilton recommended Mr Haslam as the new Chairman then 
the Independent Non-Executive Directors, led by the Senior 
Independent Director, considered the proposal and the Senior 
Independent Director interviewed Mr Haslam. Having been 
satisfied that Mr Haslam had sufficient time to devote to the 
role, the Board unanimously approved the appointment, with 
the Fidelity-related Directors abstaining from the vote. 

Summary of the role 
profile Katherine Innes Ker Lorraine Trainer Summary of the role 

profile Olivier Baujard 

Deep understanding 
and experience of 
Remuneration issues, 
gained either as a 
Chairman/Member or 
as HR Director of a 
substantial international 
group.

Chairs the 
Remuneration 
Committee of Go-
Ahead Group plc and 
Tribal Group plc. Sits 
on the Remuneration 
Committee of S&U plc.

Chairman of the 
Remuneration 
Committee at Jupiter 
Fund Management 
plc. Former Chairman 
of Aegis Group 
plc’s Remuneration 
Committee. Lorraine 
has some 20 years’ 
senior experience in 
Human Resources at 
companies including 
the London Stock 
Exchange and Coutts 
NatWest Group.

Background in a 
technology leadership 
role in an international 
group, in a technology 
intensive and/or 
business services 
company. 

Senior technology 
leader. Former Chief 
Technology Officer of 
Deutsche Telekom AG 
and Chief Executive of 
Segula Technologies, a 
technology consulting 
group. 

Contributing to issues 
of governance, strategy 
and operations at senior 
levels.

Substantial experience. 
For over 15 years, 
Katherine has served 
on a number of 
Boards. Prior to her 
NED portfolio career, 
Katherine was a senior 
city analyst.

Substantial experience 
gained through her 
various NED portfolio 
career. She is also 
experienced in Board 
level succession 
planning, organisation 
development and 
people strategy. 

Knowledge of the 
sale and provision of 
complex technology-
intensive services.

Strong technical and 
commercial experience. 
Has held a combination 
of technical, 
strategy and general 
management roles 
across leading telecoms 
and IT services groups 
in Europe. 

International experience, 
especially  
pan-European. 

Wide experience of 
corporates in Europe 
and North America.

Global experience and 
especially in Europe.

Broad international 
experience, including 
experience of operating 
in Europe. 

Has led businesses with 
operations across 70 
countries, including in 
Europe.

Personality to challenge 
constructively with an 
independent mindset 
and collaborative style.

Comply Comply Comply

Independence within 
Code definition.

Comply Comply Comply

Corporate governance statement continued
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Board composition guidelines
These non-binding guidelines address tenure, balance, 
continuous refreshment, succession planning and culture.

Tenure:
There is a presumption of a maximum six-year term for 
independent NEDs unless exceptionally waived by the Board 
for an additional period of up to three more years to maintain 
continuity.

Size and balance:
Assume a Board of 11–12 members with a majority of 
independent NEDs (excluding the Chairman) to comply with 
the Code and a majority of non-Fidelity related Directors. 
Executive members will be the CEO and CFO.

Succession planning:
A timetable has been set for continuous refresh and 
replacement and supplemental skill sets identified.

Culture:
Colt will seek to maintain a balance of personalities and a 
range of attributes. The Nomination Committee will consider 
all aspects of diversity as part of its deliberations, including 
age, gender, ethnicity, nationality and business experience 
both within and outside Colt industries.

Diversity policy:
The Guidelines acknowledge the importance of diversity, 
including gender diversity, as a desirable component of Board 
culture. At the present time it is not appropriate to set specific 
targets for female representation as Board appointments are 
based on a spectrum of factors, including experience, skills 
and diversity. 
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Audit Committee
Membership and attendance
Anthony Rabin is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The 
other members of the Audit Committee are Andreas Barth, 
Gene Gabbard, Sergio Giacoletto and Katherine Innes Ker. 
Dr Innes Ker joined the Audit Committee as a member on 
1 September 2013.

Anthony Rabin and Gene Gabbard are the Audit Committee 
members identified as having recent and relevant financial 
experience. Mr Rabin is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of England and Wales and formerly was the 
CFO of Balfour Beatty and Mr Gabbard was the CFO of MCI 
Communications. 

The Chief Financial Officer, the Vice President, Group 
Internal Audit & Risk Management and representatives from 
the external auditor usually attend meetings of the Audit 
Committee.

The Committee met five times in 2013. The attendance of each 
of the Directors at the meetings held in 2013 while an Audit 
Committee member was:

Director 
Meetings 

held
Meetings 
attended

Percentage 
attended

Andreas Barth 5 5 100%
Gene Gabbard 5 5 100%
Sergio Giacoletto 5 5 100%
Katherine Innes Ker* 2 1 50%
Anthony Rabin 5 5 100%
Average % attendance 90%

*  Katherine Innes Ker became a member of the Audit Committee on  
1 September 2013.

In 2013 there was no absence from Audit Committee meetings, 
save as shown above.

Operation of the Committee
To promote transparency, in accordance with best practice, 
it is the usual practice of the Committee for the Executive 
team to withdraw at the end of each meeting, to give an 
opportunity for the Vice President, Group Internal Audit 
& Risk Management to meet with the Committee and the 
external auditor (PwC), to raise any concerns. Following 
this meeting, the Committee meets alone with the external 
auditor for a private session. At the end of the meeting, the 
Committee meets alone. After each meeting the Chairman 
of the Committee provides a summary report of the 
deliberations to the Board, identifying any matters on which it 
considers that action or improvement is needed and making 
recommendations on steps to be taken. Additionally, all Board 

// During 2013, the Audit Committee 
strengthened the review and 
monitoring of risk to ensure Colt 
had adequate processes in place 
to anticipate and respond to risk 
effectively. In particular, special 
emphasis was placed on risks faced by 
our different Business Units and there 
was increased focus on Health and 
Safety. We also continued to monitor 
the adherence to Colt’s Code of 
Business Conduct. //

Anthony Rabin
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members receive a copy of the Audit Committee papers and 
are invited to raise any questions with the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.

The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee are set out on 
the www.colt.net website.

Audit Committee 2013 Activities
During 2013, the Committee recommended to the Board 
for approval the 2012 full year results, Q1 and Q3 Interim 
Management Statements and H1 financial results and 
associated announcements. The Committee advised the Board 
that the Annual Report including the financial statements 
taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable. In 
carrying out its financial reporting duties, the Audit Committee 
considered the work and recommendations of management. 
The Audit Committee also received reports from the external 
auditors setting out their view on the accounting treatments 
and judgements included in the financial statements. The 
Audit Committee considered significant issues in relation to 
the financial statements – see page 70 for details.

Other activities of the Committee included reviewing 
the Group Risk Map, Health and Safety and the Group 
Internal Audit Charter. The Committee also focused on the 
reporting and monitoring of specified projects, such as the 
implementation of the new ERP system. The Committee 
regularly received views from Business Unit heads on risk 
in their business. Other matters considered during the 
year included a Litigation and Legal Risk Review, a Bribery 
risk assessment and the Audit Committee evaluation. The 
Committee also reviewed the independence, fees and re-
appointment of the external auditor and met and approved 
the new UK audit partner.

At all but one meeting the Committee:

• reviewed periodic reports from both the internal and 
external auditors, including detailed reviews of follow-up on 
selected internal audits; 

• reviewed the annual internal audit plan; 

• received any reports relating to whistle-blowing or fraud; 
and 

• approved Fidelity-related services and external auditor  
non-audit related services. 

Duties
The duties of the Committee are to review statements 
in the Annual Report on Colt’s internal controls and risk 
management framework, to review the integrity of the 
financial statements, including significant financial reporting 
judgements and any formal announcements relating to the 
Company’s performance. The Committee advised the Board 

that the Annual Report was fair, balanced and understandable. 
Other duties include the following: to review the effectiveness 
of internal controls, to review the procedures for managing 
risks, to monitor and review the effectiveness of the internal 
audit function, to consider the appointment and remuneration 
of the external auditor, to review procedures for handling 
allegations from whistle-blowers and to monitor and review 
Health and Safety policies and processes.

The Committee approves the annual external audit 
plan and reviews findings with the external auditor. The 
Committee assesses annually the qualifications, expertise 
and resources, and independence of the external auditor 
and the effectiveness of the audit process. The Committee’s 
assessment is made with reference to a satisfaction survey 
of the external auditor, completed by members of senior 
management and the Committee. In particular, the Committee 
takes into consideration the robustness of the audit process, 
the quality of delivery and the quality of people and service.

Internal control and risk management
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of 
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness and for risk 
management. The Audit Committee conducts reviews of the 
risk management process and system of internal controls. To 
achieve this, the Audit Committee receives regular updates 
on key risks and control priorities, such as business controls, 
IT security, business continuity planning, tone at the top and 
anti-fraud and anti-bribery procedures. 

The Audit Committee also reviews the results of all internal 
and external audits performed over systems of internal 
controls and tracks management’s response to any identified 
control issues.

Internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage, rather 
than eliminate, risk of failure to achieve business objectives 
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. This system of internal 
control is in line with the 2012 UK Corporate Governance 
Code.

Colt’s systems of internal control ensure key risks are  
managed through:

• the management structure with delegated authority 
levels, segregation of duties, functional reporting lines and 
accountability;

• comprehensive budgeting, forecasting and financial 
reporting processes which compare actual performance to 
budget and forecast on a monthly basis; 
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Corporate governance statement continued

• authorisation processes for all capital expenditure, other 
purchases and expenses, and an investment assessment 
board;

• a number of controls including reconciliations, system-based 
controls and review controls over the consolidation of the 
Group’s results;

• monitoring of financial and operational performance, and 
compliance controls on a continuing basis to identify and 
respond to business risks as they arise;

• “whistle-blowing” procedures allowing employees to contact 
the Corporate Compliance Committee in confidence;

• assessments of strategic, commercial, operational, financial, 
regulatory, fraud, anti-bribery and business continuity risks;

• monitoring of risks by the senior management team, and the 
Audit Committee periodically; and

• formal reporting to the Board on specific areas of financial 
and operational risk.

Compliance with systems of internal control is subject to 
regular review by Group Internal Audit and Risk Management. 
On an annual basis, Group Internal Audit and Risk 
Management develops a risk-based Internal Audit Plan which 
links to the Group-wide risk assessments, is aligned to Colt’s 
strategic priorities and provides appropriate coverage across 
the Group. Group Internal Audit delivers a programme of 
independent end-to-end audit reviews. The objectives of these 
audits are to independently evaluate and provide assurance on 
governance across the Group, to review process effectiveness 
and to assess the design and effective operation of key 
manual and automated controls. Where control improvements 
are needed, action plans are agreed and monitored through 
to completion. Group Internal Audit and Risk Management 
embraces and complies with the standards of the International 
Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA).

Risk management 
Colt has embedded risk management and reporting  
processes which enable the business to identify risks, assess 
them and mitigate them. The process is managed at an 
executive level by the senior management team and reported 
to the Board regularly. 

The risk management process formalises management’s 
activities around the identification, prioritisation and ongoing 
assessment of risks. Changes in both the external and internal 
environments are reviewed on a periodic basis to ensure their 
impact on Colt’s risk profile and exposure is understood and 
mitigated if necessary.

Each year a series of risk management workshops, facilitated 
by the Group Internal Audit and Risk Management team, are 
held. At the business and service unit level, bottom-up risk 

assessments are performed and risk mitigation strategies 
are discussed. The risk management process directly links to 
strategic objectives and enabling actions. Outputs are then 
taken to the Executive Committee for their evaluation and top- 
down assessment of risks across the Group. The Committee 
reviews the Group-level risks to ensure that risks which may 
prevent the achievement of strategic objectives and priorities 
are identified, understood and mitigated, and the overall 
risk management process remains aligned to Colt’s business 
objectives and the operating environment.

As a result, top Group risk priorities are defined and actions, 
ownership and implementation dates are agreed accordingly. 
The progress of mitigation activities is tracked by dedicated 
‘risk champions’ in the business. Update reports on top risks 
and progress of mitigation are provided on a regular basis to 
the Audit Committee, which has the responsibility to review 
the process for risk management on behalf of the Board.

Financial reporting
The primary role of the Committee in relation to financial 
reporting is to review, with both management and the 
external auditor, the appropriateness of half year and annual 
financial statements as well as the reporting for the first 
and third quarters. Areas of focus for the Committee in this 
process include quality and appropriateness of accounting 
policies; compliance with financial reporting standards and 
relevant financial and governance reporting requirements; 
material areas in which significant judgements have been 
applied; whether the annual report and accounts, taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the C 
ompany’s performance, business model and strategy; and any 
correspondence from the regulators in relation to our financial 
reporting.   

The Committee considers reports from the Group Chief 
Financial Officer and from the external auditor in performing 
their review of the above items. During 2013 the Committee 
considered the following significant judgemental items in 
relation to the financial statements:

Non-current asset impairment testing
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events 
indicate the carrying value may be impaired (in addition 
goodwill is tested for impairment at each reporting date). 
Where impairment indicators are present, a discounted cash 
flow calculation is used to assess the asset carrying values. 
The judgements in relation to impairment largely relate to 
the assumptions underlying this future cash flow model 
including those in relation to revenue growth, margins, capital 
expenditure and discount rates. Significant assumptions 
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have been disclosed in the footnotes to the audited financial 
statements (see pages 113 and 114). The Committee reviews 
quarterly reports from management detailing the basis for the 
assumptions used and related sensitivities. In addition, this is 
a key area of audit focus and accordingly the external auditor 
provides detailed reporting to the Committee as well on this 
area.

Revenue recognition
Some of the Group’s revenue contracts include judgements 
regarding the amount of revenue and related cost to recognise 
and the timing of this recognition.  Where these judgements 
are significant, the Committee reviews management reports 
that set out the relevant accounting rules and application to 
the related contracts. There were no significant contracts in 
2013 with unusual terms which would require disclosure.

Going concern
We assessed the Group’s available cash, forecast cash flow 
requirements and overall liquidity based on quarterly reports 
from management. We are satisfied that the going concern 
basis of preparation continues to be appropriate in the context 
of the Group’s funding position.

Additional areas underlying the financial statements where 
significant judgement may be applied include the following: 
trade receivables and provision for doubtful debts, useful 
lives and capitalisation policies related to property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets, recognition of deferred tax 
assets and provisions for legal and regulatory matters. The 
Audit Committee receives quarterly reports from management 
which reflect statement of financial position and income 
statement activity related to these areas on a quarterly basis, 
except for deferred tax assets which are reviewed half-
yearly, to review underlying assumptions and positions for 
each reporting period. There were no significant changes in 
assumptions or positions during 2013 for these areas.

Anti-bribery
During 2013 the Committee reviewed UK Bribery Act 
compliance. An annual risk assessment for Colt was performed 
in light of changes to the business. The Code of Business 
Conduct was also reviewed to ensure compliance with the 
Act. As an internal annual obligation, online training for the 
Code of Business Conduct (Code of Conduct) which contains 
provisions on anti-bribery compliance was completed by 
all employees other than those on long-term leave. The 
Committee monitors compliance with completion of the 
online training programme. Additionally, in-person training is 
provided for employees regarded as working within higher risk 
disciplines. 

Health and Safety 
During the year the Committee monitored and reviewed Colt’s 
policy and performance relating to Health and Safety at work 
and how compliance with such policies is ensured across the 
group. Executives from each Business Unit are responsible for 
delivering compliance and the Group Health and Safety team 
provide guidance and direct site support. The Committee 
monitored and reviewed Colt’s progress against its objective 
of alignment to OHSAS 18001:2007 requirements, which was 
achieved in September 2013. Health and Safety policies have 
been simplified and integrated with Environmental policies 
which, combined with improved reporting and management 
information, means robust alignment to the standard has been 
achieved, to facilitate continuous improvement.

Whistle-blowing
Whistle-blowing arrangements are set out in the Code of 
Conduct. The Code of Conduct is signed by each employee as 
part of their induction. Each employee also has to complete 
annually a compulsory online Code of Conduct training course 
which reminds employees of the whistle-blowing process. 
Colt uses a third-party provider to supply a free, confidential 
24-hour reporting facility to enable whistle-blowers to raise 
concerns by telephone. Also, whistle-blowers can email 
or write to the Corporate Compliance Committee which 
comprises the Company Secretary, Vice President, Tax and 
Treasury, Vice President, Compensation and Benefits and the 
Vice President, Group Internal Audit and Risk Management. 
Whistle-blower reports or allegations relating to fraud are 
reported to the Audit Committee.

External auditor 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Société coopérative (Luxembourg) 
has been the Company’s external auditor since 2006 when 
Colt listed on the London Stock Exchange. The Committee 
considers that the relationship with the auditor is working well 
and remains satisfied with its effectiveness. In Luxembourg, 
the external auditor is required to rotate the audit partner 
responsible for the Group audit every seven years and there 
has been full compliance with this practice. From 2012 
onwards it is the intention to rotate the audit partner every 
five years. Gilles Vanderweyen succeeded Marc Minet as 
Luxembourg audit partner on 31 December 2012. In addition, 
Paul Barkus succeeded James Southgate as UK audit 
partner on 22 July 2013. There are no contractual obligations 
restricting the Company’s choice of external auditor. 

A key factor that may impair auditors’ independence and 
objectivity is a lack of control over non-audit services provided 
by the external auditors. To guard against this, Colt maintains 
the Provision of Services by the External Auditor Policy, 
consistent with ethical standards published by the UK Auditing 
Practices Board. Under the terms of this policy the external O
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auditor will not be approved to perform a service where: 

• it participates in activities that are normally undertaken by 
management;

• it acts in an advocacy role for Colt; or

• it may be required to audit its own work.

To preserve the external auditor’s independence and 
objectivity, the Provision of Services by the External Auditor 
Policy requires that any service provided by the external 
auditor must be approved by the Committee or within a 
category pre-approved by the Committee, and within the 
maximum charge set by the Committee. When considering 
potential non-audit services by the external auditor, the 
Committee also has regard to the overall proportion of audit 
and non-audit fees to ensure that the auditor’s independence 
and objectivity is not impaired.

The Provision of Services by the External Auditor Policy 
includes a list of the types of prohibited services which 
include, but are not limited to, bookkeeping, internal audit 
outsourcing, certain tax assignments, HR services and legal 
services. The Policy is available on the website at  
www.colt.net. Colt also discloses a breakdown of non-audit 
fees charged by the external auditor in note 3 in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements.

The comply-or-explain provision relating to audit tendering in 
the UK Corporate Governance Code has effectively now been 
superseded by the UK Competition Commission’s final report 
and recent developments in Europe. Colt has been advised  
that new European legislation is likely to require mandatory 
rotation of audit firms every ten years, extendable in certain 
circumstances to 20 years. PwC has been Colt’s auditor 
since listing in 2006 (and was the auditor of our predecessor 
companies from 1992) and the transitional rules that the EU 
has proposed are expected to require an initial change of audit 
firms no later than 2020. Until this uncertainty is resolved, 
the Committee will continue to consider annually whether to 
conduct an audit tender for audit quality or independence 
reasons.

The Audit Committee has completed its assessment of 
the external auditor for the financial period under review. 
The Audit Committee is satisfied as to PwC’s qualification, 
expertise, resources, independence and the effectiveness of 
the audit process, in line with the Financial Reporting Council 
Guidance on Audit Committees issued in September 2012. 
Accordingly, it has recommended to the Board, for approval by 
shareholders, the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Société Coopérative as the Company’s external auditor and 
approved its fees and terms of engagement. 

Investor relations 
The Group has a policy of maintaining an active dialogue with 
institutional shareholders through individual meetings with 
senior management and participation in conference calls. The 
views of shareholders expressed during these meetings and 
calls are reported to the Board. Board members also receive 
regular updates in their Board papers about investor relations 
and reports from investment analysts.

The Company produces an electronic report for shareholders 
and other interested parties, which provides information on 
its performance during the year. Together with the annual and 
the half-yearly financial results announcements, and interim 
management statements, these form the principal means of 
communication with shareholders. The Group uses its website, 
www.colt.net, to communicate a wide range of information 
about the Group.

Investor meetings take place throughout the year. In 2013, the 
CEO, CFO, the EVPs of DCS and CES and the Vice President, 
Investor Relations met a number of different fund managers, 
industry and investment analysts. 

Colt also maintains dialogue with shareholder representative 
groups. During 2013, the Company Secretary engaged with 
ABI, RREV, the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, HSBC 
and PIRC. The discussions focused on NED independence, 
Board composition and appointment process, majority 
shareholder process, auditor rotation, remuneration and new 
long-term incentive plan awards.

Shareholder distribution
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100%
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100,001 –
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10,000
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Number of shareholders by size of holding
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Meetings were also held with the credit rating agencies, 
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s (see page 46). Such briefings, 
together with regular announcements of significant events 
affecting the Group, are part of the Investor Relations 
programme undertaken to keep the Company’s investors and 
potential investors informed of developments at Colt. The 
Board regards this programme as an important contribution 
to continually seek to improve investors’ awareness of the 
business and for the Board to maintain an understanding of 
investors’ priorities.

The Board recognises that one of the main opportunities 
for individual shareholders to question the Board is at the 
Annual General Meeting and for this reason it is the practice 
that each of the Directors attends the meeting whenever 
possible. The Chairman of the Board, the Chairmen of each of 
the Committees and all the other Directors and the Company 
Secretary attended the 2013 AGM. Voting records are set out 
in detail on our website. Any shareholder is free to contact 
the Group’s Vice President, Investor Relations or Senior 
Independent Director at any time.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The statement of Directors’ responsibilities is set out on 
page 74 and required disclosures on the Luxembourg Law 
of Takeovers are included within the Report of the Board of 
Directors on page 58.

Going Concern
The Directors, after making appropriate enquiries, believe that 
they have a reasonable basis for concluding that the Group 
has adequate facilities to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Business model 
The Board believes the Company has a business model that 
will create and deliver shareholder value. This is described in 
the Strategic Report on page 2.

Risk and risk management 
The principal risks and uncertainties included within the “risk 
and risk management” section of the Strategic Report on 
pages 42 to 46 are incorporated by cross reference within this 
Report of the Board of Directors.

Corporate Social Responsibility
The Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) review on pages 47 
to 53 sets out the charitable donations made by the Group, 
the employment policies of the Group and action taken to 
involve employees in the business of the Group. The CSR 
review also covers how Colt addresses environmental matters. 
That review forms part of this report by cross reference.

Dividends
The Directors are not recommending the payment of a 
dividend (2012: €nil).

Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary 
General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company (AGM) and 
the Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) are to be held 
at K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette, L-1246, 
Luxembourg on Thursday 24 April 2014, starting at 11.00 am 
(Luxembourg time). The notice convening the meetings and 
the declaration of participation requiring shareholders to 
register their intention to vote are in a separate document sent 
to shareholders. All proposals in the notice of the meeting to 
be considered at the AGM and EGM will be decided by a poll 
of shareholders.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its  
behalf by 

Caroline Griffin Pain 
Company Secretary  
26 February 2014 
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Directors’ responsibility report

The Directors confirm that, to the best of each person’s 
knowledge:

a) the consolidated financial statements, prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit of Colt Group S.A. and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole; 

b) the directors’ report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of Colt Group S.A. and the undertakings included 
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they 
face; and 

c) the annual report and consolidated financial statements, 
taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable 
and provide the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the performance, business model and strategy 
of Colt Group S.A. and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole. 

So far, as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware and 
they have each taken all reasonable steps that they ought to 
have taken as a Director to be aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Group’s auditor is aware 
of that information.

The financial statements are published on the Company 
website. The maintenance and integrity of the website is the 
responsibility of the Directors. Legislation in Luxembourg 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 
by

Caroline Griffin Pain 
Company Secretary  
26 February 2014

Colt Group S.A. Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 201374



Directors’ remuneration report

2013 – Performance and Pay
2013 was a mixed year for Colt. Material currency and 
regulatory headwinds affected our business, with full year 
performance reflecting the continued focus on, and on-going 
investment in, key strategic areas of our business. This is more 
fully described in the Chairman’s statement at the beginning 
of this Annual Report.

Our performance was reflected in the incentive pay outcomes 
for our Executive Directors in 2013. The CEO’s AIP out-turn in 
respect of the 2013 financial year was 51% of maximum (2012:  
80%). 

Format of Report
This year’s Remuneration Report is the first to be prepared 
under the new UK regime for the reporting of executive pay 
with which Colt is complying on a voluntary basis, given our 
status as a Luxembourg incorporated company. To structure 
the report in a format consistent with the new UK regime, we 
have made some changes to the order in which the report 
is being presented this year. Accordingly, over the following 
pages we have set out: 

• The Group’s forward-looking Directors’ Remuneration Policy 
which for the first time is subject to a separate vote by 
shareholders at our 2014 AGM;

• Details of the implementation of our reward policy in 2013 
including:

 ˚ the governance surrounding pay decisions in 2013, 
members of the Committee and advisers to the 
Committee in 2013; and

 ˚ details of what was paid, vested or awarded (conditional 
upon the application of performance tests) to Executive 
Directors in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2013.

Dear Shareholder

// I am pleased to welcome you to our 
2013 Remuneration Report in which 
we have summarised the Company’s 
remuneration policy and described 
how the policy was implemented in 
2013. //

Vincenzo Damiani
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Remuneration Policy for 2014
In 2013 the Remuneration Committee focused on keeping 
the right balance between performance and remuneration 
with particular attention to long-term performance. Fair and 
effective reward and retention arrangements are designed 
to support Colt’s strategic objectives by motivating and 
maintaining a high performing senior management team.

In 2013 we sought to implement our policy and, in particular, 
to further develop the emphasis on using pay to drive and 
reward long-term shareholder value creation in the following 
ways:

• We obtained the support of our shareholders to re-balance 
our incentive pay towards the longer-term through the 
introduction of a new enhanced award feature to our Share 
Grant Plan which will deliver value to participants only if 
demanding absolute total shareholder return (“TSR”) growth 
targets are achieved, and with the release of any vested 
shares from the enhanced award being phased over three to 
five years from the award date; 

• Share Ownership Guidelines for Executive Directors were 
extended to 400% of base salary for the Chief Executive 
Officer and 300% of base salary for the Chief Financial 
Officer.

For 2014, the Annual Bonus Plan for Executive Directors has 
been amended to give greater focus on financial performance.  
The relative weighting between financial and individual 
business goals has been changed from 60:40 to 70:30. Also 
the degree of stretch over and above the 2014 budget targets 
for 100% bonus achievement on financials has been increased. 
Within the financial targets the relative weighting between 
Revenue and EBITDA remains 60:40.

The Committee remains comfortable that its remuneration 
policy, with these changes, remains appropriate for the Group 
and its commercial situation and reflects UK best practice, and 
that the policy has the correct balance between retention and 
incentivisation for Executives which will be in shareholders’ 
interests in the longer-term. 

I hope that we can rely on the support of our shareholders for 
the remuneration report resolutions at the 2014 AGM. 

Yours sincerely

Vincenzo Damiani 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
The Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the Group’s 
policy on remuneration. The report also sets out, for each 
Director, remuneration earned in 2013, their interests in long-
term incentive plans and their contractual relationship with the 
Company.

We have presented the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
to reflect the recent changes in reporting best practice 
with reference to the UK’s new Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2013 (“the new UK Regulations”). The Company 
intends to follow the new UK regulations as a matter of good 
practice, although it is not strictly required to do so as a 
Luxembourg incorporated company. The report also describes 
how the Board has complied with the provisions set out in 
the UK Corporate Governance Code relating to remuneration 
matters. The parts of the Implementation Section of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report which are audited are 
indicated.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report, which has been 
approved and adopted by the Board of Directors, will be put 
to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) for 
approval. Also at our 2014 AGM we will be asking shareholders 
to vote to approve the Directors’ remuneration policy as set 
out within the remuneration report. 

As a non-UK incorporated company, both votes will be 
advisory and so not of a mandatory nature. 

Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The Directors’ remuneration policy as set out in this section of 
the report will take effect for all payments made to Directors 
from 24 April 2014. 
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Policy Table
Executive Directors

Element Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum Performance conditions

Context of Policy 
(this section does 
not technically 
form part of the 
policy and is for 
information only) 

The Group’s policy is to put in place remuneration arrangements that support and motivate the delivery 
of our corporate strategy and reward value creation. We place a significant emphasis on performance-
related elements of total remuneration for Executive Directors and senior management and we aim to 
align their interests with those of shareholders. We recognise the portability of global senior talent and 
the importance of retention of a motivated senior team.

The key objective of our policy is to align remuneration strategy with business strategy whilst properly 
taking account of external best practice and developments in the regulatory environment. This 
includes ensuring that remuneration policy and plans are driving appropriate behaviours and priorities 
to deliver strategic goals and improved shareholder value, management of risk and opportunity and 
ensuring linkage of awards to both short and long-term performance. We aim to create a culture of 
high performance, engagement and trust in which our people can realise their personal potential and 
effectively contribute to driving Colt forward in line with our values. High quality reward plans and 
processes that are well integrated into our overall approach to developing and managing our talent are 
critical in ensuring our success.

Base Salary Helps attract, retain and 
motivate employees as 
part of a competitive 
total pay package.

Base salaries for the 
Executive Directors 
are set when they 
are appointed to 
the role, and are 
reviewed annually 
with consideration 
taken of the 
Executive’s experience, 
responsibility, market 
value, market conditions 
and pay levels across the 
rest of the organisation. 
Any assessment will look 
at all relevant factors 
and is not tied to a 
fixed position relative 
to external benchmark 
data.

Executive Directors 
are paid in US dollars 
and their services 
are provided under 
secondment agreements 
with FMR LLC (see the 
Total Single Figure of 
Remuneration in the 
audited part of this 
report for additional 
information).

Base salaries will 
continue to be under 
review each year and 
the Committee will 
apply the factors set out 
in the previous column 
in considering any salary 
adjustments.

None.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum Performance conditions

Implementation  
of Policy in 2013 
and 2014 
(this section does 
not technically 
form part of the 
policy and is for 
information only) 

Current salaries are shown below. There has been no increase to the CEO’s base salary since January 
2008 and the CFO has not received a base salary increase since he was appointed in March 2011, 
demonstrating a responsible approach to setting base salaries. Compensation is denominated and paid 
in US dollars and thus any changes in reported base salaries since these dates only reflects changes in 
the €:$ exchange rate.

• Mr Bhasin – €583,5751

• Mr Ferrari – €338,8501

1 The reported base salaries were calculated using an average $/€ exchange rate of 0.753 for 2013 
sourced from the European Central Bank’s database.

Base salaries will continue to be subject to annual review in 2014, and the Committee will apply the 
factors described above in these considerations. 

Annual Bonus Plan Rewards the 
achievement of strategic 
financial and operational 
performance.

The operational 
measures recognise 
how we do things as 
well as what we do 
and demonstrate our 
commitment to our 
values.

Performance measures 
are chosen and 
performance targets are 
set by the Committee at 
the commencement of 
each financial year. 

Annual Bonus Plan 
outcome levels are 
determined by the 
Committee after the 
year-end based on 
performance against 
the pre-set financial 
and business objectives 
measures.

All of the Annual 
Bonus Plan outcomes 
are payable in 
cash following the 
determination of 
the amount earned. 
However, the Committee 
reserves discretion to 
build in the facility to 
defer part of the bonus 
(whether into cash or 
shares) if it believes that 
this is appropriate.

Clawback can apply 
to Annual Bonus Plan 
outcomes in the event 
of gross misconduct or 
a material misstatement 
of financial results 
within three years of the 
relevant performance 
period for that bonus 
outcome.

Current levels of annual 
bonus maxima are set 
out in the section of 
this table describing the 
implementation of our 
policy in 2013 and 2014. 
Shareholder agreement 
would be sought for any 
increase in maximum 
award levels.

Under 2013 scales 
threshold performance 
against both key 
financial measures 
generates 36% of 
maximum bonus 
opportunity. 

The operational 
performance measures 
are judged against 
targets specific to these 
measures and may be 
paid additionally. 

The Committee, 
however, reserves the 
right to adjust these 
levels for future financial 
years if in the opinion 
of the Committee it is 
appropriate to do so 
in light of competitive 
practice. 

The Committee may 
set such performance 
measures and targets 
for the Annual Bonus 
Plan as it considers 
appropriate. These 
conditions may be 
financial or non-financial 
and corporate, divisional 
or individual and in 
such proportions as the 
Committee considers 
appropriate.

Once set, performance 
measures will generally 
remain unchanged 
for the year, except to 
reflect events such as 
corporate acquisitions or 
other major transactions.

Additionally, the 
Committee will consider 
the outcomes against 
pre-set targets following 
their calculation and 
retains discretion to 
make appropriate 
adjustments against 
these outcomes in 
any year to take 
account of a range 
of factors including 
the Committee’s view 
of overall Company 
performance in the year 
and related contexts.
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Element Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum Performance conditions

Implementation  
of Policy in 2013 
and 2014 
(this section does 
not technically 
form part of the 
policy and is for 
information only) 

2013 Annual Bonus Plan 
Annual Bonus Plan maximums for Executive Directors for 2013 (% of base salary) were:

• Mr Bhasin – 200%

• Mr Ferrari – 175%

2013 Annual Bonus Plan outcomes were as follows:

• Mr Bhasin – €595,246 (51% of maximum)

• Mr Ferrari – €266,844 (45% of maximum)

Performance measures for the 2013 Annual Bonus Plan in summary comprised:

• Financial measures (60% of total outcomes) weighted as follows:

• budgeted EBITDA, 40% weighting of this element;

• budgeted Revenue, 60% weighting of this element;

• Individual Business Goals (40% of total outcomes). 

2014 Annual Bonus Plan
• Annual bonus maximums for Executive Directors for 2014 are unchanged from 2013 levels.

• Similar performance measures to those for 2013 will also apply in respect of the 2014 financial year, 
although given the competitive nature of the Company’s sector, the detailed performance targets are 
considered commercially sensitive and accordingly are not disclosed.

• In 2014, the Annual Bonus Plan has been amended with 70% of total outcomes now measured against 
financial measures and with 30% of total outcomes now measured against Individual Business Goals 
(within the financial measure the weighting of Revenue and EBITDA remains unchanged). This change 
was made to increase the focus of the Annual Bonus Plan on financial performance, and this is 
reinforced by changes made in the performance scales for the financial performance measures to add 
additional stretch between the threshold and maximum targets.

• Performance measures are chosen for each performance period to focus participants on achieving 
appropriate financial performance results as well as other relevant operational measures.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum Performance conditions

Long-Term  
Incentive Plan

Aligns executive and 
shareholder interests.

Attracts and retains 
senior employees.

Colt operates the Share 
Grant Plan which, since 
2013, allows for two 
forms of award:

• Core Award – vests 
after three years from 
grant

• Enhanced Award – 
vests in three tranches 
after three, four and 
five years from grant. 

Both Core Awards 
and Enhanced Awards 
are subject to the 
performance measures 
described in this table 
for each type of award.

All Share Grant Plan 
awards are subject to 
potential clawback on 
a basis consistent with 
that described for the 
Annual Bonus Plan 
above. 

The Company’s policy is 
to honour the vesting of 
all awards granted in line 
with previous policies. 

For completeness, the 
Share Grant Plan:

• Has flexibility to allow 
for awards on terms 
other than those 
described for Core 
Awards and Enhanced 
Awards above; and

• Has the capacity 
for the number of 
shares in awards to be 
increased by the value 
of any dividends paid.

Maximum awards 
may be up to 350% of 
base salary, with the 
maximum level of Core 
Award being 200% of 
base salary within this 
limit.

The Committee 
expressly reserves 
discretion to make such 
awards as it considers 
appropriate within these 
limits and specifically 
it may vary the mix 
of Core Awards and 
Enhanced Awards as 
appropriate whilst 
maintaining the limit 
described above.

The Committee may 
set such performance 
conditions for Share 
Grant Plan awards as it 
considers appropriate 
(whether financial 
or non-financial and 
whether corporate, 
divisional or individual). 
Current performance 
conditions for Core 
Awards and Enhanced 
Awards are described 
below, although the 
Committee expressly 
reserves discretion to 
introduce alternative 
measures for future 
awards within the 
period for which this 
policy operates. The 
Committee also has 
standard discretions 
available to it to adjust 
the performance 
conditions following 
corporate actions or 
other significant events, 
or to take account of 
changes in calculation 
methodologies.
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Element Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum Performance conditions

Implementation  
of Policy in 2013 
and 2014 
(this section does 
not technically 
form part of the 
policy and is for 
information only) 

Long-Term Incentive Plan in 2013 
Awards made in 2013 represented the following percentages of base salary:

Mr Bhasin

• Core Award — 150% of base salary

• Enhanced Award — 200% of base salary

Mr Ferrari 

• Core Award — 150% of base salary

• Enhanced Award — 150% of base salary

Performance measures for these awards were as follows:

• Core Awards:
Vest subject to three year Revenue (50% of awards) and EBITDA targets (50% of awards) measured 
over three financial years.

The performance targets for the Revenue and EBITDA performance measures for Core Awards are 
considered commercially sensitive given the dynamic nature of the Company’s business plans in a highly 
competitive sector and are accordingly not disclosed, although they do represent considerable stretch 
in performance. Each performance measure is assessed separately and it is possible for vesting to be 
achieved under one performance measure and not the other. At the threshold level of performance for 
these measures, 30% of total Core Awards can be achieved under the Revenue measure and 30% under 
the EBITDA measure. 

• Enhanced Awards:
Vest subject to absolute Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance in the period of three years from 
award.

The vesting range will require share price growth from the three-day average price preceding the 
award date (116p) of between 45%-80% (168p-209p) over this period. The vesting level at threshold 
performance is 30% of award shares. 

For this purpose, TSR will be measured using the 90 day average share prices ending on the day before 
the third anniversary of the award date.

Performance measures for Core Awards (Revenue and EBITDA) are financial measures which support 
the Company’s long-term growth strategy. Performance measures for Enhanced Awards (Absolute TSR 
growth) reward the creation of long-term shareholder value.

Long-Term Incentive Plan for 2014

It is anticipated that further Core and Enhanced Awards will be granted in 2014 on a comparable 
basis to the awards made in 2013, although the exact levels will be determined by the Remuneration 
Committee shortly prior to the award date.

Performance measures and performance targets for SGP Core Awards and Enhanced Awards will be set 
on a similar basis to those for 2013 described above, with the Committee determining the exact targets 
shortly prior to the award date. For Core Awards, the targets for the Revenue and EBITDA measures are 
again considered to be commercially sensitive.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum Performance conditions

Benefits and 
Pensions 

Helps recruit and 
retain employees, 
although the policy 
is to de-emphasise 
indirect elements of 
compensation.

The Committee reviews 
benefits provided 
periodically.

While no change to 
the policy on pension 
provision is currently 
envisaged, the 
Committee reserves 
the right to consider 
the appropriate policy 
having regard to the 
needs of the Company 
and to relevant market 
data.

Colt will honour the 
pensions obligations 
entered into under 
all previous policies 
in accordance with 
the terms of such 
obligations.

The Committee reserves 
discretion to introduce 
new benefits where they 
conclude that it is in the 
interests of Colt to do 
so, having regard to the 
particular circumstances 
and to market practice. 
The Committee will 
monitor the costs of 
benefits in practice and 
ensure that the overall 
costs do not increase 
by more than the 
Committee considers to 
be appropriate in all the 
circumstances.

Likewise for pension 
contributions, the 
Committee will monitor 
the costs in practice and 
ensure that the overall 
costs do not increase 
by more than the 
Committee considers to 
be appropriate in all the 
circumstances.

N/A

Implementation of 
Policy in 2013 and 
2014
(this section does 
not technically 
form part of the 
policy and is for 
information only) 

Pursuant to the Executive Directors’ secondment agreements, the Company reimburses FMR in 
respect of pension contributions of between 2% and 4% of base salary. No changes to these pension 
arrangements are anticipated for 2014.

Details of benefits provided are set out in the Implementation section of this report and include:

• Housing and utilities benefit

• Private health insurance

In addition, the Company pays costs related to the secondment agreement including 50% of a tax 
equalisation amount paid to Mark Ferrari in connection with his relocation to the UK.

Shareholding 
Guidelines

For Executive Directors 
to build and maintain 
a long-term ownership 
position and align their 
interests with those of 
shareholders. 

Half of all shares vesting 
from long-term incentive 
plans must be retained 
(net of tax and costs) 
until the guideline is 
achieved.

The guidelines are not 
contractual and no 
penalty arises if the 
Executive does not 
comply with this.

400% of base salary for 
the CEO and 300% of 
base salary for the CFO.

The Committee reserves 
the right to alter the 
level of shareholdings 
required by these 
guidelines.

N/A
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Non-Executive Directors

Element Purpose and link to 
strategy

Operation Maximum Performance Conditions

Directors’ fees To appropriately 
compensate non-
executive directors of 
the highest calibre.

Fee levels are 
periodically reviewed by 
the Board having regard 
to external comparators 
but do not necessarily 
follow a fixed position 
against benchmark 
data. 

Non-executive directors 
currently receive an 
annual cash retainer fee 
plus additional fees for 
certain additional roles.

Non-executive 
directors also receive 
reimbursement of travel 
related expenses.

No part of non-
executives’ fees are 
paid in the form of 
options or other 
incentives, benefits or 
pensions. However, the 
Committee reserves 
the right to consider 
how to structure the 
non-executive directors’ 
fees in the light of 
developing market 
practice and whether to 
utilise a general retainer, 
committee membership, 
chairmanship, 
attendance fees, or 
board attendance or 
time based or travel 
allowances.

Any increases or 
changes in the structure 
of fee levels will reflect 
the Board’s assessment 
of competitive 
conditions and the 
contribution of the 
directors.

Whilst the Chairman 
is currently paid 
no fees by Colt as 
a consequence of 
his role at a Fidelity 
related company, 
should Colt appoint 
an external candidate 
as chairman in future 
then fees would be set 
by reference to market 
levels.

N/A

Implementation  
of Policy in 2013  
and 2014 
(this section does 
not technically 
form part of the 
policy and is for 
information only) 

In 2013, the base fee level for non-executive directors was increased from €60,000 to €62,500. This 
represented the first increase in fees since 2008.

Current fee levels are as follows:

• Base fee: €62,500

• Senior Independent Director: €7,500

• Audit or Remuneration Committee chairmanships: €15,000

• Audit or Remuneration Committee member: €7,500
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Additional information to the Policy Table
1. The rationale for all performance measures and the process 

for setting performance targets are explained in the 
relevant sections of the table above.

2. The Committee has considered where there may be 
differences between the Directors’ Remuneration Policy 
and the policy on remuneration of other employees. Where 
Colt’s pay policy for Directors differs to its pay policies for 
groups of employees this reflects the appropriate market 
rate position for the relevant roles.

Shareholders’ Views
The Committee maintains an appropriate dialogue with its 
leading shareholders and shareholder representative groups 
regarding pay policy. In 2013 the Committee undertook a 
consultation of leading shareholders in relation to the changes 
to the Share Grant Plan approved at the 2013 AGM. The 
Company took their comments on board and the proposals 
received shareholder support at the 2013 AGM.

Colt’s major shareholders (comprising Fidelity related 
companies) are represented on the Board and thus Colt 
has particular sensitivity towards the views of shareholders 
regarding its remuneration arrangements.

Consideration of employment conditions 
elsewhere in the Company
The Committee has regard to remuneration across the Group 
in considering the pay of the senior executives. We employ 
staff with a variety of skills in a number of geographies. Each 
year the Committee receives a report on the overall annual 
pay review and any increase in the total spend on pay within 
Colt is agreed with the Committee. Our overall policy is to pay 
competitively by reference to appropriate comparisons and, 
where feasible, to create a bias towards performance-related 
pay. For more junior staff, packages inevitably focus on fixed 
pay although all staff are eligible to be considered for an 
annual bonus or to participate in another performance-driven 
pay arrangement.

Whilst we do consult with employees on a range of 
remuneration matters, in accordance with prevailing 
commercial practice, the Remuneration Committee did 
not consult with employees in preparing the Directors’ 
remuneration policy.

Recruitment Policy
Approach to Recruitment Remuneration
The Company has two Executive Directors. The CEO has 
served with the Group since December 2006 and is engaged 
via a secondment from FMR so it is difficult to set a policy for 
an event that has not been Colt’s practice.

The following represents the principles to be applied by the Remuneration Committee for recruitment of Executive Directors. 

• The starting point for the Committee will be to look to the 
general policy for Executive Directors as set out above and 
structure a package in accordance with that policy.

• For an internal appointment, any variable pay element 
awarded in respect of the prior role may either continue 
on its original terms or be adjusted to reflect the new 
appointment, as appropriate. 

• Save for any special recruitment arrangements which may 
be necessary, the Annual Bonus Plan and the Share Grant 
Plan arrangements will operate on a basis consistent with 
the general policies in relation to any newly appointed 
Executive Director including the maximum level of awards 
(except in the case of buy-outs). 

• Where it is necessary to make a recruitment related pay 
award to an external candidate, the Company will not pay 
more than, in the view of the Committee, is necessary and 
will in all cases seek, in the first instance, to deliver any 
such awards under the terms of the existing incentive pay 
structure. 

• All such awards for external appointments, whether under 
the Annual Bonus Plan, the Share Grant Plan or otherwise, 
which are made to compensate for awards forfeited on 
leaving a previous employer will take account of the nature, 
time-horizons and performance requirements of these 
awards. Where such awards had outstanding performance 
or service requirements (which are not substantially 
completed) the Company will generally impose equivalent 
conditions. However, exceptionally the Committee may 
relax those obligations where it considers this to be in the 
interests of shareholders, for example through a discount in 
the face value of the replacement awards.

• For external and internal appointments, the Committee 
may agree that the Company will meet certain relocation 
expenses as it considers appropriate.

A new Non-Executive Director would be recruited on the terms explained above in respect of the general policy for such 
directors.
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Directors’ service and secondment agreement dates
Rakesh Bhasin’s and Mark Ferrari’s services are provided under a secondment agreement with FMR LLC. The secondments can 
be terminated by FMR LLC or Colt at any time for any reason without compensation payable by Colt. Therefore, the termination 
cost for Colt in respect of Rakesh Bhasin and Mark Ferrari would be nil.

Name Current contract cessation date
Notice period  

applicable at any time
Termination  
cost to Colt

Rakesh Bhasin 31 December 2015 nil nil
Mark Ferrari 31 December 2015 nil nil

All contracts and appointment letters summarised above are available for inspection at the Registered Office of the Company.

Termination Policy for Executives
As explained above, the Company currently has no potential 
termination costs in respect of the current Executive Directors. 
However, were the Company to engage an Executive Director 
on a service contract in future, the Company’s policy would 
be to honour all contractual obligations within the service 
contract whilst applying the following principles:

• Maximum 12 months’ notice during which contractual rights 
to salary plus benefits would be applied. No entitlement to 
unearned bonus or unvested long-term incentives; and

• Provisions for use of mitigation and phased payments would 
be considered.

Termination scenarios and incentive plans
Standard Colt practice is that no annual bonus will be paid 
if employment is terminated prior to the completion of the 
calendar year performance period. Share Grant Plan awards 
are normally forfeited should employment cease prior to the 
scheduled vesting date.

In exceptional cases; e.g. change in control, the Committee 
may authorise a pro-rated annual bonus. Similarly, Share Grant 
Plan awards may be released. The Committee will determine 
vesting based on factors including the achievement of the 
performance conditions and may also scale back vesting on a 
time pro-rating basis which the Committee decides.

In addition, and consistent with market practice, the Company 
may pay a contribution towards the Director’s legal fees for 
entering into a statutory settlement agreement and may pay a 
contribution towards fees for outplacement services as part of 
a negotiated settlement. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the UK legislation does not 
require the inclusion of an explicit cap on the cost of 
termination payments. 

The Committee will take all relevant factors into consideration 
in applying its policy on termination payments and ensure that 
any payments are, in its view, appropriate. 

Non-Executive Directors’ notice and 
termination arrangements
The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are engaged 
on letters of appointment that set out their duties and 
responsibilities. The appointment of the Chairman and the 
Non-Executive Directors can be terminated by them or by 
the Company at any time giving three months’ notice. In 
every case, there is no right to compensation in the event of 
termination. 

Performance Scenarios
This table sets out in graph form the remuneration which 
an Executive Director may earn from awards made under 
the current remuneration policy in various scenarios of 
Company performance. It is prepared under a methodology 
recommended by the Financial Reporting Council’s Reporting 
Lab Unit. Actual rewards for Executive Directors will differ 
from the positions shown below. Note that all figures are in 
thousands of Euros.

€0
In line with 
expectation

Fixed Maximum

€4,000

€2,000

€3,000

€1,000

€4,500

€3,500

€2,500

€1,500

€500

2,346
37%

35%

3,852
53%

30%

Chief Executive Officer - Rakesh Bhasin

In line with 
expectation

Fixed Maximum

1,758
26%

24%

2,489
41%

24%

Chief Financial Officer - Mark Ferrari

Fixed
Annual variable
Long-term incentives

880
100% 50% 35%642

100% 28% 17%
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Implementation Section of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report
Unaudited Information

Remuneration Committee
In 2013 the members were Andreas Barth, Vincenzo Damiani, 
Gene Gabbard, Sergio Giacoletto, Dr. Katherine Innes Ker 
(joined on 1 September 2013) and Lorraine Trainer (joined on 
1 December 2013). Vincenzo Damiani is the Chairman of the 
Committee. 

Director
Meetings 

held
Meetings 
attended

Percentage 
attended

Andreas Barth 5 4 80%
Vincenzo Damiani 5 5 100%
Gene Gabbard 5 5 100%
Sergio Giacoletto 5 5 100%
Katherine Innes Ker 2 2 100%
Lorraine Trainer 1 1 100%
Average % attendance 97%

Remuneration Committee 2013 Activities
The Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee are 
set out on the www.colt.net website.

During 2013, the Committee approved the 2012 Annual Bonus 
Plan bonus award achievement level for the CEO and CFO. The 
Committee approved the design of the 2014 Annual Bonus 
Plan. There was a review of basic pay across Colt and for 
senior management. A salary freeze was in place in much of 
our operations, including the CEO and CFO.

The Committee approved the 2012 Remuneration Report 

and considered Shareholder representative groups’ feedback 
on aspects of the Remuneration Report and a proposed 
amendment to the long-term incentive plan. The Committee 
approved the metrics for the 2013 Share Grant Plan for both 
the Core and Enhanced awards together with the metrics 
for year three of the 2011 Share Grant Plan. The Committee 
reviewed and approved the 2010 Share Grant Plan award result 
which vested and was released in March 2013. The Committee 
also approved the performance for year two of the 2010 Share 
Grant Plan and year two of the 2011 Share Grant Plan. Other 
activities included reviewing the design and performance 
of Colt’s Sales Incentive Plans. The Committee reviewed the 
Remuneration Risk Register and received a presentation on 
benefits in selected Colt countries.

Paul Musson, Executive Vice President HR and Richard Stokes, 
Vice President Performance and Reward, normally attend 
meetings of the Remuneration Committee in an advisory 
capacity. 

The Remuneration Committee also received advice from 
FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP, Aon Hewitt and Towers 
Watson on salary, benefits and other remuneration trend 
data. This was used when considering the appropriate level 
of remuneration for the Executive Directors and other Colt 
employees and also the development of long-term incentives. 
In addition, Slaughter and May provided guidance on the rules 
of the long-term incentive plans. The advisors were appointed 
by the Company on the basis of relevant experience.

The assumptions used in the tables are summarised below:

Fixed • Consists of base salary, benefits and pension.

• Base salary is latest known salary.

• Benefits measured as benefits figure in single figure table.

• Pension measured as pension figure in single figure table.

€’000 Base Salary Benefits Pension Total Fixed
CEO 583.6 45.2 13.2 642.0

CFO 338.9 530.7 9.9 879.5

In line with 
expectation

Based on what the Director would receive if performance was at expectation
• Annual bonus has been assumed to be 71% of the maximum bonus opportunity, reflecting the average Colt 

bonus pool funding over the prior four years.

• Long-term incentive on-target: this has been taken as the threshold level of vesting, being 30% for both 
the Revenue and EBITDA based elements of the Core Award, and 30% for the Enhanced Award.

Maximum Full pay-out of the annual variable element, i.e. 200% of base salary for the CEO and 175% of base salary for 
the CFO. Full vesting of long-term incentives at maximum. 
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Colt v MSCI Europe Telecom Services Index
The graph below shows the Company’s share performance 
against the Morgan Stanley MSCI Europe Telecom Services 
Index (both rebased to 100 as at 1 January 2009). This index 
was selected because it is the principal index of European 
Telecom Service providers.
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Colt Group
MSCI Europe Telecom Services Index

  

Single figure 
of total 

remuneration 
(€’000)

Annual 
variable 
element 

award rates 
against 

maximum 
opportunity

Long-term 
incentive 

vesting rates 
against 

maximum 
opportunity

2013 Rakesh Bhasin €1,355 51% 39%
2012 Rakesh Bhasin €1,943 80% 60%
2011 Rakesh Bhasin €1,945 84% 67%
2010 Rakesh Bhasin €1,814 79% 40%
2009 Rakesh Bhasin €1,674 82% 40%

Note: Rakesh Bhasin’s remuneration is paid in US dollars.  
The figures above have not been adjusted for currency fluctuations. 
1  The single figure of total remuneration for each year is calculated on the same 
basis as in the single figure table. 

2  The maximum bonus opportunity for the CEO has been 200% of base salary over 
the five year period that this table relates to. 

3  The long-term incentive vesting rates against maximum opportunity represent the 
percentage of each tranche vesting in the corresponding year. For example, the 
2012 figure of 60% represents the combined vesting rate of the 3rd tranche of the 
2010 SGP award and the 2nd tranche of the 2011 SGP award. 

Percentage Increase in CEO pay compared 
to employee pay
In accordance with new regulations, we present in the table 
below the percentage change in the prescribed pay elements 
(salary, taxable benefits, and annual bonus outcome) of the 
CEO and the average percentage change for all staff between 
the financial year 2012 and financial year 2013.

Year-on-year % change Salary
Taxable 

Benefits1
Annual 
Bonus

CEO2 0% -46% -36%
All staff2 2.5% 7.1% -31%

1 Benefits change based on UK employees only.
2 These calculations are at a constant exchange rate. 

Distribution Statement

Colt’s overall expenditure on pay has decreased between 
2012 and 2013 by 7.0% (2012: €384.5m; 2013: €357.4m) with 
the comparison carried out on a basis consistent with note 
5 Employee information in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. Colt’s continued policy has not been 
to pay dividends as, consistent with many other technology 
companies, our policy is to re-invest surplus cash rather than 
make distributions.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Voting Outcomes from AGM 2013
Of the votes cast to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2013 AGM, 96.04% were cast in support of the 
resolution, 3.96% were cast as opposed, and abstentions represented 1.66% of the total votes cast.

 
For Against Abstain

No. % No. % No. %

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report for the financial year ended  
31 December 2012 763,598,612 96.04% 31,445,245 3.96% 13,448,877 1.66%

AUDITED INFORMATION
Directors’ remuneration
The table below sets out details of the remuneration paid by Colt in respect of 2013 for Directors of the parent company of the 
Group. The Directors represent the key management personnel of the Group.

Non-Executive Directors

€000
Name

Fee
€000

SID
Fee

€000
Comm. Fee

€000

Remuneration 
Comm. Fee

€000

Committee 
Chair Fee

€000
2013

€000
20124

€000

        
Andreas Barth 62.5 – 7.5 7.5 – 77.5 75.0
Vincenzo Damiani 62.5 – – - 15.0 77.5 75.0
Gene Gabbard 62.5 – 7.5 7.5 – 77.5 75.0
Sergio Giacoletto 62.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 – 85.0 76.9
Simon Haslam1 – – – – – – –
Tim Hilton1 – – – – – – –
Katherine Innes Ker2 20.8 – 2.5 2.5 – 25.8 –
Anthony Rabin 62.5 – - – 15.0 77.5 73.1
Lorraine Trainer3 5.2 – – 0.6 – 5.8 –
Michael Wilens1 – – – – – – –
Total 338.5 7.5 25.0 25.6 30.0 426.6 416.3

1  Tim Hilton and Michael Wilens are employed by FMR LLC and Simon Haslam is employed by FIL Limited. They receive no remuneration from FMR LLC or FIL Limited 
attributable to their duties for the Company and, as set out in their letters of appointment, receive no remuneration from Colt.

2 Katherine Innes Ker was appointed to the Board on 1 September 2013. She became a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.
3 Lorraine Trainer was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2013. She became a member of the Remuneration Committee. 
4 The total for 2012 also includes a fee of €41,300 related to Hans Eggerstedt, who retired from the Board on 26 April 2012.
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Executive Directors
Single Figure Table

 Salary/Fees1 Benefits2  Annual Bonus3
Long-term 

incentives4, 5 Pension Total
€’000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Rakesh Bhasin €584 €603 €45 €98 €595 €965 €118 €264 €13 €13 €1,355 €1,943
Mark Ferrari €339 €350 €530 €423 €267 €454 €46 €63 €10 €13 €1,192 €1,303

1  Basic salary represents the total amount of: 1) salary paid during 2013 and 2) amount outstanding and due to be paid in 2014 in respect of employment services in 
2013. Rakesh Bhasin’s and Mark Ferrari’s salaries are payable in US dollars and provided under secondment agreements with FMR LLC under which all the remuneration 
attributable to their duties to the Company was paid by the Company. The average P&L exchange rates for the year were used in the above calculations (2013: $/€0.753) 
(2012: $/€0.778).

2  The benefits amounts include as appropriate: housing benefit, private health insurance and other similar benefits. For Mark Ferrari, a payment in respect of tax 
equalization was made by the Group representing €0.3m (2012 €0.2m), although pursuant to Mr Ferrari’s secondment agreement with FMR, half of this amount was paid 
directly by FMR. 

3  Annual Bonus Plan performance measures and targets for 2013’s annual bonus are as explained below.
4  The performance measures and targets for long-term incentives vesting in relation to 2013’s performance are explained below.
5  2013 long-term incentive figures represent 39% of the third tranche of the 2011 award vesting multiplied by the three month average share price to the financial year end 

(€1.48).

The aggregate remuneration of all directors under salary, benefits and annual bonus in 2013 was €2.8m (2012: €3.3m). 

Annual Bonus Plan Outcomes for 2013
The table below shows the actual out-turn against the Annual Bonus Plan maximum. 

Name
Financial 

Measures (60%)
Individual 

Business Goals (40%)
Total as % 

of maximum 
Total as % 

of Base Salary 
Maximum as % of Base 

Salary 

Rakesh Bhasin 27% 24% 51% 102% 200%
Mark Ferrari 27% 18% 45% 79% 175%

Against the specific financial performance measures, out-turns were as detailed below. Performance targets are not disclosed as 
this information is considered to be commercially sensitive.

Performance Measure
% of 60% 

of incentive potential 
Performance  achieved

as % of target
% achieved against  

each measure

Revenue  — Less Data Centre Services Asset Sales 60% 96% 45%
EBITDA — Less Data Centre Services Asset Sales 40% 87% 0%

Details of the Individual Business Goals applied for 2013’s Annual Bonus Plan are as follows: 

Mr Bhasin: Delivering the objectives of the annual plan and the updated growth plans, leading strategic priorities and key 
projects, delivering cost savings and induction plans, driving operational excellence and developing overall leadership capability 
at Colt.

Mr Ferrari: Improving management and Board reporting, improving profitability reporting and provision of competitive data, 
developing the forecast process, developing Finance organisation and delivering continuous improvement in governance and 
risk management across Colt.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Detailed Summary of 2011 Share Grant Plan Performance
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Metrics/Weighting
Target 

achieved Metrics/Weighting
Target 

achieved Metrics/Weighting
Target 

achieved

Total revenue 50% 96% Total revenue (less 
DCS asset sales)

60% 95% Total revenue (less 
DCS asset sales)

60% 97%

EBITDA 30% 96% EBITDA (less DCS 
asset sales)

40% 99% EBITDA (less DCS 
asset sales)

40% 93%

Cash flow 20% >110%

2011 SGP Achievement Pay-out Year one pay-out Year two pay-out Year three pay-out
Pay-out for 2011 

SGP

Less than 95% 0%

67% 60% 39% 55%
95% (Threshold) 50%
100% (Target) 85%
110% (Maximum) 100%

Note: Specific targets are not disclosed due to commercial sensitivity.

Share Plan Awards made to Directors in 2013
Share Plan awards made to directors in 2013

Director Grant Date
Plan and 

type of award1
No of 

shares

Face 
value2

€
Threshold 

vesting level % 

Vesting level 
% at maximum 

performance
Anticipated

vesting date3

Rakesh Bhasin 8 March 2013 Core Award 619,473 891,422 Revenue
 portion – 30%

EBITDA 
portion – 30%

100% March 2016

Share Grant Plan Vesting for 2013
Awards vesting in respect of 2013 financial performance 
represented the 2011 award (year three) tranche granted 
under the Share Grant Plan. For the 2011 award single year 
performance metrics were set comprising the following 
elements and weighting:

Weighting

Total revenue less DCS asset sales 60%
EBITDA less DCS asset sales 40%

Last year the Committee confirmed it was not its intention to 
use single year performance metrics annually once the 2011 
Share Grant Plan award had vested. Core awards made in 2012 
and 2013 had three-year Revenue and EBITDA targets.

Overall, a weighted performance payout level of 55% was 
achieved in respect of the 2011 Share Grant Plan award for Mr 
Bhasin, equivalent to 336,993 shares with a market value as at 
31 December 2013 of €0.5m. It is anticipated that these shares 
will be released to Mr Bhasin in March 2014.

As reported last year, the 2010 award for Mr Bhasin vested at 
56% being 213,357 shares with a market value as at  
31 December 2012 of €0.3m. These shares were released to Mr 
Bhasin in March 2013.

At the end of each three-year vesting period for each Share 
Grant Plan award the Committee has discretion to adjust the 
number of shares vested up or down by up to 20% to reflect 
any exceptional circumstances, provided that the maximum 
is the number of shares over which the award was made. To 
date the Remuneration Committee has not exercised such 
discretion.

It is anticipated that the Committee will grant Core Awards on 
an annual basis and the Committee will consider whether or 
not to make Enhanced Awards on an annual basis.

Performance Summary — Share Grant Plan awards 2009-2011
Share Grant  
Plan Award Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Final vested %

2009 40% 40% 67% 49%
2010 40% 67% 60% 56%
2011 67% 60% 39% 55%*

* Payable in or around March 2014.
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Share Plan awards made to directors in 2013

Director Grant Date
Plan and 

type of award1
No of 

shares

Face 
value2

€
Threshold 

vesting level % 

Vesting level 
% at maximum 

performance
Anticipated

vesting date3

1 May 2013 Enhanced Award 861,747 1,178,008 30% 100% May 2016 
May 2017 
May 2018

Mark Ferrari 8 March 2013 Core Award 359,671 517,566 Revenue 
portion – 30%

EBITDA 
portion – 30%

100% March 2016

1 May 2013 Enhanced award 375,277 513,003 30% 100% May 2016
May 2017
May 2018

1  All awards are made under the Share Grant Plan. Performance measures and the basis on which awards are made are as summarised in the Directors’ remuneration policy 
table.

2  Face value reflects three–day average share prices at the Grant Date converted to Euro at rates for that day being: 8 March 2013: 125.2p (€1.439); 1 May 2013: 116p (€1.367).
3  For Enhanced Awards, performance is measured to the third anniversary of the Grant Date with one-third of vested shares available for release from each of the third 

anniversary of the Grant Date and the two subsequent anniversaries. For Core Awards, performance is measured over three years to the end of 2016.

Directors’ Shareholdings and Share Interests
Details of Directors’ shareholdings in Colt and the progress of Executive Directors towards the shareholding guidelines described 
in the Directors’ remuneration policy table are set out in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 58. On 1 January 2013 the 
shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors were amended as follows:

• CEO: 400% of base salary (2012: 200%)

• CFO: 300% of base salary (2012: 100%)

Share Grant Plan

Name
Date of 

original award
Type of 
Award

Max no. of shares in 
original award

Share price at 
date of award

Usual 
vesting date

Rakesh Bhasin Jul 2011 Core 612,714 £1.17 Mar 2014
Rakesh Bhasin Feb 2012 Core 747,980 £0.98 Mar 2015
Rakesh Bhasin Mar 2013 Core 619,473 £1.25 Mar 2016
Rakesh Bhasin May 2013 Enhanced 861,747 £1.16 May 2016
Mark Ferrari July 2011 Core 237,180 £1.17 Mar 2014
Mark Ferrari Feb 2012 Core 289,541 £0.98 Mar 2015
Mark Ferrari Mar 2013 Core 359,671 £1.25 Mar 2016
Mark Ferrari May 2013 Enhanced 375,277 £1.16 May 2016

Notes to SGP table
1   None of the above SGP awards were vested at 31 December 2013.
2   All of the awards above are conditional rights to acquire shares and are subject to performance measures (as summarised in the Directors’ remuneration policy table for 

Core and Enhanced awards respectively).
3  Aggregate gains from vested share awards in 2013 was €319,300 (2012: €318,200).

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Vincenzo Damiani 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee O
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Directors’ remuneration report continued
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Colt Group S.A.
K2 Building 
Forte 1 
2a Rue Albert Borschette 
L-1246 Luxembourg, BP 2174 
L-1021 Luxembourg 
R.C.S Luxembourg B 115.679
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Independent auditor’s report  
to the shareholders of Colt Group S.A.

Audit report 
To the shareholders of Colt Group S.A. 

Report on the consolidated financial 
statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Colt Group S.A. (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013 and 
the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity, consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the 
consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Responsibility of the “Réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé”
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing as adopted for Luxembourg by the 
“Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier”. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the judgment of the “Réviseur d’entreprises agréé” 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the “Réviseur 
d’entreprises agréé” considers internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of 
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Colt 
Group S.A. as of 31 December 2013, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
The Report of the Board of Directors, which is the 
responsibility of the Board of Directors, is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying Corporate Governance Statement on 
pages 60 to 73 which is the responsibility of the Board 
of Directors, is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and includes the information required by the law 
with respect to the Corporate Governance Statement.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Société coopérative 
Luxembourg, 26 February 2014 
Represented by

Gilles Vanderweyen
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Consolidated income statement

Year ended 
31 December 

2013

Year ended 31 December 2012 (Restated)

Notes €m

Before 
exceptional 

items 
€m

Exceptional 
items 

€m

After 
exceptional 

items 
€m

Revenue 2  1,575.8  1,594.6  –  1,594.6 

Cost of sales 
 Interconnect and network  (942.9)  (917.6)  (14.2)  (931.8)
 Network depreciation  (232.7)  (229.5)  –  (229.5)

 (1,175.6)  (1,147.1)  (14.2)  (1,161.3)

Gross profit  400.2  447.5  (14.2)  433.3 

Operating expenses 
 Selling, general and administrative  (312.8)  (343.4)  (17.8)  (361.2)
 Other depreciation and amortisation  (48.0)  (47.0)  –  (47.0)

 (360.8)  (390.4)  (17.8)  (408.2)

Operating profit  39.4  57.1  (32.0)  25.1 

Other income (expense) 
 Finance income 6  0.4  1.5  –  1.5 
 Finance costs 6  (0.7)  (1.9)*  –  (1.9)*
 Net foreign exchange gain arising on finance activities  3.3  4.8  –  4.8 

 3.0  4.4 -  4.4 

Profit before taxation 3  42.4  61.5  (32.0)  29.5
Taxation 8  (4.4)  (3.7)  –  (3.7)
Profit for the year  38.0  57.8  (32.0)  25.8 

Attributable to: 
Owners of the Company  39.3  60.0  (32.0)  28.0 
Non-controlling interest 17  (1.3)  (2.2)  –  (2.2)

 38.0  57.8  (32.0)  25.8 

Basic earnings per share 9 €0.04 €0.03
Diluted earnings per share 9 €0.04 €0.03

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised) (see notes 1 and 26).

Details of exceptional items are provided in note 7.

All results derived from continuing operations.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Notes
2013 

€m

2012 
Restated

€m

Profit for the year  38.0  25.8* 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement: 
Remeasurement of net defined benefit obligations 8,26  3.4  (1.0)*
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement: 
Exchange (loss) gain differences on translation of foreign operations  (15.0)  8.1 
Total recognised comprehensive income for the year  26.4  32.9 

Attributable to: 
Owners of the Company  27.7  35.1 
Non-controlling interest  17  (1.3)  (2.2)

 26.4  32.9

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised) (see notes 1 and 26).

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive 
income is disclosed in note 8.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December

Notes
2013 

€m
2012
€m

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets 10 180.4  163.5 
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,316.1  1,294.8 
Deferred tax assets 13 59.5  58.8 
Total non-current assets 1,556.0  1,517.1 

Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 14 275.6  253.0 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 195.6  280.1 
Total current assets 471.2  533.1 
Total assets 2,027.2  2,050.2 

EQUITY 
Capital and reserves 
Share capital and share premium  1,405.5  1,404.3 
Shares to be issued 16 9.5 9.2
Translation reserve (41.9) (26.9)
Other reserves 16  (164.9)  (164.9)
Retained earnings  302.9  265.1 
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company  1,511.1  1,486.8 
Non-controlling interest 17  –  (3.6)
Total equity  1,511.1  1,483.2 

LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 19 17.6  13.0 
Other payables 5.0  – 
Post employment benefits 26 4.9  7.6 
Deferred tax liabilities 13 0.1  1.0 
Total non-current liabilities 27.6  21.6 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 18 467.8  496.5 
Current tax liabilities 6.9  7.7 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 19 13.8  41.2 
Total current liabilities 488.5  545.4 

Total liabilities 516.1  567.0 
Total equity and liabilities 2,027.2  2,050.2

The financial statements on pages 94 to 133 were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 February 2014 and were signed on 
its behalf by: 

Mark Ferrari / Chief Financial Officer Rakesh Bhasin / Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes  
in shareholders’ equity

Notes

Ordinary 
shares 
No. m

Share 
capital 

€m

Share 
premium 

€m

Shares to 
be issued 

€m

Translation 
reserves 

€m

Other 
reserves 

€m

Retained 
earnings 
(losses) 

€m
Total

€m

Non-
controlling 

interest 
€m

Total 
equity 

€m 

At 31 December 2011  891.6  445.8  957.2  8.4  (35.0)  (164.9)  238.1  1,449.6  (1.4)  1,448.2 
Profit for the year - 
restated*  –  –  –  –  –  –  28.0  28.0  (2.2)  25.8 
Remeasurement of 
net defined benefit 
obligations1 - restated*  26  –  –  –  –  –  –  (1.0)  (1.0)  –  (1.0)
Exchange gain differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations  –  –  –  –  8.1  –  –  8.1  –  8.1 
Shares issued in the year  16  1.4  0.7  0.6  (0.6)  –  –  –  0.7  –  0.7 
Share plan credit  5  –  –  –  1.4  –  –  –  1.4  –  1.4 
At 31 December 2012  893.0  446.5  957.8  9.2  (26.9)  (164.9)  265.1  1,486.8  (3.6)  1,483.2 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  39.3  39.3  (1.3)  38.0 
Remeasurement of 
net defined benefit 
obligations1  26  –  –  –  –  –  –  3.4  3.4  –  3.4 
Exchange loss differences 
on translation of foreign 
operations  –  –  –  –  (15.0)  –  –  (15.0)  –  (15.0)
Shares issued in the year  16  1.0  0.5  0.7  (0.9)  –  –  –  0.3  –  0.3 
Share plan credit  5  –  –  –  1.2  –  –  –  1.2  –  1.2 
Change in proportion 
held by non-controlling 
interest  17  –  –  –  –  –  –  (4.9)  (4.9)  4.9  – 
At 31 December 2013  894.0  447.0  958.5  9.5  (41.9)  (164.9)  302.9  1,511.1  –  1,511.1

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised) (see notes 1 and 26).
1 Net of tax.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

Notes
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Net cash generated from operating activities 20  245.2 248.8 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  (328.9)  (306.8)
Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  2.0  0.3 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash 12  (0.8)  (9.2)
Redemption of current asset investments  –  60.0 
Finance income received*  0.4  1.9 
Net cash used in investing activities  (327.3)  (253.8)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares  0.3  0.7 
Finance costs paid  (1.5)  (0.8)
Net cash used in financing activities  (1.2)  (0.1)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  (83.3)  (5.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  280.1  283.7 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (1.2)  1.5 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15  195.6  280.1

* 2012 comparative restated from net cash used in financing activities.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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Notes to the consolidated financial  
statements

1 Basis of presentation and principal accounting policies

Colt Group S.A. (‘Colt S.A.’ or ‘the Company’), together with its subsidiaries are referred to as ‘the Group’. The Group financial 
statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at and for the year ended 31 December 
2013 as approved by the Group’s Board of Directors on 26 February 2014. Colt Group S.A. is a company domiciled in 
Luxembourg.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified for fair value where 
required (refer below for details on specific fair value policies applied). The accounting policies set out below have been 
consistently applied across Group companies to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements except in 
relation to the new and amended IFRS standards adopted by the Group in 2013.

Going concern
The Directors believe that they have a reasonable basis for concluding that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRS’) and IFRIC interpretations as endorsed by the EU and in accordance with Luxembourg laws and regulations. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amounts, 
events or transactions, the actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. 

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include those of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings. Subsidiaries are 
all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary at the proportionate share 
of the acquired net assets excluding goodwill. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interest 
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling share of subsequent changes in equity. Total 
comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit 
balance.

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Euros as the Group has a European-domiciled holding company and the Euro is the Group’s most significant 
trading currency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the time of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the period end rate and any exchange differences are taken to the consolidated 
income statement. Exchange differences arising from the re-translation of the opening net assets of subsidiaries which are 
denominated in foreign currencies, and any related long-term loans, together with the differences between income statements 
translated at average rates and rates ruling at the period end are taken directly to the translation reserve.

99www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L

O
ur

 f
in

an
ci

al
s

O
ur

 g
ov

er
na

nc
e

O
ur

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

O
ur

 b
us

in
es

s



Change in accounting policy and disclosures 
New and amended standards adopted by the Group
• IAS 19 (revised) ‘Employee benefits’ was revised in June 2011. The impact of adopting the revised standard this year has been 

as follows: to immediately recognise all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets 
with a net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability (asset). Refer 
to note 26 which shows the impact on the Group’s defined benefit schemes. As the Group has always recognised actuarial 
gains and losses immediately, there is no effect on the prior year defined benefit obligation. The comparative period has been 
restated with the consolidated income statement being €0.3m lower and other comprehensive income being €0.3m higher 
than it would have been prior to the adoption of IAS 19 (revised).

The following new and amended IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations have been adopted by the Group but have not had a 
significant impact on the amounts reported in the financial statements:

• IAS 1 (amended) Presentation of Financial Statements

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early-adopted 
by the Group
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 or later periods, but the Group has not early-adopted them:

• IAS 27 (amended) Separate Financial Statements

• IAS 28 (amended) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

• IAS 32 (amended) Financial Instruments: Presentation

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

It is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of these standards until a detailed review has been completed. 
The Group does not at this stage expect the adoption of any other standards and amendments to significantly impact the 
Group’s financial statements.

A summary of the more important Group accounting policies is set out below. 

Exceptional items
The Group separately identifies and discloses one-off or unusual items (termed ‘exceptional items’) as disclosed in note 7.

The Board believes this provides meaningful analysis of the trading results of the Group and aids readers’ understanding of 
the impact of such items. Therefore, in the discussion of the Group’s results of operations, reference is made to measurements 
before and after exceptional items. Exceptional items may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other 
companies. 

Notes to the consolidated financial  
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Revenue
Revenue represents amounts earned for services and equipment sales provided to customers (net of value added tax and intra-
group revenue). Contracted income invoiced in advance for fixed periods is recognised as revenue in the period of actual service 
provision. Where the Group acts as an agent in a transaction, it recognises revenue net of directly attributable costs. 

Data and Managed Services revenues are generally billed in advance. Data and Managed Services revenue is allocated over the 
life of the customer contract according to the pattern in which the customer derives the benefits of the service. Installation fees 
are deferred and recognised in the consolidated income statement over the expected length of the customer relationship period 
(typically three to five years) or the contractual period, if longer. Voice revenue is recognised when Voice traffic is carried over 
the network based on the fair value of this traffic. 

Where a contractual arrangement consists of two or more separate elements that have value to a customer on a standalone 
basis, revenue is recognised for each element as if it were an individual contract. The total contract consideration is allocated 
between the separate elements on the basis of relative fair value and the appropriate revenue recognition criteria are applied to 
each element as described above.

Revenue from the sale of equipment is recognised when all the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
buyer, which is normally the date the equipment is delivered and accepted by the customer.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales includes payments made to other carriers, depreciation of network infrastructure, equipment (including in data 
centres), direct network costs and construction costs associated with infrastructure sales.

Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are 
recognised as a reduction in the rental expense over the lease term.

Segmental reporting
The Group is managed around its three customer serving units: Enterprise Services, Communication Services and Data Centre 
Services. Colt’s three Business Units correspond to its reportable segments in line with the information reported to its chief 
operating decision maker, the Board of Directors.

Business Unit EBITDA includes all costs directly attributable to the Units and the recharge of shared network and other service 
unit operating costs. 

A geographical analysis of revenue and non-current assets is disclosed where material.

Business combinations
The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations in accordance with IFRS 3 
(R), ‘Business Combinations’. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair 
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The 
excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded 
as goodwill. All transaction related costs are expensed in the period they are incurred as operating expenses. If the consideration 
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance 
with IAS 39 in the income statement. 
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). 
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over the net of the 
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Goodwill related to pre-2012 acquisitions was fully 
impaired during 2005. In 2012, the Group recognised goodwill related to the ThinkGrid acquisition.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets purchased separately, such as software that does not form an integral part of related hardware, are capitalised 
at cost. Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible fixed assets on a straight-line basis over their expected 
economic lives which are between three and seven years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Network infrastructure and equipment comprises assets purchased and built, at cost, together with capitalised labour 
which is directly attributable to the cost of construction. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs 
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over their expected 
economic lives as follows:

 Network infrastructure and equipment (excluding non-depreciable land) 5% – 20% per annum
 Office computers, equipment, fixtures and fittings and vehicles 10% – 33% per annum
 Non-depreciable land 0% per annum

Depreciation of network infrastructure and equipment commences from the date it becomes operational. The assets’ useful lives 
and residual values are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.

Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill are reviewed for impairment 
only when events indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

In an impairment test, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or asset is estimated to determine the extent of 
any impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the value in use to the Group. An 
impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences that arise between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and their tax base which result in an obligation or right to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax at 
a future date, at rates that are expected to apply when the obligation crystallises. Deferred tax arising on temporary differences 
from investment in subsidiaries are not recognised as the timing of their reversal is controlled by the Group. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that they will be realised in the foreseeable future. 
Factors considered when assessing the recognition of deferred tax assets by jurisdiction include a consistent history of profits as 
well as future forecast of profits.

Notes to the consolidated financial  
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Property provisions
The Group provides for obligations relating to excess leased space and reinstatements in its properties. The provisions represent 
the net present value of the future estimated costs, with the unwinding of the discount included within the interest charge for 
the year.

Restructuring provisions
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, has a 
reliable estimate of the cost of the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the 
restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a 
restructuring provision includes the direct expenditures from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are necessarily 
entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

Financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of preparation of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash at bank and in hand, and 
short-term deposits with a maturity period of three months or less. Interest income receivable on cash and cash equivalents is 
recognised as it is earned.

Current asset investments
Current asset investments consist of bank deposits held for a term of three to six months from the date of deposit. Current asset 
investments are initially recognised at fair value based on estimated future cash flows or observable market price. Any resulting 
impairment on initial recognition is recognised in the income statement.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business and are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
income statement. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as 
non-current assets.

Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers and are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently held at amortised cost. Trade payables are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis in the 
period in which contributions are payable to the schemes.

For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method and the key 
actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date as set out in the actuarial valuations. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation, as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined through consultation with independent actuaries, taking into account current market discount rates, current market 
values of investments and actual investment returns. The discount rate has been determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds.

Share-based payments 
The cost of share-based employee compensation arrangements, whereby employees receive remuneration in the form of shares 
or share options, is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement.

The total expense is apportioned over the vesting period of the benefit and is determined by reference to the fair value at the 
grant date of the shares or share options awarded and the number that are expected to vest. The assumptions underlying the 
number of awards expected to vest are subsequently adjusted to reflect conditions prevailing at the statement of financial 
position date. At the vesting date of an award, the cumulative expense is adjusted to take account of the awards that actually 
vest based on the performance against non-market conditions. 

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as Equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are 
shown in Equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.

Critical accounting policies and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires a number of estimates and assumptions to be 
made. In addition, management is required to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
Management continually evaluates the estimates, assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. 
As the use of estimates is inherent in financial reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates. The Group believes that 
of its significant accounting policies, the following are considered to be critical to its financial condition and results and involve a 
higher degree of judgement and complexity.

Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill, within a cash generating unit, 
are reviewed for impairment only when events indicate the carrying value may be impaired. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
at least annually. Impairment indicators include both internal and external factors. Examples of internal factors include analysing 
performance against budgets and assessing absolute financial measures for indicators of impairment. Examples of external 
considerations assessed for indications of impairment include wider economic factors and comparing the Group’s market 
capitalisation to its net assets. 

Where impairment indicators are present, the recoverable amounts of assets are measured. Asset recoverability requires 
assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived 
from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate. In calculating the net present 
value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters. In particular, 
management has regard to assumptions in respect of revenue mix and growth rates, customer churn, EBITDA margins, timing 
and amount of capital expenditure, long term growth rates and the selection of appropriate discount rates.

Revenue recognition
Voice services are generally billed in arrears, and Data and Managed Services (including Data Centre revenue) are generally 
billed in advance. Voice revenue is recognised when voice traffic is carried over the network. Data revenue is allocated over the 
life of the customer contract according to the pattern in which the customer derives the benefits of the service. Revenue from 
installation activities is deferred and recognised over the expected length of the customer relationship period (typically three to 
five years), or the contractual period if longer. Judgement is required in the application of these principles.

Carrier revenue and payments to other operators
When telephony traffic is carried by other operators, the Group incurs interconnect costs. Some interconnect costs are subject 
to regulation by local regulatory authorities in the countries in which the Group operates. A regulatory determination may give 
rise to amendments (most often in the form of reductions) to interconnect costs. The changes in regulated interconnect costs 
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may or may not be in line with the change in market selling prices for telephony traffic. Margins may therefore be eroded where 
selling prices fall faster than regulated interconnect costs.

The Group reviews its interconnect costs on a regular basis and adjusts the rate at which these costs are charged in the income 
statement in accordance with the estimated interconnect costs for the current period. The prices at which these services are 
charged are often regulated and can be subject to retrospective adjustment. Estimates are used in assessing the likely impact of 
these retrospective adjustments.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Network infrastructure and equipment comprises assets purchased and built, at cost, together with capitalised labour, 
directly attributable to the cost of construction.

Colt’s network assets are long-lived, with cables and switching equipment operating for between five and twenty years. The 
annual depreciation charge is sensitive to the estimated service life allocated to each asset type. The Group reviews asset lives 
annually and changes them when it is considered necessary to reflect its current estimates of its remaining lives in light of 
changes in technology, the actual condition and expected utilisation of the assets concerned.

Deferred tax assets
The Group operates in a large number of different tax jurisdictions. Deferred tax assets require management judgement in 
determining the amounts to be recognised. In particular, significant judgement is used when assessing the extent to which 
deferred tax assets should be recognised with consideration given to the timing and level of future taxable income, time limits 
on the availability of taxable losses for carry forward together with any future tax planning strategies. If the future earnings were 
to vary by 10% from the forecasted taxable income, this would lead to a similar level of movement on the amount of deferred tax 
recognised on the balance sheet.

Receivables and provisions for doubtful debts
The Group performs ongoing reviews of the bad debt risk within its receivables and makes provisions to reflect its views of 
the financial condition of its customers and their ability to pay in full for amounts owing for services provided. The expense 
associated with these provisions for bad debts are recorded in cost of sales. Estimates based on historical and current 
experience are used in determining the level of debts that are not expected to be collected.

Provisions
The Group’s provisions are established based on its best estimate at the statement of financial position date of the amounts 
necessary to settle existing obligations or commitments as of each statement of financial position date.

2 Segmental reporting

Operating segments 
The Group is managed around its three customer facing Business Units: Enterprise Services, Communication Services and Data 
Centre Services, supported by two internal functional units. Colt’s three Business Units correspond to its reportable segments in 
line with the information reported to its chief operating decision maker, the Board of Directors. 

Business Unit revenue has been analysed by product between Voice, Data and Managed Services. Voice revenue comprises 
services including the transmission of voice, data or video through a switching centre and voice traffic which is delivered in a 
digital form (IP Voice). Data revenue includes network services and bandwidth services. Managed Services revenue comprises 
managed IT services and data centre services. Voice revenue has been further split between Carrier Voice and Corporate and 
Reseller Voice. Carrier Voice revenue includes Voice services provided wholesale to other licenced operators, and Corporate and 
Reseller Voice revenue is all other Voice revenue.

Internal Managed Services revenue represents the recharge by Data Centre Services to the other two customer facing Business 
Units for the provision of data centre space and services. The third party revenue in relation to these services is billed by the 
Enterprise Services and Communication Services Units resulting in the related profits being spread across all three Business 
Units. Internal Managed Services revenue is eliminated on consolidation.
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The two internal function units comprise the Infrastructure Services Unit and the Business Services Unit. The Infrastructure 
Services Unit integrates the activities of Colt’s network, managed services operations and technology operation. The Business 
Services Unit integrates the India, Barcelona and Romania Shared Service Centres and country support teams, ensuring the 
effective delivery of pan-European business support.

The Group measures the performance of its operating segments through a measure of segment profit or loss which is referred 
to as EBITDA in Colt’s management reporting system. EBITDA is profit before net finance costs and related foreign exchange, 
tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items. 

Business Unit EBITDA includes all costs directly attributable to the Business Units and the recharge of shared network and other 
Service Unit operating costs. The bases used to recharge these costs may be further refined in the future. 

Assets, liabilities and depreciation are not reported by segment to the chief operating decision maker and therefore are not 
disclosed in this note. Non-current asset additions are disclosed by segment in line with the information reported to the chief 
operating decision maker. Additions not reported by segment are classified as corporate.

The Group has a large customer base and no undue reliance on any one major customer therefore no such related revenue is 
required to be disclosed by IFRS 8. 

The accounting policies adopted by each segment are described in note 1.

Year ended 31 December 2013

Enterprise 
Services 

€m

Communication 
Services 

€m

Data Centre 
Services 

€m

Unallocated 
and 

eliminations 
€m

Consolidated 
€m

Revenue
Carrier Voice  –  250.4  –  –  250.4 
Corporate and Reseller Voice  99.1  201.9  –  –  301.0 
Data  348.8  457.6  –  –  806.4 
Managed Services - third party  137.0  41.1  39.9  –  218.0 
Managed Services - internal  –  –  122.2  (122.2)  – 
Total segment revenue  584.9  951.0  162.1  (122.2)  1,575.8 

Result 
EBITDA  82.0  187.6  50.5  –  320.1 
Depreciation and amortisation  (280.7)
Operating profit  39.4 
Finance income  0.4 
Finance costs  (0.7)
Net foreign exchange gain arising on financing activities  3.3 
Profit before taxation  42.4 
Taxation  (4.4)
Profit for the year  38.0 

Other segment items 
Additions to non-current assets  66.1  60.7  35.2  171.2  333.2

The total Data Centre Services divisional EBITDA of €50.5m included €17.5m related to third party revenue. 
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Year ended 31 December 2012 (Restated)

Enterprise 
Services 

€m

Communication 
Services 

€m

Data Centre 
Services 

€m

Unallocated 
and 

eliminations 
€m

Consolidated 
€m

Revenue
Carrier Voice  –  245.0  –  –  245.0 
Corporate and Reseller Voice1  110.1  225.9  –  –  336.0 
Data1  362.9  448.8  –  –  811.7 
Managed Services - third party  127.0  38.0  36.9  –  201.9 
Managed Services - internal  –   –  117.5  (117.5)  – 
Total segment revenue  600.0  957.7  154.4  (117.5)  1,594.6 

Result 
EBITDA  96.0  194.8  42.8  –  333.6 
Depreciation and amortisation  (276.5)
Exceptional items  (32.0)
Operating profit  25.1 
Finance income  1.5 
Finance costs2  (1.9)
Net foreign exchange gain arising on financing activities  4.8 
Profit before taxation  29.5 
Taxation  (3.7)
Profit for the year  25.8 

Other segment items 
Additions to non-current assets3   71.6  64.2  60.1  116.9  312.8

1  VoIP revenue was reclassified from Data revenue to Voice revenue at the beginning of 2013. The 2012 numbers have been restated to ensure 
comparability 

2 Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised) (see note 1).

3  Additions to non-current assets by segment in 2012 has been updated to ensure comparability with the amount reported to the chief operating 

decision maker in 2013.

The total Data Centre Services divisional EBITDA of €42.8m included €19.0m related to third party revenue. 

Geographical information
The Group has material revenue and assets in a number of countries, including the UK, Germany, France, Spain, Italy and 
Switzerland. There is no material revenue or assets in the Company’s country of domicile, Luxembourg. Revenue by country is 
disclosed based on amounts invoiced and accrued. Inter-geographical revenue transactions are carried out at an arm’s length price. 

The information in the table below is based on the location of the assets which is not materially different from the location of 
the customer.

Revenue

Total non-current assets 
excluding deferred tax 

assets 
2013

€m
2012
€m

2013
€m

2012
€m 

UK 412.7 395.7 572.8 515.4
Germany 343.5 347.0 289.8 314.9
France 215.8 219.5 152.6 152.4
Spain 149.4 150.7 107.3 112.1
Italy 121.8 135.1 52.9 54.5
Switzerland 95.6 103.2 71.0 75.9
Other 237.0 243.4 250.1 233.1

1,575.8 1,594.6 1,496.5 1,458.3
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3 Profit before taxation

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Staff costs (note 5)  303.6  337.8 
Network depreciation and amortisation: 
 Property, plant and equipment (note 11) 232.7  229.5 
Other depreciation and amortisation: 
 Intangible assets (note 10) 35.8  31.1 
 Property, plant and equipment (note 11) 12.2  15.9 
Receivables provision charge (credit) (note 14)  5.6  (2.7)
Other operating lease rentals payable: 
 Property  30.8  35.4 
 Plant and equipment  181.8  166.2 
Net foreign exchange gains arising on financing activities  (3.3)  (4.8)

Services provided by the Group’s auditor and network of firms:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and consolidated  
financial statements: 0.1  0.1 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services: 
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 1.6  1.8 
Tax services 0.1  0.3
 1.8  2.2

4 Key management personnel compensation
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Salaries and short term benefits 2.8  3.1 
Share based payments 0.8  0.6 

 3.6  3.7

Further details on Directors’ emoluments are set out in the Audited Information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 
88 to 91 which form part of these financial statements (incorporated by cross reference). 
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5 Employee information 

Average monthly number of people (including Directors) employed by the Group:

Year ended 31 December
2013 2012

By reportable segment: 
 Enterprise Services  2,046  2,110 
 Communication Services  2,730  2,615 
 Data Centre Services  263  232 

 5,039  4,957 

Year ended 31 December
2013 2012

By geography: 
 Europe 3,581  3,619 
 India  1,429  1,317 
 Rest of World  29  21 
  5,039  4,957 

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Employee costs (for the above persons):
 Wages and salaries* 286.0 309.7
 Share option charge  1.2 1.4
 Social security costs  47.6 51.0
 Pension costs (note 26)  22.6 22.4

 357.4 384.5
Less: employee costs capitalised  (53.8) (46.7)
  303.6  337.8

*  Wages and salaries included €3.1m in 2013 (2012: €3.6m) of costs related to cash-settled share based payment arrangements (refer to note 16 for 
further details of these arrangements). 

Capitalised employee costs are included in additions within the appropriate non-current asset category.

6 Net finance income (costs)
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012 Restated
€m

 Interest income on short term bank deposits  0.4  1.5 
Finance income  0.4  1.5 
 Discount unwind on property provisions (note 19)  0.9  (0.7)
 Other finance costs  (1.6)  (1.2)*
Finance costs  (0.7)  (1.9)
  (0.3)  (0.4)

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised) (see notes 1 and 26).

There is an unwind benefit in finance costs during 2013 due to a revision in the ageing of the provisions related to the Group’s 
properties. 
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7 Exceptional items

There were no exceptional items in 2013. 

During the last quarter of 2012, Colt announced an acceleration of its transformation strategy, changing the balance of Colt’s 
skills in the Group’s business to support the development of a solutions business, along with consolidation of resources and 
leveraging shared services centres in Barcelona, India and Romania. The Company incurred an exceptional charge of €32 million 
in 2012 associated with the costs of implementing these plans. During 2013, cash payments of €21.3m (see note 20) were made 
in relation to these plans.   

8 Taxation

The Group tax (expense) credit during the year was as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Current tax (expense) credit
Domestic tax
  Current year (0.1) –
  Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.4) –
Overseas tax 
  Current year (7.0) (6.4)
  Adjustments in respect or prior years 0.6 (0.2)
Total current tax expense (6.9) (6.6)

Deferred tax credit (note 13)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 2.5 2.9
Total deferred tax credit  2.5 2.9 

Total tax expense (4.4) (3.7)

The difference between the actual tax expense (income) computed using a weighted average tax rate and the tax expense 
computed on accounting profit can be explained as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012 Restated

€m

Profit before tax* 42.4 29.5 

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits (losses) in the respective countries1 16.7 10.8 
Non-deductible expenses1 20.1 7.5
Non-taxable income1 (62.6) (53.1)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (0.4) (1.5)
Prior period adjustments (0.2) (0.2)
Recognition of deferred tax assets previously unrecognised (4.9) (4.3) 
Effect of changes in tax rates on opening deferred tax asset 2.4 1.6
Temporary differences for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 33.3 42.9
Total tax expense 4.4 3.7

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised).

1 Comparatives have been restated to align with the current year presentation.

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 39.4% (2012: 36.6% restated). The movement is caused by a change in the relative 
accounting profits and losses of the Group’s subsidiaries in the respective countries.
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The tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

2013
2012 

(Restated)
Before tax 

€m
Tax expense 

€m
After tax 

€m
Before tax*

€m
Tax credit 

€m
After tax 

€m 

Actuarial gain (loss) on retirement benefit 
obligations 3.6 (0.2) 3.4 (1.0) – (1.0)
Exchange (loss) gain differences on translation of 
foreign operations (14.3)  (0.7)  (15.0)  7.6 0.5 8.1
Other comprehensive (loss) income  (10.7) (0.9)   (11.6)  6.6 0.5 7.1

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised), see note 1.

9 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is based upon the profit after tax for each year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue in the year.

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares (m)  893.7  892.7 
Dilutive ordinary shares from share options (m)*  4.3  4.7 
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares (m)  898.0  897.4 
Profit for the year (€m)  39.3  28.01 
Basic earnings per share €0.04 €0.03 
Diluted earnings per share €0.04 €0.03

*  Dilutive earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

1 Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised), see note 1.
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10 Intangible assets 

Goodwill 
€m

Software 
and other 

assets 
€m

Total 
€m

Cost 
At 1 January 2012  30.5  457.8  488.3 
Additions  –  49.5  49.5 
Acquisition of subsidiary  13.6  3.2  16.8 
Exchange differences  –  7.6  7.6 
At 31 December 2012  44.1  518.1  562.2 
Additions  – 56.5  56.5 
Disposals  – (2.4) (2.4)
Exchange differences  – (7.7)  (7.7) 
At 31 December 2013  44.1  564.5 608.6

Accumulated amortisation 
At 1 January 2012  30.5  331.9  362.4 
Charge for the year  –  31.1  31.1 
Exchange differences  –  5.2  5.2 
At 31 December 2012  30.5  368.2  398.7 
Charge for the year  – 35.8 35.8
Disposals  – (2.4) (2.4)
Exchange differences  – (3.9) (3.9)
At 31 December 2013  30.5  397.7  428.2 

Net book value 
At 1 January 2012  –  125.9  125.9 
At 31 December 2012  13.6  149.9  163.5
At 31 December 2013 13.6 166.8 180.4

All of the Group’s goodwill relates to the 2012 acquisition of ThinkGrid (see note 12) which provides Cloud-based service 
offerings.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill might be 
impaired. The recoverable amount in relation to the ThinkGrid business has been determined from a value in use calculation. This 
calculation has been derived from cash flow forecasts based on the 2014 budget approved by the Board and management’s 
estimated cash flows for a further three years. The key assumptions are the revenue growth rate, profit margins and discount 
rate. A perpetual growth rate of 1.8% has been applied to the value in use calculation. Future revenue growth rates are based 
on the historical rate achieved by the business and plans for the business. The gross margin is expected to improve as new 
customers will be hosted on the Group’s existing data centres rather than more expensive third party data centres.

The Group has applied a pre-tax discount rate of 18.2% to these cash flow forecasts. This rate is higher than the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital to reflect the risk impact in the early stages of ThinkGrid’s life cycle.

The value in use exceeds the carrying value of the ThinkGrid business by approximately €3.5m. The following changes in 
assumptions would cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying value: 

- a reduction in the revenue growth rate in years 1 to 4 (forecast at 63% to 80%) by 2.2% or more annually;

- a reduction in the gross margin rate in years 1 to 4 (forecast at 39% to 62%) by 2.8% or more annually;

- an increase in the discount rate from the 18.2% assumption to a rate of 20.3% or more.
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11  Property, plant and equipment

Network 
infrastructure 

and 
equipment 

€m 

Computers, 
equipment, 

fixtures, 
fittings and 

vehicles 
€m

Total 
€m

Cost 
At 1 January 2012  5,181.8  244.4  5,426.2 
Additions  242.6  20.7  263.3 
Acquisition of subsidiary  –  0.1  0.1 
Disposals  (1.8)  (4.1)  (5.9)
Exchange differences  30.9  2.0  32.9 
At 31 December 2012  5,453.5  263.1  5,716.6 
Additions 231.9 44.8  276.7
Disposals (3.8) (4.3)  (8.1) 
Exchange differences (35.9) (1.8)  (37.7) 
At 31 December 2013  5,645.7  301.8  5,947.5

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2012  3,947.0  212.1  4,159.1 
Charge for the year  229.5  15.9  245.4 
Disposals  (1.2)  (4.1)  (5.3)
Exchange differences  21.0  1.6  22.6 
At 31 December 2012  4,196.3  225.5  4,421.8 
Charge for the year 232.7 12.2 244.9
Disposals (2.8) (4.2) (7.0)
Exchange differences (23.8) (4.5) (28.3)
At 31 December 2013  4,402.4  229.0  4,631.4 

Net book value 
At 1 January 2012  1,234.8  32.3 1,267.1 
At 31 December 2012 1,257.2  37.6  1,294.8 
At 31 December 2013  1,243.3  72.8  1,316.1

Included in property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2013 are payments on account and assets under construction of 
€121.6m (2012: €159.0m) and land and buildings at a cost of €108.4m (2012: €66.5m).

Impairment review
Since late July 2011 Colt Group S.A.’s market capitalisation has been below the current value of the Group’s consolidated intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment; at 31 December 2013 Colt’s market capitalisation was €1.3 billion. The Board of Directors 
assessed this impairment factor and as a result an impairment review was performed. 

The value in use calculation supported the carrying value of the Group’s intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as at 
31 December 2013. 

The value in use calculation was derived from the Group’s most recent budget approved by the Board, adjusted for IAS 36 
requirements (which require the impact of investment programmes on future growth to be disregarded within the calculation). 
The cash flow forecast is sensitive to material changes in key assumptions, including those relating to Voice, Data and Managed 
Services revenue growth, Data and Managed Services profit margins and selling, general and administrative expenses, which 
taken together are the key drivers of EBITDA. The model is also sensitive to changes in capital expenditure and the discount 
rate. Key assumptions are benchmarked against historical and external data where available. Key assumptions over the term of 
the cash flow forecast are as follows:

EBITDA growth - 2.5% per annum (results in EBITDA as a percentage of revenue in 2014 of 20.2% and in 2018 of 21.9%) 
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Capital expenditure growth - 1.2% per annum (results in capital expenditure as a percentage of revenue in 2014 of 14.1% and in 
2018 of 13.1%)

Discount rate, pre-tax - 9.5%

The above assumptions result in a value in use of €1,599.2m. The following changes in assumptions would cause the value in use 
to fall below the carrying amount (€1,482.9m) of the Group’s consolidated intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, 
plant and equipment:

EBITDA growth                               0.3 percentage points lower per annum

Capital expenditure growth            0.4 percentage points higher per annum

Discount rate, pre-tax                     Increased by 0.5 percentage points

The Group operates as one cash generating unit given that all Business Units use a shared network infrastructure to generate 
cash flows. A single rate is therefore used to discount the forecast cash flows, estimated by reference to the Group’s weighted 
average cost of capital.

12 Acquisition of subsidiaries

MarketPrizm
In June 2013, the Group acquired the remaining 19.9% interest of MarketPrizm Group S.á r.l. for a purchase consideration of €1. 
As a result the €4.9m of non-controlling interest as at June 2013 was reclassified to equity.

ThinkGrid
In August 2012, the Group acquired 100% of the voting rights of the unlisted company of Colt ThinkGrid Holdings Limited 
(formerly Fidelity Telecom Limited), the holding company of ThinkGrid, for a total consideration of €15.6m (which includes 
cash consideration of €9.2m and €6.4m of contingent consideration). During 2013, the Group paid €0.8m to the previous 
shareholders in relation to the contingent consideration and recognised a €3.9m gain in the income statement due to changes 
in the expected payments to be made under this arrangement (refer to note 25 for further details). There have been no 
subsequent adjustments to the fair value of the identifiable net assets.

13 Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Deferred tax assets 59.5  58.8 
Deferred tax liabilities (0.1)  (1.0)
Total deferred tax 59.4  57.8 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. The above analysis is the 
analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes.
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The recognised deferred tax assets are as follows:

Capital 
allowances 

less 
depreciation 

€m

Tax losses – 
without time 

limits 
€m

Retirement 
benefits

 €m

Other timing 
differences1

 €m
Total 

€m

At 1 January 2012  30.2  13.9  0.8  11.1  56.0 
Income statement (charge) credit*  0.9  2.4  –  (1.0)  2.3 
Tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive 
income  0.5  –  –  –  0.5 
At 1 January 2013  31.6  16.3  0.8  10.1  58.8 
Income statement (charge) credit* (1.9) 3.2  – 0.3 1.6
Tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive 
income (0.6)  – (0.2) (0.1) (0.9)
At 31 December 2013  29.1  19.5  0.6  10.3  59.5

* Excluding movement in relation to deferred tax liability.

1 Included within other timing differences at 31 December 2013 is €8.0m (2012: €8.1m) in respect of tax deductible goodwill. 

The Group continued to recognise a deferred tax asset in its financial statements because it was probable that future taxable 
income will arise to utilise the tax asset. The subsidiaries for which an asset is recognised have also demonstrated the required 
consistent history of profits as well as future forecasts of profits.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of €59.5m as at 31 December 2013 (2012: €58.8m). As at 31 December 2013, 
the Group has net tax losses and other tax attributes of €805.1m (2012: €773.2m) for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised. Of the total deferred tax recognised at 31 December 2013, €19.8m (2012: €19.6m) is expected to be utilised in less 
than one year and €39.7m (2012: €39.2m) in more than one year. The estimated deferred tax liabilities to materialise within 12 
months are €0.1m (2012: €0.7m).

At 31 December 2013, gross tax losses carried forward amounted to €2,670.2m (2012: €2,440.9m), of which €2,542.8m (2012: 
€2,215.0m) are not time limited and €127.4m (2012: €225.9m) are time limited. The majority of the time limited losses will expire 
in 2026. All losses must be utilised in the country in which they arose. They remain subject to legislative provisions and to 
agreement with the various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

At 31 December 2013 the Group also had other timing differences of €985.3m (2012: €1,041.0m), the majority of which have 
arisen as a result of the carrying value of fixed assets being higher for tax purposes than their value in the accounts.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised where their recovery is not deemed to be probable in the foreseeable future. The major 
components of the deferred tax asset not recognised are as follows:

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Capital allowances less depreciation 176.0  182.8
Short-term temporary differences 63.3  71.5 
Potential deferred tax asset 239.3  254.3 
Tax value of losses
 Losses – without time limits 534.6  455.4
 Losses – time expiring (within 13 years) 31.2  63.5 
Total potential deferred tax asset after addition of losses 805.1  773.2 

Legislation enacted in several countries in which the Group operates will affect the tax rate expected to apply when the deferred 
tax asset or liability in that country is settled. It is not practical to estimate the financial effect the changes will have on the 
amount of deferred tax recognised.
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14 Trade and other receivables
At 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Amounts falling due within one year: 
Trade receivables  237.0  222.8 
Provision against doubtful debts  (25.3)  (27.6)
Trade receivables – net  211.7  195.2 
Other receivables  14.6  17.4 
Prepayments and accrued income  35.6  29.6 
VAT recoverable  13.7  10.8 

 275.6  253.0 

The Group has a variety of credit terms depending on the individual arrangements with each customer. The Group has provided 
against all receivables based on an assessment of their recoverability. In most instances, Colt does not renegotiate credit terms. 

The fair value of trade receivables as at 31 December 2013 is not materially different to the carrying value.

Trade receivables with a gross value of €39.5m (2012: €43.8m) are individually determined to be partly or fully impaired as at 
the end of the reporting period. 

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:   
Balance at the beginning of the year  (27.6)  (38.3)
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable, which were previously provided for  7.9  8.2 
Amounts recovered during the year  5.5  12.6 
Provided during the year  (11.1)  (9.9)
Exchange differences —  (0.2)
Balance at the end of the year  (25.3)  (27.6)

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables the Group considers any changes in the credit quality of the trade 
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to 
the customer base being distributed over many customers, in different countries and in different industries. 

Aged analysis of trade receivables

As of 31 December 2013, trade receivables of €41.0m (2012: €43.9m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number 
of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Past due and not impaired 
Neither

past due 
nor

impaired
€m

Between 0 
and 90 days 

past due 
€m

More than 
90 days 

past due 
€m

Total
€m

Trade receivables at 31 December 2013 170.7  33.3  7.7 211.7
Trade receivables at 31 December 2012 151.3  33.8  10.1 195.2
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Trade receivables neither past due nor impaired by segment:
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Communication Services 121.2 111.4
Enterprise Services 47.1 37.0
Data Centre Services 2.4 2.9
Total 170.7 151.3

When considering the credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired the Group considers a number of 
factors. The Group has a broad and varied customer base which serves to diversify credit risk. Accordingly disclosure of these 
receivables by segment is considered the most appropriate disclosure of credit risk. In order to manage credit risk and mitigate 
the risk of bad debts the Group has a number of controls within its credit control function. These controls include setting credit 
limits, pro-actively monitoring and pursuing overdue balances and discontinuing customer services where payment has not 
been received. These controls have resulted in limiting write-offs for uncollectable accounts to less than 0.5% of revenue over 
the three-year period 2011-2013. Accordingly, there are no indications as of the reporting date that the Group’s trade receivables 
neither past due nor impaired will not be materially collectible. 

Currency profile of trade and other receivables
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Euro  182.2  173.6 
Sterling  71.3  55.3 
Swiss Franc  11.6  12.4 
Other  10.5  11.7 

 275.6  253.0 

15 Cash and cash equivalents
At 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Cash at bank and in hand  36.8  32.2 
Short-term bank deposits  158.8  247.9 

 195.6  280.1 

Cash at bank and in hand and short-term bank deposits comprises funds which the Group can access without restriction within 
a maximum of three months. During 2013, the effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 0.1% (2012: 0.4%) and at  
31 December 2013 these deposits had an average maturity of 2.1 working days (2012: 1 working day).

16 Changes in shareholders’ equity

Share capital 
The authorised share capital at 31 December 2013 consisted of 2,500,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of €0.50, of 
which 894,025,749 (2012: 892,972,579) had been issued and were fully paid-up. All shares have the same rights and entitlements.

Shares to be issued reserve 
The shares to be issued reserve of €9.5m (2012: €9.2m) represents shares to be issued under the various share option plans 
operated by the Group.

Other reserves 
Other reserves totalling €164.9m (2012: €164.9m) includes the other distributable reserve, the special reserve, the reverse 
acquisition reserve and the merger reserve:

117www.colt.net Stock code: COLT.L

O
ur

 f
in

an
ci

al
s

O
ur

 g
ov

er
na

nc
e

O
ur

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

O
ur

 b
us

in
es

s



i) Other distributable reserve 
In 2009 a reduction in nominal value of the ordinary shares resulted in a reserve of €510.4m. 

ii) Special reserve 
On 30 June 2006 Colt Group S.A. became the holding company of Colt Telecom Group plc (currently Colt Technology Services 
Group Limited) under the terms of a Scheme of Arrangement (the “Scheme”) approved by Colt plc shareholders. 

The former Colt Telecom Group plc shareholders were issued new shares in Colt Group S.A. on a one-for-three basis under the 
terms of the Scheme. Immediately preceding the Scheme, the shareholders of Colt Telecom Group plc had approved a capital 
reduction which reduced share premium by €2.9bn and reduced retained losses by €2.8bn. The excess of share premium over 
retained earnings at that date of €60.9m was transferred to a “special reserve” in the accounts of Colt Telecom Group plc which 
is not distributable to shareholders.

iii) Reverse acquisition reserve 
Immediately following the approval of the Scheme, the former shareholders of Colt Telecom Group plc held the same economic 
interest in Colt Group S.A. as they held in Colt Telecom Group plc immediately prior to its implementation. 

Accordingly, the acquisition of Colt Telecom Group plc via the Scheme has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition under 
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. For accounting purposes in a reverse acquisition, the acquirer (Colt Telecom Group plc) is the 
entity whose equity interests have been acquired and the issuing entity (Colt Group S.A.) is the acquiree. The effect of this is 
that the financial statements of the combined Group represent a continuation of Colt Telecom Group plc’s financial statements. 
The assets and liabilities of Colt Telecom Group plc have been recognised and measured in these financial statements at their 
pre-combination carrying amounts. The consolidated accumulated losses and other reserves of the combined Group are based 
on the amount of Colt Telecom Group plc’s pre-combination “total equity”.

The fair value of the consideration for the business combination, calculated in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” 
was €nil. The fair value of the net assets and liabilities of Colt Group S.A. acquired by Colt Telecom Group plc was €nil. 
Therefore, no goodwill was recognised. As a result of the combination, a reverse acquisition reserve of negative €774.5m was 
created. This has been classified as part of “other reserves” within equity.

iv) Merger reserve
Merger reserves totalling €38.3m were recognised between 1997 and 2001. 

Group Share Plan (“Option Plan”) 
Options were granted at an option price which was not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. 
All option awards since July 2003 have been subject to performance conditions. Most of the awards lapsed as the performance 
conditions were not achieved. 

Details of grants made under the Option Plan are set out below:

Date of 
grant

Exercise 
price 
(£) Dates of vesting

Date of 
expiration

Options 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted in 
the year

Exercised in 
the year

Lapsed in 
the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

July 03 2.31 July 06 to July 08 July 13  2,387,000  711,270  –  –  (711,270)  – 
Apr 04 2.52 Apr 07 to Apr 09 Apr 14  6,666  6,666  –  –  (6,666)  – 
May 04 2.31 May 07 to May 09 May 14  166,666  166,666  –  –  –  166,666 
Mar 06 2.19 Mar 09 to Mar 11 Mar 16  13,333  12,466  –  –  (6,333)  6,133 

 897,068  –  –  (724,269)  172,799 
Weighted average exercise price of options 2.30  –  – 2.31 2.31

Share options with exercise prices ranging from £2.19 to £2.31 were outstanding at the end of the year, with a weighted average 
remaining option life of 0.5 years.
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Share Grant Plan 
The Share Grant Plan provides for awards to be made over Company shares. Awards made to Executive Committee members 
are equity-settled, while awards made to other senior employees of Colt are cash-settled. These awards are aimed at attracting 
and retaining senior employees. Subject to meeting performance conditions which are challenging and reflect a real and 
meaningful improvement in performance, awards ordinarily vest three years after the date of grant.

Details of equity-settled grants made under the Share Grant Plan are set out below:

Date of 
grant

Date of 
vesting

Number 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted 
in the year

Exercised 
in the year

Lapsed 
in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

March 2010 March 2013  1,947,151  799,679  –  (447,820)  (351,859)  – 
July 2010 March 2013  126,396  50,007  –  (28,004)  (22,003)  – 
July 2011 March 2014  2,562,151  2,273,261  –  –  (482,907)  1,790,354 
February 2012 March 2015  3,078,704  2,824,596  –  –  (574,284)  2,250,312 
March 2013 March 2016  2,637,917  –  2,637,917  –  (452,000)  2,185,917 

 10,352,319  5,947,543  2,637,917  (475,824)  (1,883,053)  6,226,583 

Details of cash-settled grants made under the Share Grant Plan are set out below: 

Date of 
grant

Date of 
vesting

Number 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted 
in the year

Exercised 
in the year

Lapsed 
in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

July 2011 March 2014  4,674,462  3,838,933  –  –  (386,948)  3,451,985 
October 2011 March 2014  586,830  482,303  –  –  (482,303)  – 
February 2012 March 2015  6,032,238  5,668,055  –  –  (1,204,636)  4,463,419 
March 2013 March 2016  4,422,377  –  4,422,377  –  (526,479)  3,895,898 

 15,715,907  9,989,291  4,422,377  –   (2,600,366)  11,811,302 

A liability of €8.5m (2012: €5.3m) was recognised in respect of cash-settled awards, €3.5m has been included within current 
trade and other payables (note 18) and €5.0m has been included within other payables in non-current liabilities.  

In May 2013, a new equity-settled award was made to the Executive Committee members. The number of shares to vest is 
dependent on the level of total shareholder return growth generated on the Company’s shares over the three year period 
commencing 1 May 2013. This award has been designed to incentivise the management team to carry out Colt’s growth strategy.

Date of 
grant

Date of 
vesting

Numbers 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted 
in the year

Exercised 
in the year

Lapsed 
in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

May 2013 various1  2,634,605  –  2,634,605  –  (377,155)  2,257,450 
2,634,605  –  2,634,605  –  (377,155)  2,257,450

1 The plan’s shares vest in three tranches: one third in May 2016, one third in May 2017 and one third in May 2018.

The fair value of the options at the grant date was assessed using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The following assumptions 
were used in this model:

2013

Weighted average share price £1.16
Expected volatility 39%
Expected life  3 years 
Risk-free rate 0.31%
Expected dividend yields 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous five years.
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Share Option Plan 
The Share Option Plan is divided into two parts: the ‘Approved Part’ approved by HM Revenue & Customs in the UK for the 
purposes of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and the ‘Unapproved Part’ which is not so approved. Options are 
granted at an option price which is not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Subject to 
meeting performance conditions which are challenging and reflect a real and meaningful improvement in performance, awards 
ordinarily vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

At 31 December 2013, nil shares remained outstanding (2012: nil). During 2013, no additional shares were granted or earned.

Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 
The Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (the “SAYE Scheme”) was adopted on 28 April 2006 and operates for the 
benefit of all eligible employees. Under the SAYE Scheme, employees may save between £5 and £250 a month with a savings 
institution and are granted options to acquire shares in the Company. After a three-year period, employees can use the proceeds 
of their savings account to exercise the options at a price established at the beginning of the three-year period. 

Details of grants made under the SAYE Scheme are set out below: 

Date of 
grant

Exercise 
price (£)

Date of 
vesting

Options 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 

2012
Granted 

in the year
Exercised 

in the year1
Lapsed 

in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 

2013

December 20082  0.62 March 2013  147,304  112,986  –  (110,762)  (2,224)  –
December 2008  0.65 March 2012  1,845,922  384,324  –  (384,324)  –  – 
December 20092  1.24 March 2014  147,304  27,801  –  –  –  27,801 
December 2009  1.21 March 2013  1,845,922  667,971  –  (80,558)  (580,995)  6,418 
December 20102  1.21 March 2015 26,230 14,856  –  – (8,045) 6,811
December 2010  1.21 March 2014  571,099  355,252  –  –  (86,349)  268,903 
December 20112  0.93 March 2016  3,907  3,907  –  –  –  3,907 
December 2011  1.01 March 2015  1,462,275  1,300,813  –  (1,702)  (215,335)  1,083,776 
December 2011  1.16 March 2015  45,823  45,823 – –  (28,055)  17,768 

 2,913,733  –  (577,346)  (921,003)  1,415,384 
Weighted average exercise price of options 1.02  0.72  1.16  1.06

 1  Of the options exercised in the year, 1,702 shares were early exercised. 
 2  Each option holder entered into a four year savings contract 

Share option charge 
As described in note 1, the cost of share-based employee compensation arrangements is recognised as an employee benefit 
expense in the income statement. The ‘shares to be issued reserve’ represents the cumulative share option charge less amounts 
transferred to share premium on exercise of options.

For most grants made, the fair value has been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. There were no new options granted 
during 2012 or 2013. 

Volatility is estimated at the date of each grant with reference to the historical volatility in the Group’s share price over the 
previous two year period. In order for options to vest, participants must continue to be employed by the Group and the Group 
must meet certain non market-based performance conditions. The likelihood of these conditions being met is taken into account 
when the share option charge is calculated.

During 2013, 573,413 options were exercised. The average share price during the year was £1.15. Share options with exercise 
prices ranging from £0.93 to £1.24 were outstanding at the end of the year, with a weighted average remaining option life of  
0.9 years.
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Colt Deferred Bonus Plan 
The Colt Deferred Bonus Plan (the “Deferred Bonus Plan”) was adopted on 28 April 2006. The Deferred Share Bonus Plan allows 
grants of awards over matching shares based on shares purchased by participants with monies earned under the annual bonus 
plan. The award of matching shares is subject to performance conditions. Participants must hold the shares for three years to 
obtain matching shares. No awards were made during 2013 (2012: nil).

On 22 March 1999 an Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT”) was established, and on 31 December 2013 it held 191,856 shares (2012: 
223,852). These shares can be used to satisfy the Company’s obligations under the Deferred Bonus Plan. 31,996 shares vested in 
2013 (2012: 33,304). The market value of the shares held at 31 December 2013 was €0.3m (2012: €0.2m).

17 Non-controlling interest
€m

Balance at 31 December 2011  (1.4)
Share of loss for the year  (2.2)
Balance at 31 December 2012  (3.6)
Share of loss for the period  (1.3)
Change in proportion held by non-controlling interest  4.9 
Balance at 31 December 2013  –

In June 2013, the Group acquired the remaining 19.9% interest of MarketPrizm Group S.á r.l. for a purchase consideration of €1. 
As a result the €4.9m of non-controlling interest as at June 2013 was reclassified to equity.

18 Trade and other payables
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Trade payables  136.8  125.1 
Other payables  5.9  15.9 
Taxation and social security  33.5  37.0 
Accruals  175.2  189.1 
Deferred revenue  116.4  129.4 

 467.8  496.5 

The average credit period on purchases varies by supplier. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure 
that all payables are paid on time.

19 Provisions for other liabilities and charges
Restructuring 

€m
Property

€m
Total

£m

At 1 January 2012  7.5  25.6  33.1 
Amortisation of discount  –  0.7  0.7 
Charged (released) during the year  32.0  (2.2)  29.8 
Utilised in the year  (8.0)  (1.6)  (9.6)
Exchange difference  –  0.2  0.2 
At 31 December 2012  31.5  22.7  54.2 
Amortisation of discount  – (0.9) (0.9)
Charged (released) during the year  – 0.7 0.7
Utilised in the year  (21.3) (1.2) (22.5)
Exchange difference  – (0.1) (0.1)
At 31 December 2013  10.2  21.2  31.4 
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Restructuring provision:
The Group provides for obligations relating to restructuring activities which have been formally planned and announced and 
where implementation has commenced. The restructuring provision relates to employment termination costs to drive cost 
reductions in our legacy business. The timing of cash outflows are dependent on operational requirements, including for 
example, the timing of when replacement teams can be put in place where roles are being transitioned between countries, as 
well as the timing of agreeing final settlements with employees. The latter can also impact the amount paid.

Property provision: 
The Group provides for obligations relating to excess leased space and reinstatements of those properties. The provisions 
represent the net present value of the future estimated costs, with the unwinding of the discount included within the finance 
cost for the year. The provisions are discounted at 4.0% (2012: 4.0%). The amounts payable in relation to the provision can 
change dependent on commercial factors which affect the amount of excess leased space, including for example, the demand 
for data centre services and internal office space requirements. The timing of payments can be impacted by factors including 
the timing of the exit of property leases.

Maturity profile of provisions

Restructuring 
€m

2013
Property 

€m
Total 

€m
Restructuring 

€m

2012 
Property 

€m
Total 

€m

Within one year  10.2 3.6 13.8  31.5  9.7  41.2 
Between one and two years  – 5.6 5.6  –  1.6  1.6 
Between two and five years  – 9.9 9.9  –  8.0  8.0 
Over five years  – 2.1 2.1  –  3.4  3.4 

 10.2 21.2 31.4  31.5  22.7  54.2

The above table represents estimated maturities based on contracted property rental lease terms and estimated future 
restructuring cash outflows. The maturity profile of the property provisions was updated during the current year and certain 
amounts were reclassified from within one year to greater than one year. Prior period figures have not been restated as the 
impact is not considered material. 

20 Cash flow reconciliations

a) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash generated from operating activities 
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012 Restated
€m

Profit for the year1  38.0  25.8 
Taxation charge  4.4  3.7 
Net foreign exchange gain arising on financing activities  (3.3)  (4.8)
Finance costs1   0.7  1.9 
Finance income  (0.4)  (1.5)
Depreciation and amortisation  280.7  276.5 
Other non-cash items  1.5  1.6 
Income taxes paid  (6.0)  (4.9)
Movement in receivables  (25.1)  (4.9)
Movement in payables  (18.7)  (64.6)
Movement in provisions*  (5.3)  28.0 
Restructuring payments*  (21.3)  (8.0)
Net cash generated from operations  245.2  248.8 

1 Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised). 

* Movement in provisions excludes payments related to restructuring activities.
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b) EBITDA reconciliation
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Net cash generated from operating activities  245.2  248.8 
Exceptional items (see note 7)  –  32.0 
Movement in receivables  25.1  4.9 
Movement in payables  18.7  64.6 
Movement in provisions*  5.3  (28.0)
Restructuring payments*  21.3  8.0 
Income taxes paid  6.0  4.9 
Other non-cash items  (1.5)  (1.6)
EBITDA  320.1  333.6

EBITDA is profit before net finance costs and related foreign exchange, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.

c) Free cash flow reconciliation
Year ended 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

EBITDA  320.1  333.6 
Exceptional items (see note 7)  –  (32.0)
Movement in receivables  (25.1)  (4.9)
Movement in payables  (18.7)  (64.6)
Movement in provisions*  (5.3)  28.0 
Restructuring payments  (21.3)  (8.0)
Income taxes paid  (6.0)  (4.9)
Other non-cash items  1.5  1.6 
Finance costs paid  (1.5)  (0.8)
Finance income received  0.4  1.9 
Net cash used to purchase non-current assets  (326.9)  (306.5)
Free cash outflow  (82.8)  (56.6)

* Movement in provisions excludes payments related to restructuring activities.

Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities less net cash used to purchase non-current assets and net  
interest paid.

21  Analysis of net funds
At 

31 December 
2012 
€m

Cash flow 
€m 

Exchange 
loss 
€m 

At 
31 December 

2013 
€m 

Cash and cash equivalents  280.1  (83.3)  (1.2)  195.6 
Total net funds  280.1  (83.3)  (1.2)  195.6 
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22 Capital and other financial commitments
At 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Contracts placed for future plant and equipment capital  
expenditure not provided for in the financial statements 29.9  42.9

23 Operating lease arrangements 

The Group’s material leasing arrangements mainly relate to the rental of properties and telecommunication infrastructure. No 
contingent rent is payable or due to the Group. There are no material restrictions imposed on the Group in respect of these lease 
arrangements which have varying durations and renewal rights.

The Group as lessee

Total future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:

At 31 December 2013

Total 
€m

Within 
1 year 

€m

Between 
1 and 5 years 

€m

More than 
5 years 

€m

Property leases  194.7  33.1  97.3  64.3 
Other  4.9  2.8  1.9  0.2 

 199.6  35.9  99.2  64.5 

At 31 December 2012

Total 
€m

Within 
1 year 

€m

Between 
1 and 5 years 

€m

More than 
5 years 

€m

Property leases  182.2  34.2  96.1  51.9 
Other  5.7  3.1  2.3  0.3 

 187.9  37.3  98.4  52.2

The operating leases payments in relation to telecommunication infrastructure are cancellable so no commitments have been 
shown. 

The Group as lessor

The Group’s Data Centre Services Business Unit entered into a number of operating lease arrangements where customers pay to 
utilise the Group’s data centre facilities and specific halls have been allocated to the customer in relation to these arrangements. 
An amount of €24.0m (2012: €20.1m) has been recognised as revenue in respect of these operating leases.

Total future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases:

Year ending 31 December
2013 

€m
2012  
€m

Within one year 26.4 20.1 
Between one and five years 82.4 57.7 
More than five years 47.3 23.3 

156.1 101.1 
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24 Contingent liabilities

The Group is subject to tax audits and litigation in a number of jurisdictions. Where it is believed that this will result in an 
adverse outcome, the Group recognises the appropriate provision. Where based on expert advice we believe ultimately no 
liability will arise, no provision is recognised. 

From time to time, the Group is subject to legal or regulatory claims, proceedings, investigations or reviews, and may have 
claims against its suppliers. There is a significant dispute between mobile operators and the Italian regulator regarding charges 
for mobile termination. The mobile operators have challenged whether tariffs set by the Italian regulator were reasonable. A 
decision is expected on this case in Q1 2014. Although the risk of an unfavourable judgement is unlikely, if such a judgement 
is made Colt may have to pay retrospectively higher tariffs to mobile operators without in some cases being able to recover 
these from its customers. In the event the mobile operator challenge were to be successful, the contested tariffs would then be 
sent back to the regulator for a new determination. There are no other pending claims, proceedings, investigations or reviews 
against the Group, which if determined adversely to the Group, are expected to have a material adverse effect on its liquidity or 
operations.

During 2013, Colt issued performance based guarantees as part of normal trading for certain terms of business service contracts. 
It is unlikely that the guarantees will be endorsed. The following table summarises the significant guarantees:

Expiry date
Amount

€m

2014 5.1 
2015 0.3 
Perpetual 9.9 
Total 15.3

The Group does not expect these liabilities to crystallise and therefore has not booked a provision in relation to these balances. 

The Group holds guarantees for which financial assets are pledged as collateral, refer to note 25 for details. 

25 Financial instruments

Treasury policy
The Group operates a centralised treasury function that is accountable to the Board for managing treasury activities in 
accordance with a framework of treasury policies and procedures approved by the Board. The prime objective of the Treasury 
department is to optimise the return of the Group’s cash balances, subject to risk considerations, and to manage the working 
capital requirements of the Group. The Group’s principal financial risk exposures arise from liquidity, and volatility in foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates.

Liquidity risk 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by managing adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. The Group has financed its operations historically through a mixture of issued share capital and long term senior 
unsecured loan notes. The Group was debt-free at the end of 2013. 

Cash is invested either in AAA unsecured money market mutual funds or placed on term deposit with approved counterparties 
and approved limits to ensure access to liquid funds to match operating needs. Deposits with a maturity period of more than 
three months are classified as current asset investments. 

The Group has a €20.0m overdraft facility available immediately, which was not drawn on as at 31 December 2013 (2012: €nil). 
This facility is not subject to any covenant restrictions.
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Foreign exchange risk 
The Group’s principal revenue, costs, assets and liabilities, including inter-company debt financing were denominated in Euros 
during 2013. Of the remaining currencies, Sterling is the largest exposure along with US Dollar and Swiss Franc. The Group 
seeks to match foreign currency assets and liabilities where possible and hedging is considered for significant foreign currency 
transactions.

Average and year end Sterling to Euro exchange rates used in the preparation of the financial statements for 2012 and 2013 were 
as follows:

Average rate 
for year 

Rate as at  
31 December 

2013  1.178  1.199 
2012  1.233  1.225 

Interest rate risk
As interest is earned on short- erm cash deposits and current asset investments at variable as well as fixed rates, changes in 
interest rates will impact the amount of interest income earned. Trade receivables and payables do not present exposure to 
interest rate volatility.

Counterparty credit risk
Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to concentration of credit risk consist principally of trade and other 
receivables and cash. Cash includes short-term and money market deposits as well as liquidity funds investments, all deposited 
for up to three months. Management believes the concentration of credit risk associated with trade and other receivables is 
minimised due to distribution over many customers in different countries and in different industries. Risks associated with the 
Group’s cash is mitigated by the fact that these amounts are placed across a number of high quality financial institutions. The 
Group has not experienced any losses to date on its deposited cash or current asset investments.

Sensitivity analysis
As a result of the procedures described above the Group’s foreign currency exchange and interest rate risk generally fall within a 
normal range of 10%. A 10% increase in the value of the Euro relative to other currencies would lead to a corresponding decrease 
in the fair value of its non-Euro denominated cash and cash equivalents of approximately €4.3m (2012: €5.3m) and an increase 
in its equity translation reserve deficit of €32.0m (2012: €17.1m). A 10% increase in interest rates across all maturities would lead 
to a corresponding increase in the Company’s earnings of approximately €0.1m (2012: €0.2m) based on the interest bearing 
assets and liabilities held on 31 December 2013.

Currency profile of cash and cash equivalents 
At 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Currency: 
Euro  152.8  227.1 
Sterling  26.2  25.6 
Swiss Franc  9.0  13.5 
US Dollar  3.3  10.5 
Other  4.3  3.4 
Total  195.6  280.1

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2013 comprise a mix of investments in unsecured money market 
mutual funds which earn interest at variable rates and funds deposited for fixed periods earning higher fixed rates of interest.

The Group has €nil current asset investments as at 31 December 2013 (2012: €nil).

Group borrowings
The Group has €nil borrowings (2012: €nil).
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Categories of financial instruments 
At 31 December

2013 
€m

2012
€m

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  195.6  280.1 
Trade and other receivables 1 265.3  251.0 

 460.9  531.1 

Financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 2 322.9  330.1 

322.9  330.1

1 Excludes prepayments, accrued income and the provision against doubtful debts.  
2 Excludes provisions, current tax liabilities, other tax and social security and deferred revenue.

The maximum credit risk exposure of Group financial assets is €460.9m (2012: €531.1m).

Other financial liabilities include contingent consideration in relation to the ThinkGrid acquisition (see note 12). Movements in 
this liability were as follows: 

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

As at 1 January  6.5  – 
Amount recognised at acquisition date (see note 12)  –  6.4 
Settlement (see note 12)  (0.8)  – 
Gain recognised in the income statement  (3.9)  – 
Amortisation of discount  0.1  0.1 
Exchange differences recognised in translation reserve  (0.4)  – 
As at 31 December  1.5  6.5 

The fair value of the contingent consideration in relation to the 2012 ThinkGrid acquisition was €1.5m as at 31 December 2013. 
This assumed a discount rate of 4.0%. This financial liability has a Level 3 fair value hierarchy as the future payments are 
contingent on the ThinkGrid business achieving contractually agreed financial and non-financial targets over a two year period 
from the acquisition date of 9 August 2012. The Group has estimated the expected pay-out of the contingent consideration 
based on the latest forecasts and expected outcomes against the targets set out in the contract.

In the unlikely event that all of the remaining targets set for this contingent consideration were fully achieved, the maximum 
undiscounted future payments that the Group would be required to make under this arrangement is €5.8m. If no further targets 
were achieved the minimum payment would be €0.3m. 

The Group recognised a €3.9m gain within operating expenses due to changes in the expected payments to be made under the 
contingent consideration arrangement. This was due to a refinement of the sales strategy and delays in integrating the platform 
with Colt’s systems. These factors temporarily restricted ThinkGrid’s opportunity for revenue growth.
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The following tables set out the contractual maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities:

As at 31 December 2013
Trade 

and other
 payables* 

€m 
Provisions 

€m
Total 

€m

2014  317.9  13.8  331.7 
2015  3.4 5.6 9.0 
2016  1.6  3.8 5.4
2017  – 2.4  2.4
2018  – 3.7  3.7 
2019 and subsequent years  –  2.1 2.1
Total 322.9 31.4 354.3

* Excludes provisions, current tax liabilities, other tax and social security and deferred revenue.

As at 31 December 2012
Trade 

and other 
payables* 

€m 
Provisions 

€m
Total 

€m

2012  330.1  41.2  371.3 
2013  –  1.6  1.6 
2014  –  4.7  4.7 
2015  –  2.1  2.1 
2016  –  1.2  1.2 
2017 and subsequent years  –  3.4  3.4 
 Total  330.1  54.2  384.3 

* Excludes provisions, current tax liabilities, other tax and social security and deferred revenue.

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Financial assets pledged as collateral 
Bank guarantee deposits  4.1  4.6 
Other guarantee deposits  4.7  4.8 

 8.8  9.4 

Bank guarantee deposits are restricted cash funds and credit extensions granted by banks on a country basis. Other guarantee 
deposits are cash funds paid in advance to suppliers to secure contracts. These deposits have no expiry terms. 

Capital risk management
The following table summarises the current capital of the Group: 

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Cash and cash equivalents  195.6  280.1 
Equity  1,511.1  1,486.8 
Capital  1,405.5  1,404.3 
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The Board regularly reviews the Group’s funding and capital requirements (refer to page 46 for details). The Group’s long-term 
policy is to finance the Group centrally using a mixture of equity and debt, accessing both longer-term capital markets and 
short-term bank finance as circumstances require. However, in the short term the Group has sufficient funds to finance both 
its working capital and immediate non-current asset purchases. The Group’s capital structure is reviewed on a regular basis 
in response to business developments. The Group continues to believe that there are significant growth opportunities for the 
business and in this context has not declared a dividend in 2013.

26 Pension arrangements

Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes in its subsidiaries. Pension costs are charged to the 
income statement on an accruals basis in the period in which contributions are payable to the scheme. The pension cost for 
2013 was €19.8m (2012: €20.2m). At 31 December 2013, there were no amounts outstanding in relation to defined contribution 
pension schemes (2012: €nil).

Employees in certain subsidiaries are members of pension schemes which are state sponsored multi-employer arrangements, 
whereby Colt contributes to a combined fund in which information specific to Colt is not available. Some of these are defined 
benefit in nature, but in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee benefits”, these schemes have been accounted for as defined 
contribution schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
In Switzerland, the Group is affiliated to a collective foundation who operate a defined benefit pension scheme for Colt. Under 
this scheme employees are entitled to post-retirement benefits at a fixed rate based on their savings capital at retirement. 
Employees are also entitled to disability and death benefits defined at a percentage of the salary insured. Each affiliated 
company has a committee who agree the level of employee benefits and are responsible to the beneficiaries of the scheme. 
A board of trustees is elected out of the affiliated companies and is responsible for asset allocation and administration of 
the overall collective foundation. This scheme exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk, 
longevity risk and salary risk.

Under Swiss law when a pension scheme is in a surplus position as measured under a statutory basis, there is no minimum 
funding requirement. However, if the scheme is underfunded then the active members along with the employer are required to 
make additional contributions until such time that the pension scheme is fully funded. 

The most recent actuarial valuation for this scheme was carried out at 31 December 2013. The present value of the defined 
benefit deficit and the related current service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method resulting in a net 
defined pension deficit of €3.0m (2012: €5.4m).

The Group also operates a scheme in France whereby employees are entitled to a lump sum payable on retirement based on 
final salary and length of service. No payments are made during the employee’s service life; therefore, no assets are built up in 
the fund and the scheme contains only liabilities for future payments. The liability is not material, but for consistency with the 
Swiss scheme, has been accounted for as defined benefit in nature. The most recent actuarial valuation for this scheme was 
carried out at 31 December 2013 and produced a defined benefit pension liability of €1.9m and an actuarial gain of €0.4m during 
2013 (2012: €0.8m loss). Since the scheme has only an immaterial liability with no corresponding pension scheme assets, no 
further detailed disclosures regarding the scheme have been provided in this note.

In the current period, the Group adopted IAS 19 (amended) “Employee benefits” retrospectively, which resulted in a restatement 
of prior year comparatives. The interest cost and expected return on the scheme’s assets used in the previous standard has been 
replaced with a “net-interest” amount under IAS 19 (as revised in June 2011) which is calculated by applying a discount rate to 
the net defined benefit liability. As a result, in 2012 the interest income on the scheme’s assets is €0.3m lower while the actuarial 
loss on scheme assets is €0.3m lower than previously reported. There is no effect on the prior year defined benefit scheme 
obligation or the disclosure in the statement of financial position.
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The pension liability is composed as follows:

At 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

French scheme  1.9  2.2 
Swiss scheme  3.0  5.4 
Total liability  4.9  7.6 

In 2013 a €3.6m gain (2012: €1.0m loss) has been recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the remeasurement of 
the Group’s net defined benefit obligations.

Swiss scheme
The following key actuarial assumptions were used for the purpose of the actuarial valuation:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

%
2012

%

Discount rate  2.00  1.75 
Future pension increases  0.25  0.50 
Expected rate of salary increases  2.00  2.00 

Mortality tables used are the “BVG” 2010 tables which consider mortality improvements. The assumed average life expectancy 
of a pensioner at retirement is 24.8 years for women (2012: 24.7 years) and 21.3 years for men (2012: 21.2 years). 

Measurement of the defined benefit pension obligation is particularly sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions. The 
sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end 
of the reporting period assuming that all other assumptions are held constant:

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on defined benefit scheme 

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.25% Decrease/increase by €0.9m 
Rate of pension growth Increase/decrease by 0.25% Increase/decrease by €0.7m 
Rate of mortality Increase by one year Increase by €0.7m

The amounts expensed in the income statement in respect of the defined benefit scheme are set out below:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012 Restated

€m

Current service cost  2.3  2.7
Past service cost  0.5  0.3
Gain on curtailment  –  (0.8) 
Interest cost on defined benefit scheme  0.5  0.6
Interest income on the scheme’s assets  (0.4)  (0.5)* 

 2.9  2.3

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised), see note 1.

Current and past service costs and the gain on the curtailment have been included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses. The past service costs relate to plan amendments which took place in 2013 and allows employees to increase their 
savings contribution and also increased the old-age benefits of new pensioners. 

Interest costs and interest income have been included in other finance costs (see note 6). 
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The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of defined benefit 
retirement schemes is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

Present value of defined benefit obligations  (29.0)  (29.6)
Fair value of scheme assets  26.0  24.2 
Net liability recognised in balance sheet  (3.0)  (5.4)
Deferred tax asset  0.6  1.1 
Net pension obligation  (2.4)  (4.3)

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012
€m

At beginning of year  (29.6)  (28.5)
Current service cost  (2.3)  (2.7)
Past service cost  (0.5)  (0.3)
Gain on curtailment  –  0.8 
Interest cost  (0.5)  (0.6)
Employee contributions  (0.2)  – 
Benefits paid out  2.1  2.0 
Actuarial gains and experience adjustments  1.5  – 
Exchange differences   0.5  (0.3)
At end of year  (29.0)  (29.6)

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2013 

€m
2012 Restated

€m

At beginning of year  24.2  23.6 
Interest income  0.4  0.5*
Employer contributions  2.0  2.1 
Employee contributions  0.2  – 
Benefits paid out  (2.1)  (2.0)
Actuarial gain (losses)  1.7  (0.2)*
Exchange differences  (0.4)  0.2 
At end of year  26.0  24.2

Allocated as follows: 
Cash  0.5  0.2 
Bonds  13.1  13.4 
Equities  6.9  5.4 
Property  3.6  4.1 
Other  1.9  1.1 

 26.0  24.2

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised), see note 1.

Virtually all of the assets have quoted prices in active markets or are daily traded. 
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The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income were as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2013

 
€m

2012 Restated
€m

Experience adjustments on the defined benefit obligations  (0.1)  1.3 
Actuarial gain (losses) arising from changes in the financial assumptions on scheme liabilities  1.6  (1.3)
Actuarial gain (losses) on plan assets  1.7  (0.2)
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability  3.2  (0.2)

The cumulative remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability recognised in the statement of comprehensive income is a 
loss of €2.2m (2012 restated: €5.4m loss).

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 12.7 years (2012: 13.2 years). 

The Group expects to make a cash contribution of €1.9m to the defined benefit scheme during the next financial year.

27 Transactions with related entities

Pursuant to a contract with the Group, certain FMR LLC (“FMR”) and Devonshire Investors UK Limited (“DI UK”) employees 
provide consulting and other services to the Group at agreed rates. The fees for these services for the year ended 31 December 
2013 were approximately €3.7m (2012: €3.9m) for FMR/DI UK employees, which include Colt’s two Executive Directors. At  
31 December 2013, net of tax recharges, there was an outstanding balance due to FMR of €0.5m (2012: €0.7m).

An amount of €6.7m (2012: €6.9m) was billed during 2013 to FIL Limited (“FIL”) and its subsidiaries for Voice, Data and 
Managed Services. An amount of €0.2m (2012: €0.2m) was billed to FIL and its subsidiaries for property sublet rent. At 31 
December 2013 there were balances outstanding from FIL and its subsidiaries of €0.5m (2012: €0.3m).

During the year an amount of €0.7m (2012: €0.3m) was paid to FIL and its subsidiaries for software and support services and at 
31 December 2013 €0.6m (2012: €nil) was due to FIL.

The Group periodically places funds with FIL in unsecured money market mutual funds. At 31 December 2013, the Group placed 
€3.3m with FIL (2012: €10.5m).

An amount of €1.7m was billed during the four months to April 2013 (2012 full year: €3.4m) to HR Access, a former subsidiary of 
FMR, for Data services. An amount of €nil (2012 full year: €0.1m) was also billed to HR Access for property sublet rent during the 
four months to April 2013.

During the year the Group billed KVH, which is a majority owned subsidiary of FMR, €3.2m (2012: €2.8m) mainly in respect of 
offshoring services as part of a Business Process outsourcing contract, while the Group was billed €1.9m in 2013 (2012: €1.8m) by 
KVH in respect of connectivity and network services provided to Colt. KVH employees provided consulting and other services to 
the Group for fees of €0.2m in 2013 (2012: €0.4m). Colt employees provided services to KVH for €0.4m in 2013 (2012: €0.3m). 
At 31 December 2013 €1.0m was due from KVH (2012: €1.4m) and €1.0m (2012: €1.2m) was due to KVH.

FIL (Luxembourg) S.A., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of FIL, provides administrative and domiciliation services to Colt. The 
total charges aggregate to €0.1m in 2013 (2012: €0.1m). 

Related parties due to common ownership in acquired MarketPrizm entities
An amount of €1.5m (2012 full year: €6.5m) was billed during the five months to 31 May 2013 to Nomura Group and its 
subsidiaries for Voice, Data and Managed Services. Purchases for this five month period in 2013 amounted to €nil (2012 full year: 
€0.2m).  In June 2013 MarketPrizm became a 100% subsidiary of Colt.
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28 Subsidiary undertakings

The Company is the holding company of the Group and has the following principal operating subsidiary undertakings, each 
of which is a private company operating in its country of incorporation. The Company holds 100% of the allotted capital of 
all of its operating subsidiaries through intermediate holding companies. All operating subsidiaries’ results are included in the 
consolidated financial statements. The financial year end of all subsidiary undertakings is 31 December with the exception of Colt 
Technology Services India Private Limited which is 31 March.

Name
Country of  
incorporation Principal activities

Share- 
holding

Colt Technology Services Group Limited United Kingdom Management, administration and treasury services 100%

Colt Technology Services (unlimited company) United Kingdom Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services GmbH Germany Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services France Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Telecom Services AG Switzerland Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services S.p.A. Italy Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services S.A.U. Spain Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services B.V. The Netherlands Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services N.V. Belgium Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services GmbH Austria Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services A.B. Sweden Telecommunications services provider 100%

Colt Internet US Corp. USA Intra Group Internet services provider 100%

Colt Telecom US Corp. USA Intra Group telecommunications services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services A/S Denmark Intra Group telecommunications services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services A.S. Norway Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services, Unipessoal Lda Portugal Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services Limited Ireland Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services OY Finland Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Colt Technology Services India Private Limited India Intra Group support services 100%

Colt Technology Services RO SRL (formerly 
known as Long Line SRL) 

Romania Telecommunications and Internet services provider 100%

Spire Technology Welwyn Limited Partnership Jersey Data centre provider 100%

Colt Data Centre Services UK Limited United Kingdom Data centre provider 100%

MarketPrizm B.V. The Netherlands High performance market data feed handling 100%

ThinkGrid Limited United Kingdom Cloud platform provider 100%

A full listing of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings is available at the registered office of the Company. 
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Consolidated income statement (after exceptional items)
 

Year ended 31 December
2009 

€m
2010 

€m 
2011
€m

2012
€m

2013
£m

Revenue  1,622.5  1,583.6  1,554.3  1,594.6  1,575.8

Cost of sales 
 Interconnect and network  (964.6)  (916.2)  (883.9)  (931.8)  (942.9)
 Network depreciation  (198.0)  (206.3)  (212.1)  (229.5)  (232.7)

 (1,162.6)  (1,122.5)  (1,096.0)  (1,161.3)  (1,175.6)

Gross profit 459.9  461.1  458.3  433.3  400.2

Operating expenses 
 Selling, general and administrative  (339.2)  (367.3)  (338.4)  (361.2)  (312.8)
 Other depreciation and amortisation  (34.4)  (43.3)  (53.0)  (47.0)  (48.0)

 (373.6)  (410.6)  (391.4)  (408.2)  (360.8)

Operating profit  86.3  50.5  66.9  25.1  39.4

Other income (expense) 
 Finance income  4.1  3.6  3.0  1.5  0.4 
 Finance costs  (9.0)  (4.9)  (1.1)  (1.9)*  (0.7)
 Net foreign exchange (loss) gain arising on financing activities  13.3  (2.2)  3.2  4.8  3.3 

 8.4  (3.5)  5.1  4.4 3.0

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  94.7  47.0  72.0  29.5  42.4 
Taxation  26.9  24.2  (9.7)  (3.7)  (4.4)
Profit for the year  121.6  71.2  62.3  25.8  38.0 

Basic earnings per share  €0.14  €0.08  €0.07  €0.03  €0.04

Diluted earnings per share  €0.14  €0.08  €0.07  €0.03  €0.04

Operating profit after exceptional items  86.3  50.5  66.9  25.1  39.4

Exceptional items: 
 Cost of sales  –  2.3  –  14.2  – 
 Selling, general and administrative  –  27.8  –  17.8  – 
Operating profit before exceptional items  86.3  80.6  66.9  57.1  39.4 

EBITDA1  318.7  330.2  332.0  333.6  320.1 

1 EBITDA is profit for the year before net finance costs and related foreign exchange, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.

* Restated as the Group adopted IAS 19 (revised).
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Consolidated statement of financial position

At 31 December
2009 

€m
2010 

€m 
2011
€m

2012 
€m

2013
£m

Non-current assets 1,315.6 1,439.1 1,449.0 1,517.1 1,556.0
Current assets 568.3 566.6 589.7 533.1 471.2
Total assets 1,883.9 2,005.7 2,038.7 2,050.2 2,027.2

Total equity 1,273.2 1,371.2 1,448.2 1,483.2 1,511.1
Total liabilities excluding provisions for other liabilities and 
charges 570.9 576.6 557.4 512.8 484.7
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 39.8 57.9 33.1 54.2 31.4
Total liabilities, capital and reserves 1,883.9 2,005.7 2,038.7 2,050.2 2,027.2

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December

2009 
€m

2010 
€m 

2011
€m

2012 
€m

2013
£m

Net cash generated from operating activities  321.6  279.7  320.7  248.8  245.2 
Net cash used in investing activities*  (321.7)  (331.8)  (186.7)  (253.8)  (327.3)
Finance costs*  (8.5)  (2.4)  (0.7)  (0.8)  (1.5)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares  –  –  –  0.7  0.3 
Open Offer proceeds net of costs recognised directly in equity  186.6  –  –  –  – 
Exceptional foreign exchange gain on Open Offer proceeds  9.7  –  –  –  – 
Redemption of debt  (262.2)  –  –  –  – 
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  (74.5)  (54.5)  133.3  (5.1)  (83.3)

Free cash inflow (outflow)  101.4  49.0  43.3  (56.6)  (82.8)

*  Historical comparatives for finance income received have been restated from net finance costs to net cash used in investing activities.

Five year summary (unaudited) / continued
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Directors’ report

Overview
Colt Group S.A. (“the Company”), is the parent company of 
the Colt Group S.A. Group. The Company, together with its 
subsidiaries, is referred to as “Colt” or “the Group”. The Group 
is a leading provider of business communications offering 
Data, Voice and Managed Services to customers across 
Europe. Colt S.A. was incorporated in Luxembourg on 13 April 
2006 and is listed on the London Stock Exchange. 

Colt has evolved from its origins as a UK-centric business to a 
pan European multinational business. With over 74% of Colt’s 
revenue and 62% of its network assets based in mainland 
Europe and a significant number of key pan European 
customers, the business is best served with a holding company 
domiciled in mainland Europe, and in a country with strong EU 
credentials.

Financial performance and position
The Company is the holding company for the Group and as 
such it does not trade on its own account. The Company 
publishes consolidated accounts which contain the full 
consolidated results of the Group.

The Group generated total revenue of €1,575.8m (2012: 
€1,594.6m), EBITDA of €320.1m (2012: €333.6m) and a net 
profit excluding exceptional items of €38.0m (2012: €57.8m). 
The Group had total assets at 31 December 2013 of €2,027.2m 
(2012: €2,050.2m) and net assets of €1,511.1m (2012: €1,483.2m).

The Company had total assets at 31 December 2013 of 
€1,371.4m (2012: €1,371.2m) including €1,371.2m (2012: 
€1,371.2m) of investments in subsidiaries.

The net loss of Colt S.A. for the year ended 31 December 2013 
was €2.2m (2012: €1.5m). 

Shares in affiliated undertakings
Since July 2011 Colt Group S.A.’s market capitalisation 
has been below the carrying value of shares in affiliated 
undertakings except for a period in June 2012; at 31 December 
2013 the fair value of Colt Lux Holding S.à.r.l. derived from 
Colt Group’s market capitalisation was €1.3 bn. The Board of 
Directors assessed this impairment factor and as a result a 
value in use (discounted cash flow) calculation was prepared.

The Board of Directors have noted the continued relatively high 
levels of volatility across the European stock markets in 2013 
driven by macroeconomic factors. Given this context the Board 
of Directors do not believe that the deficit between the Group’s 
market capitalisation and the carrying value of Colt Group S.A. 
shares in affiliated undertakings has existed for a sufficient 
period of time to indicate that there has been a durable 
depreciation in value. In addition, the Board of Directors have 
assessed the appropriateness of the carrying value of shares 
in associated undertakings by reference to the value in use 
calculation; this calculation fully supports the carrying value.

Equity
Colt Group S.A. had issued share capital and share premium at  
31 December 2013 of €1,405.5m divided into 894,025,749 fully 
paid shares with a nominal value of €0.50 per share. As at  
31 December 2013, the Company did not directly hold any of 
its own shares. 

Internal controls and processes
The Group’s back office accounting processes are principally 
performed at a shared service centre in India. The key financial 
controls include but are not limited to the review of balances 
against budget, forecast and previous periods, delegated 
and defined authority levels, segregation of duties, various 
reconciliations and system-based controls.

Likely future developments
The Group continues to focus on its core strategy of increasing 
revenue from Data and Managed Services whilst maintaining 
tight control over operating costs.

Board of Directors
The following people were Directors of the Company during 
the year ended 31 December 2013 and up to the date of this 
report unless otherwise specified:

A Barth 
R Bhasin 
V Damiani 
M Ferrari  
G Gabbard 
S Giacoletto  
S Haslam 
T Hilton  
K Innes Ker (appointed on 1 September 2013) 
A Rabin 
L Trainer (appointed on 1 December 2013) 
M Wilens

Corporate governance declaration
Information on the corporate governance framework adopted 
by the Board and various corporate governance declarations 
are reported separately in the Corporate Governance 
Statement on page 60 of the Colt Group S.A. Annual Report 
2013 and published on www.colt.net.

Article 11 report
The following disclosures are made in compliance with Article 
11 of the Luxembourg Law on Take Overs of 19 May 2006.

a) Share capital structure
Colt Group S.A. has issued one class of shares which are 
admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange. No other 
securities have been issued by Colt Group S.A. The issued share 
capital of Colt Group S.A. as of 31 December 2013 amounts to 
€1,405,545,844 represented by 894,025,749 shares. Colt Group 
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S.A. has a total authorised share capital of €1,250,000,000. All 
shares issued by Colt Group S.A. have equal rights as set forth 
in the articles of association of Colt Group S.A.

b) Transfer restrictions
As of the AGM 2013, all the Colt Group S.A. shares are 
freely transferable but shall be subject to the restrictions 
on shareholdings set forth in Chapter 8 of the Articles of 
Association.

c) Major shareholdings
The details of shareholders holding more than 3% of issued 
share capital of Colt Group S.A. as known to Colt Group S.A. 
are set forth on page 57. 

d) Special control rights
The issued and outstanding shares of Colt Group S.A. all have 
equal voting rights and there are no special control rights 
attached to shares of Colt Group S.A. 

e) Control system in employee share scheme
Colt Group S.A. is not aware of any issues regarding  
section e) of Article 11 of the Luxembourg Law on Take Overs 
of 19 May 2006.

f) Voting rights
Each share issued and outstanding in Colt Group S.A. 
represents one vote. The Articles do not provide for any 
voting restrictions. In accordance with the Articles, a record 
date for the admission to a general meeting may be set 
and certificates for the shareholdings and proxies shall be 
received by the Company a certain time before the date of the 
relevant meeting. In accordance with the Articles, the Board of 
Directors may determine such other conditions that must be 
fulfilled by shareholders for them to take part in any meeting 
of shareholders in person or by proxy. Additional provisions 
may apply under Luxembourg law. Luxembourg legislation 
requires shareholders to register their intention to vote at 
least 14 days before the date of the meeting. In accordance 
with Article 28 of the law on transparency obligations of 
securities issuers dated 11 January 2008 (the “Transparency 
Law”), as long as the notice of crossing of major holding in 
the Company required in accordance with the Transparency 
Law has not been notified to the Company in the manner 
prescribed, the exercise of voting rights relating to the shares 
exceeding the fraction that should have been notified is 
suspended. The suspension of the exercise of voting rights 
is lifted the moment the shareholder makes the notification 
provided for in the Transparency Law.

g) Shareholders’ agreements with transfer restrictions
Colt Group S.A. has no information about any agreements 
between shareholders, which may result in restrictions on the 
transfer of securities or voting rights. 

h) Appointment of Board members, amendment of Articles  
of Association
The appointment and replacement of Board members and 
the amendment of Articles of Association are governed by 
Luxembourg Law and the Articles of Association (in particular 
Chapters 3 and 4) that are published on www.colt.net.

i) Powers of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers to 
manage the business of the Company and to authorise and 
perform all acts of disposal and administration falling within 
the purposes of the Company.

In common with the Articles of Association of other 
Luxembourg public limited companies, the Company’s Articles 
of Association provide full power to the Board to issue shares 
on a non-pre-emptive basis, but the Board has confirmed that, 
as a matter of policy it intends to comply with the pre-emption 
guidelines supported by the Association of British Insurers 
and the National Association of Pension Funds to the extent 
practical for a Luxembourg company. Furthermore, the Board 
may purchase, acquire or receive Colt Group S.A.’s own shares 
in the Company up to 10% of the issued share capital from 
time to time on behalf of Colt Group S.A., subject to prior 
authorisation by the General Meeting of shareholders and on 
such terms as the Board may decide in accordance with the law. 

j) Significant agreements
The Board of Directors is not aware of any significant 
agreements to which Colt Group S.A. is a party and which 
take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the 
Company following a takeover bid, and the effects thereof. 

k) Agreements with Directors and employees
No agreements between Colt Group S.A. and its Board 
members or employees exist that provide for compensation 
if the Board members or employees resign or are made 
redundant without valid reason or if their employment ceases 
because of a takeover bid or other than as disclosed in the 
Remuneration Report on page 85. 

The annual accounts on pages 140 to 148 were approved by 
the Board of Directors on 26 February 2014 and signed on 
their behalf by:

Rakesh Bhasin 
Chief Executive Officer

Directors’ report / continued
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Independent auditor’s report  
to the shareholders of Colt Group S.A.

Audit report 
To the shareholders of Colt Group S.A. 

Report on the annual accounts
We have audited the accompanying annual accounts of Colt 
Group S.A., which comprise the balance sheet as at  
31 December 2013 and the profit and loss account for the year 
then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the 
annual accounts
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these annual accounts in accordance with 
Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to 
the preparation of the annual accounts and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual accounts that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the “Réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé”
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual 
accounts based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the “Commission de Surveillance 
du Secteur Financier”. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual accounts are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
annual accounts. The procedures selected depend on the 
judgment of the “Réviseur d’entreprises agréé”, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
annual accounts, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the “Réviseur d’entreprises agréé” 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the annual accounts in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual accounts.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the annual accounts give a true and fair  
view of the financial position of Colt Group S.A. as of  
31 December 2013, and of the results of its operations for the 
year then ended in accordance with Luxembourg legal and 
regulatory requirements relating to the preparation of the 
annual accounts.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
The Directors’ report, which is the responsibility of the Board 
of Directors, is consistent with the annual accounts.

The accompanying Corporate Governance Statement on 
pages 60 to 73 which is the responsibility of the Board of 
Directors is consistent with the annual accounts and includes 
the information required by the law with respect to the 
Corporate Governance Statement.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Société coopérative 
Luxembourg, 26 February 2014 
Represented by

Gilles Vanderweyen
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Balance sheet

Year ended 31 December

Notes
2013 

€
2012

€

ASSETS
C. Fixed assets
  III. Financial fixed assets
    1. Shares in affiliated undertakings 3 1,371,214,106 1,371,214,106 

D. Current assets
  II. Debtors
   2. Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings

    a) becoming due and payable within one year 4 157,032 —
   4. Other receivables
    a) becoming due and payable within one year 4 25,709 9,620 
 IV. Cash at bank — 681 

E. Prepayments 5 24,060 12,087 
 

Total assets  1,371,420,907 1,371,236,494 

LIABILITIES
A. Capital and reserves
  I. Subscribed capital 6 447,012,875 446,486,289 
  II Share premium and similar premiums 7 958,532,969 957,796,366 
  IV Reserves
   4. Other reserves  9 510,395,682 510,395,682 
  V. Loss brought forward 9 (552,540,873) (551,037,520)
  VI. Loss for the financial year 9 (2,185,827) (1,503,353)

D. Non subordinated debts
  6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings
   a) becoming due and payable within one year 10 9,871,136 8,375,016 
  9. Other creditors
   a) becoming due and payable within one year 10 334,945 724,014 

Total liabilities  1,371,420,907 1,371,236,494 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these annual accounts. 
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Profit and loss account

Year ended 31 December

Notes
2013 

€
2012

€

A. CHARGES
  3. Staff expenses
    a) Salaries and wages 11 426,667 413,109 

  5. Other operating charges 13 1,229,210 840,972 

  8. Interest payable and other financial charges
    a) concerning affiliated undertakings 529,950 249,272 

Total charges  2,185,827 1,503,353 

B. INCOME
  12. Loss for the financial year 2,185,827 1,503,353 

Total income  2,185,827 1,503,353

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these annual accounts.
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Notes to the annual accounts

1 General information

Colt Group S.A. (“the Company”) was incorporated on 13 April 2006 and is organised under the laws of Luxembourg as a 
“société anonyme” for an unlimited period of time. The status of the Company was changed on 27 June 2006 to become 
a billionaire 1929 Company in accordance with the law of 31 July 1929 concerning the fiscal regime of Holding companies. 
Following changes to the law in July 2006 this status expired on 1 January 2011 and the Company became fully taxable in 
Luxembourg. The Company has its registered office at K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg. 

The Company’s financial year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December of each year.

The main activities of the Company are: participation in any manner in all commercial, industrial, financial and other enterprises 
of Luxembourg or foreign nationality through the acquisition by participation, subscription, purchase, option or by any other 
means of all shares, stocks, debentures, bonds or securities; the acquisition of patents and licenses which it will administer 
and exploit; it may lend or borrow with or without security, provided that any monies so borrowed may only be used for the 
purposes of the Company, or companies which are subsidiaries of or associated with or affiliated to the Company; in general it 
may undertake any operations directly or indirectly connected with these objects.

The Company also prepares consolidated financial statements, which are published according to the provisions of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations as endorsed by the EU and in accordance with Luxembourg laws 
and regulations. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements under the historical 
cost conventions. Accounting policies and valuation rules are, besides the ones laid down by the Law of 19 December 2002, 
determined and applied by the Board of Directors.

The preparation of the annual accounts requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the Board 
of Directors to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have 
a significant impact on the annual accounts in the period in which the assumptions changed. Management believes that the 
underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the annual accounts therefore present the financial position and results fairly.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial 
year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

2.2 Significant accounting policies
The main valuation rules applied by the Company are the following:

2.2.1 Financial fixed assets
Shares in affiliated undertakings held as financial fixed assets are valued at purchase price including the expenses incidental 
thereto. In case of a durable depreciation in value according to the opinion of the Board of Directors, value adjustments are 
made in respect of financial fixed assets, so that they are valued at the lower figure to be attributed to them at the balance sheet  
date. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value adjustments were made have ceased to 
apply.

Details of the Company’s direct subsidiary undertakings are set out in note 3 to the annual accounts.

2.2.2 Debtors
Debtors are valued at their nominal value. They are subject to value adjustments where their recovery is compromised. These 
value adjustments are not continued if the reason for which the value adjustments were made have ceased to apply. 

2.2.3 Foreign currency translation
The Company maintains its books and records in Euros. The balance sheet is expressed in this currency.
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Transactions expressed in currencies other than Euro are translated into Euro at the exchange rate effective at the time of the 
transaction. Formation expenses, intangible, tangible and financial fixed assets denominated in currencies other than the Euro 
are translated into Euro at the exchange rate effective at the time of the transaction. At the balance sheet date, these assets 
remain translated at their historical exchange rates.

Cash at bank is translated at the exchange rate effective at the balance sheet date. Exchange losses and gains are recorded in 
the profit and loss account of the year. 

Other assets and liabilities are translated respectively at the lower or at the higher of the value converted at the historical 
exchange rate or the value determined on the basis of the exchange rate effective at the balance sheet date. The unrealised 
exchange losses are recorded in the profit and loss account and the unrealised exchange gains are not recognised until the 
moment of their realisation. Where there is an economic link between an asset and a liability, these are valued in total according 
to the method described above and the net unrealised losses are recorded in the profit and loss account and the net unrealised 
gains are not recognised. 

2.2.4 Prepayments
These asset items include expenditure incurred during the financial year but relating to a subsequent financial year. 

2.2.5 Debt
Debts are recorded at their repayment value. 

3 Financial fixed assets
Affiliated 

Undertaking 
Shares 

€
Total 

€

Gross book value – opening and closing balance 1,908,082,249 1,908,082,249

Accumulated value adjustment – opening and closing balance (536,868,143) (536,868,143)

Net book value – closing balance 1,371,214,106 1,371,214,106

Net book value – opening balance 1,371,214,106 1,371,214,106

Undertakings in which the Company holds at least 20% share capital or in which it is a general partner are as follows:

Name of the undertaking Registered Office Ownership %
Last balance 

sheet date

Net equity at the 
balance sheet date 

of the Company† 
€

Loss for the last 
financial year† 

€ 

COLT Lux Holding S.à r.l. Luxembourg* 100 31 December 2013 1,370,496,929 (146,047)

* K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg. 
† Unaudited. 

All subsidiaries have a balance sheet date of 31 December.

Indicator of impairment
Since July 2011 Colt Group S.A.’s market capitalisation has been below the carrying value of shares in affiliated undertakings 
except for a period in June 2012; at 31 December 2013 the fair value of Colt Lux Holding S.à.r.l. derived from Colt Group’s market 
capitalisation was €1.3 bn. The Board of Directors assessed this impairment factor and as a result a value in use (discounted cash 
flow) calculation was prepared.
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The Board of Directors have noted the continued relatively high levels of volatility across the European stock markets in 2013 
driven by macroeconomic factors. Given this context the Board of Directors do not believe that the deficit between the Group’s 
market capitalisation and the carrying value of Colt Group S.A. shares in affiliated undertakings has existed for a sufficient 
period of time to indicate that there has been a durable depreciation in value. In addition, the Board of Directors have assessed 
the appropriateness of the carrying value of shares in associated undertakings by reference to the value in use calculation; this 
calculation fully supports the carrying value.

4 Debtors 

Amounts due and payable for the accounts shown under ‘debtors’ are as follows: 

Within one year 
€

Total 
31 December 2013 

€

Total 
31 December 2012

 €

Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings 157,032 157,032 —
Other receivables 25,709 25,709  9,620
Total 182,741 182,741 9,620

Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings consist of trading balances which are non-interest bearing. All amounts are due within 
one year.

5 Prepayments

Prepayments are mainly composed of subscription fees paid in 2013, but relating to the 2014 period.

6 Subscribed capital

The Company’s subscribed capital amounts to €447,012,875 and is divided into 894,025,749 ordinary shares fully paid up with a 
nominal value of €0.50 each. The authorised share capital at 31 December 2013 amounts to €1,250,000,000. All shares have the 
same rights and entitlements.

The movements on ‘Subscribed capital’ item during the year are as follows:

Subscribed 
capital

€
Number of 

Ordinary shares

Subscribed capital opening balance 446,486,289 892,972,579 
Subscriptions for the year 526,586 1,053,170
Subscribed capital closing balance 447,012,875 894,025,749

During the year the Company issued 1,053,170 number of shares (2012: 1,329,287) with an associated value of €526,586 (2012: 
€664,643) arising from the exercising of share options in the Company, refer to note 16 for details.

7 Share premium and similar premiums 

The movements on the ‘Share premium and similar premiums’ item during the year are as follows:

Share premium 
€

Share premium and similar premiums – opening balance 957,796,366
Movements for the period 736,603
Share premium and similar premiums – closing balance 958,532,969

The movements for the year on the share premium and similar premiums item corresponds to the decisions taken by the Board 
of Directors (held on 25 April 2013) to issue share capital in the Company arising from the exercising of share options in the 
Company, refer to note 16 for details. 

Notes to the annual accounts / continued
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8 Legal reserve

The Company is required to allocate a minimum of 5% of its annual net income to a legal reserve until this reserve equals 10% of 
the subscribed share capital. This reserve may not be distributed. No amounts have been transferred to a legal reserve during 
the current or prior periods as the Company has not yet made a profit. 

9 Movement for the year on the reserves and profit and loss items

In 2009 a reduction in nominal value of the ordinary shares in Colt Group S.A. resulted in a reserve of €510,395,682. 

The movements for the year are as follows:

Legal reserve 
€

Other reserves 
€

Loss brought
 forward 

€
Loss for the

financial year €

As at 31 December 2012 – 510,395,682 (551,037,520) (1,503,353)
Movements for the period:
 Allocation of the previous year’s losses – – (1,503,353) 1,503,353
 Loss for the year – – – (2,185,827)
As at 31 December 2013 – 510,395,682 (552,540,873) (2,185,827)

10 Non-subordinated debts 

Amounts due and payable for the accounts shown under ‘Non subordinated debts’ are as follows: 

Within one year 
€

Total 
31 December 2013 

€

Total 
31 December 2012

 €

Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings 9,871,136 9,871,136 8,375,016
Other creditors 334,945 334,945 724,014
Total 10,206,081 10,206,081 9,099,030

Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings consist of trading balances which are non-interest bearing and loans which are interest 
bearing. All amounts are due and payable within one year.

11 Emoluments granted to the members of the Board of Directors

The emoluments granted to the members of the Board of Directors in that capacity for the financial year are broken down as 
follows:

2013 
€

2012
 €

Emoluments
Board of Directors 426,667 413,109
Total 426,667 413,109

12 Related financial party transactions

The only related party transactions during the period relate to movements in loan balances and interest paid of €529,950 (2012: 
€249,272) to subsidiary undertakings within the Group. 

13 Other operating charges

Other operating charges includes professional fees, travel costs and other miscellaneous items.
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14 Auditor fees

The total fees accrued by the Company and paid to the auditor are presented as follows:

2013 
€

2012
 €

Audit fees 58,000 58,482
Other fees 9,927 –
Total 67,927 58,482

15 Taxes

The Company is subject in Luxembourg to the applicable general tax regulations. 

16 Off balance sheet commitments

The financial commitments of the Company are shares to be issued under the various share option plans operated by the 
Company.

Share option plans
Group Share Plan (“Option Plan”) 
Options were granted at an option price which was not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. 
All option awards since July 2003 have been subject to performance conditions. Most of the awards lapsed as the performance 
conditions were not achieved. 

Details of grants made under the Option Plan are set out below:

Date of 
grant

Exercise 
price 
(£) Dates of vesting

Date of 
expiration

Options 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted in 
the year

Exercised in 
the year

Lapsed in 
the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

July 03 2.31 July 06 to July 08 July 13  2,387,000  711,270  –  –  (711,270)  – 
Apr 04 2.52 Apr 07 to Apr 09 Apr 14  6,666  6,666  –  –  (6,666)  – 
May 04 2.31 May 07 to May 09 May 14  166,666  166,666  –  –  –  166,666 
Mar 06 2.19 Mar 09 to Mar 11 Mar 16  13,333  12,466  –  –  (6,333)  6,133 

 897,068  –  –  (724,269)  172,799 
Weighted average exercise price of options 2.30  –  – 2.31 2.31

Share options with exercise prices ranging from £2.19 to £2.31 were outstanding at the end of the year, with a weighted average 
remaining option life of 0.5 years.

Share Grant Plan 
The Share Grant Plan provides for awards to be made over Company shares. Awards made to Executive Committee members 
are equity-settled, while awards made to other senior employees of Colt are cash-settled. These awards are aimed at attracting 
and retaining senior employees. Subject to meeting performance conditions which are challenging and reflect a real and 
meaningful improvement in performance, awards ordinarily vest three years after the date of grant.

Details of equity-settled grants made under the Share Grant Plan are set out below:

Date of 
grant

Date of 
vesting

Number 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted 
in the year

Exercised 
in the year

Lapsed 
in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

March 2010 March 2013  1,947,151  799,679  –  (447,820)  (351,859)  – 
July 2010 March 2013  126,396  50,007  –  (28,004)  (22,003)  – 
July 2011 March 2014  2,562,151  2,273,261  –  –  (482,907)  1,790,354 
February 2012 March 2015  3,078,704  2,824,596  –  –  (574,284)  2,250,312 
March 2013 March 2016  2,637,917  –  2,637,917  –  (452,000)  2,185,917 

 10,352,319  5,947,543  2,637,917  (475,824)  (1,883,053)  6,226,583 

Notes to the annual accounts / continued
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Details of cash-settled grants made under the Share Grant Plan are set out below: 

Date of 
grant

Date of 
vesting

Number 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2012

Granted 
in the year

Exercised 
in the year

Lapsed 
in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

July 2011 March 2014  4,674,462  3,838,933  –  –  (386,948)  3,451,985 
October 2011 March 2014  586,830  482,303  –  –  (482,303)   –  
February 2012 March 2015  6,032,238  5,668,055  –  –  (1,204,636)  4,463,419 
March 2013 March 2016  4,422,377  –  4,422,377  –  (526,479)  3,895,898 

 15,715,907  9,989,291  4,422,377  –  (2,600,366)  11,811,302 

In May 2013, a new equity-settled award was made to the Executive Committee members. The number of shares to vest is 
dependent on the level of total shareholder return growth generated on the Company’s shares over the three year period 
commencing 1 May 2013. This award has been designed to incentivise the management team to carry out Colt’s growth strategy.

Date of 
grant Date of vesting

Numbers 
granted

Outstanding at 
31 Dec 2012

Granted 
in the year

Exercised 
in the year

Lapsed 
in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 2013

May 2013 various1  2,634,605  –  2,634,605  –  (377,155)  2,257,450 
 2,634,605  –  2,634,605  –  (377,155)  2,257,450

1 The plan’s shares vest in three tranches: one third in May 2016, one third in May 2017 and one third in May 2018.

The fair value of the options at the grant date was assessed using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The following assumptions 
were used in this model:

2013

Weighted average share price £1.16
Expected volatility 39%
Expected life  3 years 
Risk-free rate 0.31%
Expected dividend yields 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous five 
years.

Share Option Plan 
The Share Option Plan is divided into two parts: the “Approved Part” approved by HM Revenue & Customs in the UK for the 
purposes of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and the “Unapproved Part” which is not so approved. Options are 
granted at an option price which is not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Subject to 
meeting performance conditions which are challenging and reflect a real and meaningful improvement in performance, awards 
ordinarily vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

At 31 December 2013, nil shares remained outstanding (2012: nil). During 2013, no additional shares were granted or earned.

Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 
The Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (the “SAYE Scheme”) was adopted on 28 April 2006 and operates for the 
benefit of all eligible employees. Under the SAYE Scheme, employees may save between £5 and £250 a month with a savings 
institution and are granted options to acquire shares in the Company. After a three-year period, employees can use the proceeds 
of their savings account to exercise the options at a price established at the beginning of the three-year period. 
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Details of grants made under the SAYE Scheme are set out below: 

Date of 
grant

Exercise 
price (£)

Date of 
vesting

Options 
granted

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 

2012
Granted 

in the year
Exercised 

in the year1
Lapsed 

in the year

Outstanding 
at 31 Dec 

2013

December 2008  0.62 March 2013  147,304  112,986  –  (110,762)  (2,224)  – 
December 20082  0.65 March 2012  1,845,922  384,324  –  (384,324)  –  – 
December 20092  1.24 March 2014  147,304  27,801  –  –  –  27,801 
December 2009  1.21 March 2013  1,845,922  667,971  –  (80,558)  (580,995)  6,418 
December 20102  1.21 March 2015 26,230 14,856  –  – (8,045) 6,811
December 2010  1.21 March 2014  571,099  355,252  –  –  (86,349)  268,903 
December 20112  0.93 March 2016  3,907  3,907  –  –  –  3,907 
December 20112  1.01 March 2015  1,462,275  1,300,813  –  (1,702)  (215,335)  1,083,776 
December 20112  1.16 March 2015  45,823  45,823 – –  (28,055)  17,768 

 2,913,733   –  (577,346)  (921,003)  1,415,384 
Weighted average exercise price of options 1.02  0.72  1.16  1.06

 1  Of the options exercised in the year, 1,702 shares were early exercised. 
 2  Each option holder entered into a four year savings contract.

Colt Deferred Bonus Plan 
The Colt Deferred Bonus Plan (the ‘Deferred Bonus Plan’) was adopted on 28 April 2006. The Deferred Share Bonus Plan allows 
grants of awards over matching shares based on shares purchased by participants with monies earned under the annual bonus 
plan. The award of matching shares is subject to performance conditions. Participants must hold the shares for three years to 
obtain matching shares. No awards were made during 2013 (2012: nil).

On 22 March 1999 an Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) was established, and on 31 December 2013 it held 191,856 shares (2012: 
223,852). These shares can be used to satisfy the Company’s obligations under the Deferred Bonus Plan. 31,996 shares vested in 
2013 (2012: 33,304). The market value of the shares held at 31 December 2013 was €0.3m (2012: €0.2m).

17 Subsequent events

No subsequent events were reported post balance sheet date at the date of approving the Company’s annual accounts.

Notes to the annual accounts / continued
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Glossary

Term Definition
Access and bandwidth Data network products and services. These range from simple internet access to fully managed 

networks. These products and services include “access” network components and long distance 
(including international) network components, or “bandwidth”.

Access network The network of fibre directly connecting our customers’ buildings.

ACV Annual contract value. The annual recurring revenue of a customer contract.

CAGR Compound annual growth rate. The average rate of annual growth in the defined period.

Carrier Voice The Colt portfolio of wholesale voice services to other carriers for the transport of their voice 
traffic. Carriers can be other network operators, service providers or resellers. Colt operates a 
fully owned and managed pan-European Voice switching network, and trades call minutes in bulk 
volumes. These calls are carried across Colt’s network and may either be terminated on Colt’s 
network or delivered to other operators for termination on their networks.

CCS Colt Communication Services. The Colt Business Unit responsible for indirectly serving small, 
medium and large sized enterprises, via channel partners (network operators, distributors, 
service providers, resellers, agents and franchisees). See page 26.

CES Colt Enterprise Services. The Colt Business Unit responsible for directly serving medium to large 
sized enterprise customers. See page 21.

Cloud services IT services that provide our customers with the ability to run a programme or application on 
multiple computers and locations, on demand.

Colocation A service where customers lease space in a data centre within which they can install their own IT 
equipment. A distinction is made between retail colocation (small units of space) and wholesale 
colocation (large units of space) though the boundary between the two is blurring.

Corporate Voice The Colt portfolio of Voice services to end customers. Services include line rental, outbound 
voice calls, IN services and inbound voice services.

Data The Colt portfolio of data network services. These range from simple internet access, through 
Ethernet connectivity to fully managed networks. 

DCS Data Centre Services. The Colt Business Unit responsible for the management and operations of 
our 20 data centres. See page 33.

Ethernet A family of data communication technologies that allows our customers to exchange large 
amounts of data at very high speeds.

Ftec Flexible Technology. Colt’s pioneering modular data centre design that allows customers to 
change the amount of power, space and cooling they require, not just during the design phase, 
but throughout the lifetime of the data centre.

FTR Fixed Termination Rates. The rate charged by one operator to another to deliver a call to a 
customer. Across Europe these rates are being reduced in line with EU guidance, but they are 
implemented by the local regulatory authorities and therefore rates vary by country.

FTTx A generic term for broadband networks that uses fibre-optic cabling in the access network. Fibre 
networks offer more bandwidth than legacy copper cable networks, so the closer the fibre runs 
to the customer premises the faster the connection. FTTP (fibre-to-the-premises) or FTTH (fibre-
to-the-home) are end-to-end fibre solutions. FTTC (fibre-to-the-cabinet) solutions use legacy 
copper links in the network from the street cabinets to the customer premises.
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Term Definition
Hosting A service where the customer’s IT systems or applications are hosted on Colt owned and 

managed IT infrastructure (servers and storage). 

IMS IP (Internet Protocol) Multimedia Subsystem. The structure used to deliver IP multimedia 
services.

IN Intelligent Network services are value added voice services, such as geographical numbers and 
premium rate numbers.

IPVoice Colt VoIP service (See VoIP).

IPX IP Packet Exchange. Next generation structure for fixed and mobile operators to interconnect 
with each other to deliver voice and data communication across multiple locations.

LDN Long distance network. The core of the network; the links between the MANs (see MAN).

LTE Latest generation mobile technology allowing the mobile exchange of higher amounts of data at 
higher speeds than older technologies.

MAN Metropolitan Area Network. Rings of fibre that link the access network across metropolitan areas 
with the long distance network.

Managed Services The Colt portfolio of IT services from individual products and services to fully integrated 
solutions built from components of colocation, hosting, consulting, cloud services and other 
managed IT services. 

MPLS Multi-Protocol Label Switching. A latest generation data networking technology that allows our 
customers to exchange data more efficiently.

MSP Multi-Service Platform. A technology that allows for the efficient carriage of multiple different 
technologies, products and services over a single network.

MTR Mobile Termination Rates. The rate charged by one operator to another to deliver a call to a 
customer of its mobile network. Across Europe these rates are being reduced in line with EU 
guidance, but implementation is by the local regulatory authorities and therefore rates and rate 
declines vary by country.

Optimum Cloud services portfolio developed for direct customers.

PUE Power Usage Effectiveness. A measurement that indicates the power efficiency of a data centre 
by describing how much power it uses as a whole (including ancillary services, such as heating, 
light and cooling) relative to the amount of power required by the IT equipment alone. The lower 
the number, the more efficient the data centre.

Retail colocation The leasing of small units of data centre space, usually sold by the rack (the individual frames 
that house the IT equipment). Power is usually included as part of the rental fee.

SDH Synchronous Digital Hierarchy. An older form of low-data exchanging services (typically 2Mbit/s 
or less).

SDN Software Defined Networking. A technology where the capacity of data our customers need to 
exchange over the network is able to be flexed up or down in accordance with their (software) 
demands.

SIP Session Initiation Protocol. A signalling language used to control multimedia communications, 
such as Voice and video calls. SIP is most commonly known as a technology that allows our 
customers to use Voice services on data networks, such as VoIP.

Glossary / continued
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Term Definition
SSD Solid state drive. A high performance method of storing data using solid state flash drives. It 

maintains data even without power and has no moving parts, so it is a more efficient means of 
storing data, and generally offers faster data access.

TDM Time-division multiplexing. An older network technology. The global standard used to carry 
multiple traditional voice calls over the same transmission line, but being replaced by more 
efficient data exchanging technologies.

VoIP Voice over IP. A technology used to carry high levels of voice on a network configured for high 
levels of data. The Colt VoIP service is called IPVoice.

Wholesale colocation The leasing of larger units of data centre space (from a few hundred square metres to an entire 
data centre). Power is usually contracted separately from the rental fee.

XaaS Short hand for the provision of something (X) as a Service. For example, IaaS is Infrastructure-as-
a-Service, where a customer can buy access to the use of third party computer and storage for 
periods of time, rather than purchasing the underlying infrastructure outright.
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Shareholder notes
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Principal sales offices

Investor information 

Austria  www.colt.net/at 
Colt Technology Services GmbH 
Kärntner Ring 10-12 
A-1010 Vienna 
Tel: +43 1 20 500 0 

Belgium  www.colt.net/be 
Colt Technology Services NV 
Culliganlaan, 2H 
1831 Diegem 
Tel: +32 2 790 16 16 

Denmark  www.colt.net/dk 
Colt Technology Services A/S 
Borgmester Christiansens Gade 55 
2450 Copenhagen SV 
Tel: +45 70 21 23 30 

France  www.colt.net/fr 
Colt Technology Services 
23-27 rue Pierre Valette 
92247 Malakoff Cedex 
Tel: +33 1 70 99 55 00 

Germany  www.colt.net/de 
Colt Technology Services GmbH 
Central Business Services 
Herriotstraße 4 
60528 Frankfurt 
Tel: +49 69 56606 0

Hong Kong  www.marketprizm.com 
1801–8 BEA Tower 
MIllennium City 5 
418 Kwun Tong Road, Kwun Tong
Kowloon 
Tel: +852 2290 6543

Ireland  www.colt.net/ie 
Colt Technology Services Limited 
15-16 Docklands Innovation Park 
East Wall Road 
Dublin 3 
Tel: +353 1436 5900 

Italy  www.colt.net/it 
Colt Technology Services S.p.A. 
Viale E. Jenner 56 
20159 Milan 
Tel: +39 02 30 333 1 

Japan  www.marketprizm.com 
MarketPrizm Japan Co., Limited 
8F Sumitomo Fudosan Tamachi Ekimae Bldg 
3–1–35 Shibaura, Minato-ku 
Tokyo 108–0023 
Tel: +81 3 4560 4607

Netherlands  www.colt.net/nl 
Colt Technology Services B.V. 
Van der Madeweg 12-14a 
Postbus 94014 
1090 GA Amsterdam 
Tel: +31 20 888 2020 

Portugal  www.colt.net/pt 
Colt Technology Services Unipessoal Lda 
Estrada da Outurela 118 
Edificio B 
2790-114 Carnaxide 
Tel: +351 21 120 00 00

Spain  www.colt.net/es 
Colt Technology Services, S.A.U. 
C/ Telémaco 5 
28027 Madrid 
Tel: +34 91 789 9000 

Sweden  www.colt.net/se 
Colt Technology Services AB 
Box 3458 
Luntmakargatan 18 
SE – 103 69 Stockholm 
Tel: +46 8 781 80 00 

Switzerland  www.colt.net/ch 
Colt Technology Services GmbH 
Mürtschenstraße 27 
CH – 8048 Zürich 
Tel: +41 58 560 16 00 

United Kingdom  www.colt.net/www.
marketprizm.com 
Colt Technology Services/Marketprizm Limited 
Beaufort House 
15 St Botolph Street 
London EC3A 7QN 
Tel: +44 20 7390 3900 

USA www.thinkgrid.com
ThinkGrid LLC
2835 82nd Avenue S.E.
Suite 100
Mercer Island WA 98040
Tel: +1 206 512 8993 

Electronic communications
The Company encourages the use of electronic investor 
communication. Hard copies of the Annual Report and other 
investor documents will only be circulated to the investors 
who request to receive a paper version. If other investors fail 
to communicate an email address, they will receive a paper 
notification as to the date of publication of such reports on 
our website. Investors wishing to revert to hard copies of 
investor documents or who would like to communicate their 
email address for the first time should contact our Registrars, 
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited. 

Electronic proxy voting is also available to shareholders for 
the Company’s AGM and for any other shareholders’ meetings, 
regardless of whether their shares are held in CREST or 
certificated form.

Investor enquiries
Colt’s website is at www.colt.net. For enquiries related to share 
registration, please liaise with our Registrars, Computershare 
Investor Services (Jersey) Limited. Institutional investors and 
financial analysts can contact Colt Investor Relations. 

Listing
Ordinary shares of Colt Group S.A. are listed on the London 
Stock Exchange.

Solicitors
Slaughter and May 
One Bunhill Row 
London EC1Y 8YY

Registrars
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited 
Queensway House,  
Hilgrove Street,  
St Helier,  
Jersey, JE1 1ES 
Tel: + 44 (0) 870 707 4040 
Fax: +44 (0) 870 873 5851

AGM and EGM
The 2014 Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings of  
Colt Group S.A. will be held at 11.00 am (Luxembourg time)  
on 24 April 2014 at K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert 
Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg

Colt Investor Relations
Investor Relations, Colt Group, Beaufort House, 
15 St. Botolph Street, London EC3A 7QN 
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7863 5314 
coltinvestorrelations@colt.net

Registered Office and Number 
Colt Group S.A., Société anonyme 
K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette 
L-1246 Luxembourg, BP 2174, L-1021 Luxembourg 
Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg 
R.C.S Luxembourg B 115.679
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